REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

Last amendment in force on June 30, 2015
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 24

REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONSQ.)

Q
Securities Act q/

(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1) y\%"

PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION %

1.1. Definitions and Interpretation Q/@

(2) In this Regulation: A
“acquisition date” has the same meaning as |®1e issuer's GAAP;

“AIF” means a completed Form 51- 10% Annual Information Form or, in the
case of an SEC issuer, a completed For 2F2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10-K Q‘ll/ rm 20-F;

“asset-backed security” me 8ecurity that is primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool of morjgages, receivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by their terms &rt into cash within a finite period and any rights or
other assets designed to a% the servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders;

“board of dir means, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an individual or @r&t acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

“busi cqwsmon report” means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business
Acquisitio ort

@ ss” includes a series of a class;
® “common share” means an equity security to which are attached voting rights
ercisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities

owned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;
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“corporate law” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

“date of transition to IFRS” means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term is
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“designated rating organization”’means Q

(@) each of DBRS Limited, Fitch, Inc., Moody’s Canada Inc., %w(}adrd &
Poor’s Ratings Services (Canada), including their DRO affiliates; or ,\ N

(b) any other credit rating organization that has been é@nated under

securities legislation; %

“DRO affiliate” has the same meaning as in sectio Regulation 25-101
respecting Designated Rating Organizations (chapter V-1.1a(\V);

“electronic format” has the same meaning as sg=~egulation 13-101 respecting

System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retri@ EDAR) (chapter V-1.1, r. 2);
“equity investee” means a business{Rat the issuer has invested in and

accounted for using the equity method, Q

exchange or is quoted on a recogni Rotation and trade reporting system or is listed

“exchange-traded security” mgsn(sl’a security that is listed on a recognized
on an exchange or quoted on a got ion and trade reporting system that is recognized

for the purposes of Re On 21-101 respecting Marketplace Operation
(chapter V-1.1, r. 5) andg egulation  23-101  respecting  Trading Rules
(chapter V-1.1, r. 6); 3

“executive offg eans, for a reporting issuer, an individual who is

€)) a@%, vice-chair or president;

(a.J&:hief executive officer or chief financial officer;

)* a vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division or function
inc‘@ng sales, finance or production; or

\ (c) performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuer;
“financial outlook” means forward-looking information about prospective financial

performance, financial position or cash flows that is based on assumptions about future
economic conditions and courses of action and that is not presented in the format of a

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 2



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

historical statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income or
statement of cash flows;

“financial statements” includes interim financial reports;

“first IFRS financial statements” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; '\QD

“FOFI”, or “future-oriented financial information”, means forwardd@ing
information about prospective financial performance, financial position or gash¥lows,
based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses o ibn, and
presented in the format of a historical statement of financial positi statement of
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows; Q?‘

“form of proxy” means a document containing the inf %n required under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by or on of a securityholder,
becomes a proxy;

“forward-looking information” means disclosu§ regarding possible events,
conditions or financial performance that is based on@s mptions about future economic
conditions and courses of action and includes f =Oriented financial information with
respect to prospective financial performance@ancial position or cash flows that is
presented either as a forecast or a projectic&’\

“information circular” means a mgéted Form 51-102F5 Information Circular;
)

“‘informed person” means Q/‘b

(@) adirectorore Ive officer of a reporting issuer;

(b)  adirecto, executive officer of a person that is itself an informed person
or subsidiary of a re issuer;

(c) arg rson who beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or
ecurities of a reporting issuer or a combination of both carrying more
e voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the

uer other than voting securities held by the person as underwriter in the
distribution; and

§ (d)  a reporting issuer that has purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired
y of its securities, for so long as it holds any of its securities;

“inter-dealer bond broker” means a person that is approved by the Investment
Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond
Brokerage Systems, as amended, and is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer Bond Brokerage Systems, as amended,;
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“interim period” means,

(@) in the case of a year other than a non-standard year or a transition year, a
period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year,

of the financial year and ending within 22 days of the date that is 9, 6 or 3 ths

(a.1) in the case of a non-standard year, a period commencing on the firg'dg?
before the end of the financial year; or

“

(b) in the case of a transition year, a period commencing o h'e\ﬁrst day of
the transition year and ending &

(1) 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applicable, after th@of the old financial

year; or AQ/

(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, if applicable, t@re the end of the transition
year,; %

“issuer's GAAP” has the same meaning&gn Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditin@andards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25);

“MD&A” means a completed F@Sl-lOZFl Management's Discussion &
Analysis or, in the case of an SECWVissuer, a completed Form 51-102F1 or
management's discussion and a  prepared in accordance with Item 303 of
Regulation S-K under the 1934 %

“marketplace” mean $

(@ an excha@

(b) agq Qn and trade reporting system;

(c) @y other person that

(1) constitutes, maintains or provides a market or facility for bringing

tog%l@g yers and sellers of securities;

@ (i) brings together the orders for securities of multiple buyers and
llers; and

(i)  uses established, non-discretionary methods under which the
orders interact with each other, and the buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the terms of a trade; or
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(d) a dealer that executes a trade of an exchange-traded security outside of a
marketplace, but does not include an inter-dealer bond broker;

“material change” means

(@) achange in the business, operations or capital of the reporting issuer that
would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or valqs
of any of the securities of the reporting issuer; or Q’\

board of directors or other persons acting in a similar capacity or by senior ement
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision board of
directors or any other persons acting in a similar capacity is probableQ/

(b)  adecision to implement a change referred to in paragraph (a) &gd&ﬁy the
t

“material contract” means any contract that an issuer or @% its subsidiaries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer; Q/

“mineral project” has the same meaning as in Q€pulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter \% r. 15);

“new financial year” means the finaneﬁ(Qear of a reporting issuer that
immediately follows a transition year; '\%

“non-standard year” means a fin %I year, other than a transition year, that
does not have 365 days, or 366 days jf it in€¢ludes February 29;
8)«

“non-voting security” mea@t(}?estricted security that does not carry the right to
vote generally, except for a ri ote that is mandated, in special circumstances, by

law; BQ

“notice-and-accg™ ~ has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 54-101 r@ ting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer;

precedes sition year;

CO&

\E “preference share” means a security to which is attached a preference or right
over the securities of any class of equity securities of the reporting issuer, but does not
include an equity security;

Wd&?%‘l year” means the financial year of a reporting issuer that immediately
I

erating income” means gross revenue minus royalty expenses and production

“principal obligor” means, for an asset-backed security, a person that is obligated
to make payments, has guaranteed payments, or has provided alternative credit support
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for payments, on financial assets that represent one-third or more of the aggregate
amount owing on all of the financial assets servicing the asset-backed security;

“private enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

“profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent” has the same meaning asqs
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; '\

“profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the pareM” has
the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountablq\ Yprises;

“proxy” means a completed and executed form of pr
securityholder has appointed a person as the securityholder's nomi
for the securityholder and on the securityholder's behalf at a megt

y which a
attend and act
f securityholders;

“proxy-related materials” means securityholder matezjﬁ%elating to a meeting of
securityholders that a person that solicits proxies is r d under corporate law or
securities legislation to send to the registered holdéor beneficial owners of the

securities;
&O

“publicly accountable enterprise” hascﬁe same meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Accept E\ ccounting Principles and Auditing

Standards; (l/

“recognized exchange” mear\qJQ"

@) in Ontario, an e %ge recognized by the securities regulatory authority
to carry on businessas a s xchange;

(a.1) in Québgc\\a person authorized by the securities regulatory authority to
carry on business a change; and

(b) in{é?y other jurisdiction, an exchange recognized by the securities
regulatory ofity as an exchange, self-regulatory organization or self-regulatory
body, or person, a partnership or any other entity authorized by the securities

regulat uthority to carry on securities trading in accordance with securities
legi I@ ;

\é “recognized quotation and trade reporting system” means
(a) in every jurisdiction other than British Columbia, a quotation and trade

reporting system recognized by the securities regulatory authority under securities
legislation to carry on business as a quotation and trade reporting system; and
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(b) in British Columbia, a quotation and trade reporting system recognized by
the securities regulatory authority under securities legislation as a quotation and trade
reporting system or as an exchange;

“restricted security” means an equity security of a reporting issuer, if any of the
following apply:

(@) there is another class of securities of the reporting issuer that lbf;
reasonable person, appears to carry a greater number of votes per security reﬁ/ to
the equity security;

(b)  the conditions attached to the class of equity securitiegmthe cond|t|ons
attached to another class of securities of the reporting issuer, or th &Urting issuer’s
constating documents have provisions that nullify or, to a reasona@érson, appear to
significantly restrict the voting rights of the equity securities; or

(© the reporting issuer has issued another classq&gﬁity securities that, to a
reasonable person, appears to entitle the owners of itles of that other class to
participate in the earnings or assets of the reporting i%{ to a greater extent, on a per
security basis, than the owners of the first class of e@y securities;

“restricted security term” means eadpsOf the terms “non-voting security”,
“subordinate voting security” and “restricte UTQ security”;

“restricted voting security” meggs g(estricted security that carries a right to vote
subject to a restriction on the num ‘bercentage of securities that may be voted by
one or more persons, unless theQ/ tion is

(@) permitted or p@ed by statute; and

(b) IS applic%only to persons that are not citizens or residents of Canada
or that are otherwis@ idered as a result of any law applicable to the reporting issuer
to be non- Canadl

“resterr%g transaction” means
Q~ a reverse takeover;
<( an amalgamation, merger, arrangement or reorganization;

\E (c) a transaction or series of transactions involving a reporting issuer
acquiring assets and issuing securities that results in

(1) new securityholders owning or controlling more than 50% of the
reporting issuer’s outstanding voting securities; and
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(i) a new person, a new combination of persons acting together, the
vendors of the assets, or new management

(A) being able to materially affect the control of the reporting
issuer; or

(B)  holding more than 20% of the outstanding voting securlt
of the reporting issuer, unless there is evidence showing that the holding of
securities does not materially affect the control of the reporting issuer; and

(d) any other transaction similar to the transactions listed in p %é‘phs €)
to (c), but does not include a subdivision, consolidation, or other trans E’Sﬁ that does
not alter a securityholder's proportionate interest in the issuer the issuer’s
proportionate interest in its assets; %Q/

“retrospective” has the same meaning as in Can %AAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises; &

“retrospectively” has the same meaning as ir%anadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises; @

“reverse takeover” means '\%

(&) areverse acquisition, Whicl‘(g% the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable entgri S; or
\

(b) a transaction wh% n issuer acquires a person by which the
securityholders of the acquire on, at the time of the transaction, obtain “control” of
the issuer, where, for purpQsd\of this paragraph, control has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable ublicly accountable enterprises;
“reverse take %:quiree” means the legal parent in a reverse takeover;
“reversnga/er acquirer’ means the legal subsidiary in a reverse takeover;

“SEQ%/uer” means an issuer that

@ has a class of securities registered under section 12 of the 1934 Act or is
q{( to file reports under section 15(d) of the 1934 Act; and

\ (b) is not registered or required to be registered as an investment company
under the Investment Company Act of 1940 of the United States of America, as
amended;

“solicit”, in connection with a proxy, includes
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(@) requesting a proxy whether or not the request is accompanied by or
included in a form of proxy;

(b) requesting a securityholder to execute or not to execute a form of proxy or

to revoke a proxy;

circumstances that to a reasonable person will likely result in the giving, withhold;
revocation of a proxy; or

(© sending a form of proxy or other communication to a securityholder urg@

(d)  sending a form of proxy to a securityholder by management @éporting

issuer, Q‘

but does not include %Q/

(e) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder in @mse to a unsolicited
request made by or on behalf of the securityholder; A

) performing ministerial acts or profession%ervices on behalf of a person

soliciting a proxy; &O

() sending, by an intermediary as ined in Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners (6 urities of a Reporting Issuer, of the
documents referred to in that regulation; (l/

(h)  soliciting by a persondg\De3pect of securities of which the person is the
beneficial owner; Q/
(1) publicly anno@ by a securityholder, how the securityholder intends to
vote and the reasons for th% cision, if that public announcement is made by
0] ech in a public forum; or

(ii 2a press release, an opinion, a statement or an advertisement
provided th@ a broadcast medium or by a telephonic, electronic or other

communic@tig¥ facility, or appearing in a newspaper, a magazine or other publication
general ilable to the public;

communicating for the purposes of obtaining the number of securities
%uired for a securityholder proposal under the laws under which the reporting issuer is
\n orporated, organized or continued or under the reporting issuer’s constating or
establishing documents; or

(k) communicating, other than a solicitation by or on behalf of the
management of the reporting issuer, to securityholders in the following circumstances:
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(1) by one or more securityholders concerning the business and affairs
of the reporting issuer, including its management or proposals contained in a
management information circular, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders
by the securityholder or securityholders making the communication or by a person
acting on their behalf, unless the communication is made by
(A) a securityholder who is an officer or director of the reporti
issuer if the communication is financed directly or indirectly by the reporting issuer‘Q'\

(B) a securityholder who is a nominee or who opg(es a
nominee for election as a director, if the communication relates to thf\ ttion of

directors; Q‘

pposition to an

(C)  a securityholder whose communication ¢
amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other transagdi recommended or
approved by the board of directors of the reporting issuer% ho is proposing or
intends to propose an alternative transaction to which the s holder or an affiliate or
associate of the securityholder is a party;

(D) a securityholder who, b ﬁ of a material interest in the
subject-matter to be voted on at a securityholder eting, is likely to receive a benefit
from its approval or non-approval, which ben@& would not be shared pro rata by all
other holders of the same class of sec Yhe , unless the benefit arises from the
securityholder’'s employment with the repu@ issuer; or

(E) any per ing on behalf of a securityholder described in

any of clauses (A) to (D); Q/

(i) by one@re securityholders and concerns the organization of a
dissident’s proxy soIicitatioT? nd no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders by
the securityholder or @rl yholders making the communication or by a person acting
on their behalf; O

(iif 2as clients, by a person who gives financial, corporate governance
or proxy vo@ vice in the ordinary course of business and concerns proxy voting

advice if C)
Q~ (A) the person discloses to the securityholder any significant
r I&)nship with the reporting issuer and any of its affiliates or with a securityholder who
%submitted a matter to the reporting issuer that the securityholder intends to raise at
\h meeting of securityholders and any material interests the person has in relation to a
matter on which advice is given;

(B) the person receives any special commission or remuneration

for giving the proxy voting advice only from the securityholder or securityholders
receiving the advice; and
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(C) the proxy voting advice is not given on behalf of any person
soliciting proxies or on behalf of a nominee for election as a director; or

(iv) by a person who does not seek directly or indirectly the power to
act as a proxyholder for a securityholder;

respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting |

“special meeting” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 15?!18?
“special resolution” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regu 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a ReQLﬁn Issuer;

“stratification” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 (@gulaﬁon 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities eporting Issuer;

“subordinate voting security” means a restricted sec& that carries a right to
vote, if there are securities of another class outstandin I@carry a greater right to vote

g4¢
on a per security basis; %

“transition year” means the financial yea¢<QQ1 reporting issuer or business in
which the issuer or business changes its fina%year-end;

“U.S. AICPA GAAS” has the sameﬁaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles andéud ng Standards;
)
“U.S. GAAP” has the meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Princig@d Auditing Standards;

“U.S. laws” means t%)QBB Act, the 1934 Act, all enactments made under those
Acts and all SEC relea@a opting the enactments, as amended,;

“U.S. marq,é@ce” means an exchange registered as a “national securities
exchange” und&s tion 6 of the 1934 Act, or the Nasdaq Stock Market; and

“U.£. F€AOB GAAS” has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Accept ccounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

venture issuer” means a reporting issuer that, as at the applicable time, did not
ﬁxe any of its securities listed or quoted on any of the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S.
\a rketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the United States of America
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the
PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc where the “applicable time” in
respect of
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(@) Parts 4 and 5 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F1, is the end of the

applicable financial period;

(b) Parts 6 and 9 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F6, is the end of the
most recently completed financial year;

(© Part 8 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F4, is the acquisition date; ar&)

(d) section 11.3 of this Regulation, is the date of the meetingc@the

securityholders.
nO

(2) In this Regulation, an issuer is an affiliate of another issuer if Q‘
(@) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or %Q/
(b)  each of them is controlled by the same person. Q/

3) For the purposes of subsection (2), a person (@ person) is considered to
control another person (second person) if %

(@) the first person beneficially own&@ controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, securities of the second person cqing votes which, if exercised, would
entitle the first person to elect a majority fhe irectors of the second person, unless
that first person holds the voting securities%y to secure an obligation,

(b)  the second person is p@rﬁnership, other than a limited partnership, and
the first person holds more than Qo//o f the interests of the partnership, or

(c) the second pgr IS a limited partnership and the general partner of the
limited partnership is the fir}S rson.

M.O. 2008-06, s, 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1; M.O. 2013-01, s. 1;
M.O. 2013-04, ((1 M.O. 2013-09, s. 1.

PART 2 CJQMSPUCAHON
2.1<<®);Iication

\é This Regulation does not apply to an investment fund.

M.O. 2005-03, S@O. 2005-25, s. 1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 1; M.O. 2007-08, s. 1;

M.O. 2005-03, s. 2.1.
PART 3 LANGUAGE OF DOCUMENTS

3.1. French or English
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(1) A person must file a document required to be filed under this Regulation in
French or in English.

(2) Despite subsection (1), if a person files a document only in French or only in
English but delivers to securityholders a version of the document in the other language,
the person must file that other version not later than when it is first delivered@s

securityholders. Q\

(3) In Québec, a reporting issuer must comply with linguistic obligations an(dlﬁghts

prescribed by Québec law. ,\ N
M.O. 2005-03, s. 3.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. Qg‘
3.2. Filings Translated into French or English &

If a person files a document under this Regulationk%’t is a translation of a
document prepared in a language other than French or é@sh the person must

(@) attach a certificate as to the accun f the translation to the filed
document; and
registered holder or beneficial owner of it urities, on request.

(b) make a copy of the docu;@the original language available to a

M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M.O. 2008-06, q.-,@‘*

PART 4 FINANCIAL ST@NTS

4.1. Comparative Annu%)nancial Statements and Audit
(1) Areporting is %ust file annual financial statements that include

@ a ment of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity,
and a staten@ f cash flows for

S

Q. 0] the most recently completed financial year; and

(i) the financial year immediately preceding the most recently

@@{(pleted financial year, if any;

(b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods
referred to in paragraph (a);
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(© in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed
financial year:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; and

(i) the reporting issuer Q
(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its(lﬁnual
financial statements; N B
(B) makes a retrospective restatement of ng‘m its annual
financial statements; or
(C) reclassifies items in its annual fir&@gements;
(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first | financial statements, the

opening IFRS statement of financial position at the dat ransition to IFRS; and
(e) notes to the annual financial statemé\tg,)
(2)  Annual financial statements filed unf%&section (1) must be audited.

income statement, the separate i 2 statement must be displayed immediately

3) If a reporting issuer presents §h<§1’omponents of profit or loss in a separate
before the statement of compreh@i income filed under subsection (1).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.1; M.O. @4, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2.
4.2. Filing Deadlinﬁg}udited Annual Financial Statements

The auditeQQual financial statements required to be filed under section 4.1
must be filed

(a the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earl

@r; and
(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed financial year; or

0] the 90" day after the end of its most recently completed financial

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
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(i) the 120th day after the end of its most recently completed financial
year; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 4. '\QD
4.3. Interim Financial Report (19

(1)  Subject to sections 4.7 and 4.10, a reporting issuer must file an intfl\%ﬂnancial
report for each interim period ended after it became a reporting issuer. Q‘

(2)  The interim financial report required to be filed under subsec# ) must include

(@) a statement of financial position as at the end interim period and a
statement of financial position as at the end of the immedia&@ receding financial year,

if any; O

(b)  a statement of comprehensive incom gtatement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows, all for the year-te‘( interim period, and comparative
financial information for the corresponding int@ period in the immediately preceding

financial year, if any; Q'\

financial year, a statement of com isive income for the 3 month period ending on

(c) for interim periods other;ha(nl{he first interim period in a reporting issuer's
the last day of the interim pg!o and comparative financial information for the

corresponding period in the i jately preceding financial year, if any;

(d) in the foIIowiPﬁQrcumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the imme@e Y preceding financial year:

0] ?Q reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an

unreserved sta nt of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reggrting; and

) .
<2~ (i) the reporting issuer
O

@'lcial report;
(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report;
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(e) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS; and

() notes to the interim financial report.

(2.1) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separ
income statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immedi
before the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (2). q/
(3)  An auditor review of an interim financial report must be disclosed as @Krs:

(@) If an auditor has not performed a review of an integ Ql'!'rancial report

required to be filed under subsection (1), the interim finangf port must be
accompanied by a notice indicating that the interim financi ort has not been
reviewed by an auditor. Q/

financial report required to be filed under subsection nd the auditor was unable to
complete the review, the interim financial report t be accompanied by a notice
indicating that the auditor was unable to completeﬂ iew of the interim financial report
and the reasons why the auditor was unable to(%mplete the review.

(b) If a reporting issuer engaged an auditor ts orm a review of an interim

(c) If an auditor has performed %'lew of the interim financial report required
to be filed under subsection (1) and t |tor has expressed a reservation of opinion
in the auditor's interim review repo "lnterlm financial report must be accompanied
by a written review report from tl‘@ tor.

(4) If an SEC issuer tha@porting issuer

(@) has filed '}erim financial report prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable t cly accountable enterprises for one or more interim periods
since its most reql completed financial year for which annual financial statements
have been fileds

(b epares its annual financial statements or an interim financial report for

the peri mediately following the periods referred to in paragraph (a) in accordance
with (D GAAP,

\é the SEC issuer must

(c) restate the interim financial report for the periods referred to in
paragraph (a) in accordance with U.S. GAAP; and

(d) file the restated interim financial report referred to in paragraph (c) by the
filing deadline for the financial statements referred to in paragraph (b).
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 3.
4.4. Filing Deadline for an Interim Financial Report
An interim financial report must be filed

@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or @

the earlier of (l/

(1) the 45th day after the end of the interim period; and ,\%"

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an inte@mancial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period; or %

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the @ of
0] the 60th day after the end of the int @)eriod; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign 'L@ji tion, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim ng :

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. Q(O
4.5. Approval of Financial Statem nt(sl/
4

(1) The annual financial sta@ ts a reporting issuer is required to file under
section 4.1 must be approved % board of directors before the statements are filed.

(2)  The interim financia@ort a reporting issuer is required to file under section 4.3
must be approved by @o rd of directors before the report is filed.

3) In fulfilling guirement in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
the approval interim financial report to the audit committee of the board of
directors. Q/

C
M.O. 2 , S. 4.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4 6.<(Qelivery of Financial Statements

% A reporting issuer must send annually a request form to the registered holders
and beneficial owners of its securities, other than debt instruments, that the registered
holders and beneficial owners may use to request any of the following:

(@) a paper copy of the reporting issuer’s annual financial statements and
MD&A for the annual financial statements;
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(b)  a copy of the reporting issuer’s interim financial reports and MD&A for the
interim financial reports.

(2) Despite paragraph (1), the reporting issuer must, in accordance with the
procedures set out in Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial
Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29) send the form referr

to in paragraph (1) to the beneficial owners of its securities who are identified und &
Regulation as having chosen to receive all securityholder materials sent to bp&cial
owners of securities.

4
(3) If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, e'r\than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's annual fina %tatements or
interim financial reports, the reporting issuer must send a co %the requested
financial statements to the person that made the request, withou@ge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than aq&re issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.2(a)(f Qr 4.4(a)(i), section 4.7, or
subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the financial stat S requested;

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, 10 oégQar days after the filing deadline in
paragraph 4.2(b)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), section 4.7, orébbsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the
financial statements requested; and Q'\

(© 10 calendar days after ti&igder receives the request.

4
(4)  Areporting issuer is not r%ir‘&j to send copies of annual financial statements or
interim financial reports underé ction (3) that were filed more than one year before
the issuer receives the req

(5) Subsection (1) }e requirement to send annual financial statements under
subsection (3) do @ pply to a reporting issuer that sends its annual financial
statements to it rityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140
days of the is 's financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting C@m nication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

(6) I(?g)porting issuer sends financial statements under this section, the reporting
issu st also send, at the same time, the annual or interim MD&A relating to the
finéia statements.

*O. 2005-03, s. 4.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 6; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4,
M.O. 2013-01, s. 2.

4.7. Filing of Financial Statements After Becoming a Reporting Issuer
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Q) Despite any provisions of this Part other than subsections (2), (3) and (4) of this
section, the first annual financial statements and interim financial reports that a reporting
issuer must file under sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the financial statements for the financial
year and interim periods immediately following the periods for which financial
statements were included in a document filed of the issuer

(@) thatresulted in the issuer becoming a reporting issuer; or '\QD

(b) in respect of a transaction that resulted in the issuer becoming a rg@ing

issuer.
e

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file annual financial statemen f{)}‘a financial
year that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer, tho% ual financial
statements must be filed on or before the later of

(@) the 20th day after the issuer became a reporting¢ % and

(b)  the filing deadline in section 4.2. O
3) If a reporting issuer is required to file an i@Ym financial report for an interim
period that ended before the issuer became a ting issuer, that interim financial

report must be filed on or before the later of %

(@) the 10th day after the issuen(‘;%ame a reporting issuer; and

(b)  the filing deadline in se@x"4.4.

(4) A reporting issuer is %fequired to provide comparative interim financial
information for periods that before the issuer became a reporting issuer if

(@ to a re le person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a bag sistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b) t yor-period information that is available is presented; and
(c e notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period i ation has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent

integ(@] ncial information.

@O.‘ZOOS-OB, S. 4.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 7; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.
4.8. Changein Year-End

(1) An SEC issuer satisfies this section if
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(@) it complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a change of fiscal
year; and

(b) it files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
fiscal year at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC and, in the case of financial statements, no later than the filing
deadlines prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4. QD
(2) If a reporting issuer decides to change its financial year-end bpl(%ore
than 14 days, it must file a notice as soon as practicable, and, in any evenj, nd later
than the earlier of N

(@) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's old j ial year-end,
for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annual rim, whichever
comes first; and

(b) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuegﬁew financial year-end,
for the next financial statements required to be filed, eit @nnual or interim, whichever
comes first.

(3)  The notice referred to in subsection (2) mu&@te
(@) that the reporting issuer has d@&&% to change its year-end;
(b)  the reason for the chan%q’
4
(© the reporting issue@‘bﬂnancial year-end,;
(d) the reporting i g\ris new financial year-end;

(e) the leng % ending date of the periods, including the comparative

periods, of each int nancial report and the annual financial statements to be filed
for the reporting i transition year and its new financial year; and
) e Tiling deadlines, prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual

financial sfatgvhents and interim financial reports for the reporting issuer's transition
year.

(4)<( or the purposes of this section,
\ (@) atransition year must not exceed 15 months; and

(b)  the first interim period after an old financial year must not exceed 4
months.
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(5) Despite subsection 4.3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is not required to file an interim
financial report for any period in its transition year that ends not more than 1 month

(@)  after the last day of its old financial year; or
(b) before the first day of its new financial year.

(6) Despite subsection 4.1(1), if a transition year is less than 9 months in leng Ng?
reporting issuer must include as comparative financial information to its annual § ial
statements for its new financial year

©-

(@) a statement of financial position, a statement of compreh .'\k income, a
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows, and no& the financial
statements for its transition year; %

r

statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flo notes to the financial

(c) in the following circumstances, a stat@nst of financial position as at the
beginning of the old financial year:

(b)  a statement of financial position, a statement oE %ehensive income, a

statements for its old financial year;

unreserved statement of compliance with ; and

(i)  the reporting is@"

(A) ap% n accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements;

(1) the reporting issuer disbﬁ?s in its annual financial statements an

( Eakes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements@

<< 2(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements; and

(d the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
openin statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS.

(7)<( espite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for the reporting issuer's transition
g%r end 3, 6, 9 or 12 months after the end of its old financial year, the reporting issuer
\a st include

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its transition year, the comparative financial information required by subsection 4.3(2),
except if an interim period during the transition year is 12 months in length and the
reporting issuer's transition year is longer than 13 months, the comparative financial
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information must be the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 12 month
period that constitutes its old financial year;

(b) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new financial year

0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its transitior&gp,

and q/

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement q%‘QDa‘nges in
equity and statement of cash flows for the periods in its transition yeagpr dld financial
year, for the same calendar months as, or as close as possible to, t% ndar months
in the interim period in the new financial year;

(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of & ﬁ;\l position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period: A

0] the reporting issuer discloses in% interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with Internatic@ ccounting Standard 34 Interim

Financial Reporting; and
(i) the reporting issuer Q'\%

(A) applies a acgo'unting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report; nr:)b"

(B) ma@! retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or Q

( réclassifies items in its interim financial report; and
(d) in tIQ;Qe of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the y: f adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of ti@psitton to IFRS.

(8) I%g?e subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for a reporting issuer's transition year

end y 6 or 3 months before the end of the transition year, the reporting issuer must
inch@e
\ (@) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during

its transition year

(1) a statement of financial position as at the end of its old financial
year; and
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(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for periods in its old financial year, for the same
calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar months in the interim
period in the transition year;

(b)  as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new financial year '\QD

(1) a statement of financial position as at the end of its transiti@&ar;

and
e

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, stateme o%hanges in
equity and statement of cash flows in its transition year or old financi %Hr, or both, as
appropriate, for the same calendar months as, or as close as pos&o, the calendar
months in the interim period in the new financial year; @

(© in the following circumstances, a statement o@'{&]cial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period:

0] the reporting issuer discloseg :ts interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with Intern Accounting Standard 34 Interim

Financial Reporting; and '\%
(i) the reporting issuer (19

(A) applies @ét:ounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report; Q/

(B) w@ a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or 3

@ reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in 2<.:ase of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in thg year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date o{trg™Sition to IFRS.

M.O ‘5-03, s. 4.8: M.O. 2006-04, s. 8: M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

@ Change in Corporate Structure
If an issuer is party to a transaction that resulted in,
(@) the issuer becoming a reporting issuer other than by filing a prospectus; or

(b) if the issuer was already a reporting issuer, in
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0] the issuer ceasing to be a reporting issuer,
(i) a change in the reporting issuer’s financial year end, or
(i)  achange in the name of the reporting issuer;

the issuer must, as soon as practicable, and in any event not later th@
deadline for the first filing required under this Regulation following the transacti% e a

notice stating %
4
?\

(c) the names of the parties to the transaction; Q‘

(d)  adescription of the transaction;

(e) the effective date of the transaction; Q/@

() the name of each party, if any, that ceas @ be a reporting issuer after
the transaction and of each continuing entity; é

(9) the date of the reporting issuer&st financial year-end after the
transaction if paragraph (a) or subparagraph ‘b\g{@ applies;

(h)  the periods, including the %lparative periods, if any, of the interim
financial reports and the annual finangigl st¥tements required to be filed for the reporting
issuer’s first financial year after the@éction, if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii)

applies; and Q/

(1) what docume%) ere filed under this Regulation that described the
transaction and where thos cuments can be found in electronic format, if paragraph

(a) or subparagraph (l@\;%plies.

M.O. 2005-03, s. Q,,. .0. 2006-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 5.

4.10. Reve% keovers

(2) IKALEporting issuer must comply with section 4.9 because it was a party to a
rev% 2keover, the reporting issuer must comply with section 4.8 unless

® (@) the reporting issuer had the same year-end as the reverse takeover
quirer before the transaction; or

(b)  the reporting issuer changes its year-end to be the same as that of the
reverse takeover acquirer.

(2) If a reporting issuer completes a reverse takeover, it must
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(@) file the following financial statements for the reverse takeover acquirer,
unless the financial statements have already been filed:

(1) financial statements for all annual and interim periods ending
before the date of the reverse takeover and after the date of the financial statements
included in an information circular or similar document, or under Item 5.2 of
Form 51-102F3 Material Change Report, prepared in connection with the transact@ﬁ

(i) if the reporting issuer did not file a document ref (140 in
subparagraph (i), or the document does not include the financial state gé)s“for the
reverse takeover acquirer that would be required to be included in a rZ&ectus the
financial statements prescribed under securities legislation and desc n the form of
prospectus that the reverse takeover acquirer was eligible to us& to the reverse
takeover for a distribution of securities in the jurisdiction;

(b) file the annual financial statements requwed&k%graph (a) on or before

the later of :

0] the 20th day after the date of th@verse takeover;
(i) the 90th date after the end(%the financial year; and

(i)  the 120th day after (ﬁt}%end of the financial year if the reporting
issuer is a venture issuer; and Q
\

(c) file each interim fin report required by paragraph (a) on or before the

later of s

0] the 10 y after the date of the reverse takeover;
(i) @%th day after the end of the interim period;

(||g the 60th day after the end of the interim period if the reporting
issueris av

issuer; and

Q~ (iv)  the filing deadline in paragraph (b).

()<( reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial

@rmation for the reverse takeover acquirer for periods that ended before the date of a
erse takeover if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b) the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 10; M.O. 2007-08, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6.

4.11. Change of Auditor '\63

Q
(1) In this section (l/
nO

“appointment” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlieré~
(@) the appointment as its auditor of a person; and

(b)  the decision by the board of directors of the re r %ssuer to propose to
holders of qualified securities to appoint such person audltor to replace its
predecessor auditor;

“consultation” means advice provided by a @cessor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a reporting issuer during the releva od, which the successor auditor
concluded was an important factor con&der%by the reporting issuer in reaching a
decision concerning Q

(@) the application of a nti principles or policies to a transaction,
whether or not the transaction is cow&é‘d

(b) a report provid% an auditor on the reporting issuer's financial
statements;

(© scope or@p dure of an audit or review engagement; or

(d) fir%QQtatement disclosure;

“disa ent” means a difference of opinion between personnel of a reporting
issuer respogM¥ible for finalizing the reporting issuer's financial statements and the
person a predecessor auditor responsible for authorizing the issuance of audit
rep the reporting issuer's financial statements or authorizing the communication
of results of the auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial report, if

\ difference of opinion
(@) resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's audit report on
the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during the relevant period,;

(b)  would have resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's
audit report on the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during the
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relevant period if the difference of opinion had not been resolved to the predecessor
auditor's satisfaction, not including a difference of opinion based on incomplete or
preliminary information that was resolved to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor
upon the receipt of further information;

(c) resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or denial of assurance in
respect of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim finan%
report for any interim period during the relevant period; or Q’\

(d)  would have resulted in a qualified or adverse communication Qr deviial of
assurance in respect of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting is L%é‘ interim
financial report for any interim period during the relevant period if t i(}fference of
opinion had not been resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfact'%gmt including a
difference of opinion based on incomplete or preliminary informati t was resolved
to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor upon the receipt of@r information;

“predecessor auditor” means the auditor of a reports suer that is the subject

of the most recent termination or resignation;

“qualified securities” means securities of a rﬂtlig issuer that carry the right to
participate in voting on the appointment or remové\o™the reporting issuer's auditor;

o

(@) if a reporting issuer's §ns ting documents or applicable law require

“relevant information circular” mean

holders of qualified securities to tak JOn to remove the reporting issuer's auditor or to
appoint a successor auditor Q/

0] the inf Jjon circular required to accompany or form part of every
notice of meeting at which action is proposed to be taken; or

resolution provid olders of qualified securities; or

(i) E)Qgﬁsclosure document accompanying the text of the written

(b) W ragraph (a) does not apply, the information circular required to
accompa orm part of the first notice of meeting to be sent to holders of qualified
securiti owing the preparation of a reporting package concerning a termination or

resig< ;
\é “relevant period” means the period

(a) commencing at the beginning of the reporting issuer's 2 most recently
completed financial years and ending on the date of termination or resignation; or
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(b) during which the predecessor auditor was the reporting issuer's auditor, if
the predecessor auditor was not the reporting issuer's auditor throughout the period
described in paragraph (a);

“reportable event” means a disagreement, a consultation, or an unresolved issue;

“reporting package” means QD

(@) the documents referred to in subparagraphs (5)(a)(i) and (6)(a)(i); (19

(b) the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B), if received by dporting
issuer, unless an updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii))(B) has @1 ceived by
the reporting issuer; Q/

(c) the letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(ii)(B), if re@ by the reporting
issuer; and

(d) any updated letter referred to in claus @(a)(iii)(B) received by the
reporting issuer; é

“resignation” means notification from ar‘fﬂ@tor to a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decision to resign or decline to stand %reappointment;

“successor auditor” means the persﬁb

(a)  appointed; 0'.) B

(b)  that the board o@ﬂors have proposed to holders of qualified securities
be appointed; or Q

(© that the RO Pof directors have decided to propose to holders of qualified
securities be appoin

as the gting issuer's auditor after the termination or resignation of the
reporting iss@s redecessor auditor;

Qm ation” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of

a) the removal of its auditor before the expiry of the auditor's term of

%omtment, the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment without reappointment, or

\h appointment of a different person as its auditor upon expiry of its auditor's term of
appointment; and

(b)  the decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to

holders of its qualified securities that its auditor be removed before, or that a different
person be appointed as its auditor upon, the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment;
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“unresolved issue” means any matter that, in the predecessor auditor's opinion,
has, or could have, a material impact on the financial statements, or reports provided by
the auditor relating to the financial statements, for any financial period during the
relevant period, and about which the predecessor auditor has advised the reporting
issuer if

(@) the predecessor auditor was unable to reach a conclusion as @(ﬁg
matter's implications before the date of termination or resignation;

(b) the matter was not resolved to the predecessor auditor'\@’sfactlon
before the date of termination or resignation; or

(c) the predecessor auditor is no longer willing to be a%%&ted with any of
the financial statements;

(2) For the purposes of this section, the term “materiaJQg{a meaning consistent
with the discussion of the term “materiality” in the issuer §@AP

(3)  This section does not apply if O
(@) the following 3 conditions are me%

0] a termination, or res'@@ion, and appointment occur in connection
with an amalgamation, arrangemenf_taMeover or similar transaction involving the
reporting issuer or a reorganization Yeporting issuer;

(i) the termj

disclosed in a news releas
been delivered to holders o

, Or resignation, and appointment have been
t has been filed or in a disclosure document that has
alified securities and filed; and
(i) @ ortable event has occurred;
(b) h% ange of auditor is required by the legislation under which the
reporting |s ists or carries on its activities; or

% the change of auditor arises from an amalgamation, merger or other
reo& tion of the auditor.

An SEC issuer satisfies this section if it

(@) complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor;
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(b) files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC,;

(© issues and files a news release describing the information disclosed in the
materials referred to in paragraph (b), if there are any reportable events; and

(d) includes the materials referred to in paragraph (b) with each re@s&?
information circular. (l/

5) Upon a termination or resignation of its auditor, a reporting issuer mq@“
(@) within 3 days after the date of termination or resignatio%q ~

0] prepare a change of auditor notice@accordance with
subsection (7) and deliver a copy of it to the predecessor a% d

(i) request the predecessor auditor to O
(A)  review the reporting issu@ ctange of auditor notice;
(B) prepare a letter, @?jressed to the securities regulatory

authority, stating, for each statement in the e of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, Q'rl/ no basis to agree or disagree; and

the date of termination or resign%

(b) within 14 day@he date of termination or resignation

(C) deliver thg%t?er to the reporting issuer within 7 days after
nl

0] h he audit committee of its board of directors or its board of
directors review the referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) if received by the reporting
issuer, and appr change of auditor notice;

file a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory

i)
authority; C)Q/
<<O (i) deliver a copy of the reporting package to the predecessor auditor;

\% (iv) if there are any reportable events, issue and file a news release
scribing the information in the reporting package; and

(c) include with each relevant information circular

0] a copy of the reporting package as an appendix; and
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(i) a summary of the contents of the reporting package with a cross-
reference to the appendix.

(6) Upon an appointment of a successor auditor, a reporting issuer must
(@)  within 3 days after the date of appointment

0] prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance %&P
subsection (7) and deliver it to the successor auditor and to the predecessor aud(ﬂ@

(i) request the successor auditor to ,\% B

(A) review the reporting issuer's change of au@ﬁotice;

(B) prepare a letter addressed to th%gzurities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor gl/ , Whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to or disagree; and

(C)  deliver that letter to the re g issuer within 7 days after
the date of appointment; and O
(i)  request the predecessor witor to, within 7 days after the date of
appointment, Q'\
(A) confirm thgh etter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does
not have to be updated; or 0'.) B
(B) pr nd deliver to the reporting issuer an updated letter

to replace the letter referred.t clause (5)(@)(ii))(B);

(b)  within 14@5 after the date of appointment,

0] gge the audit committee of its board of directors or its board of
directors revie letters referred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) and (6)(a)(iii))(B) if received

by the reporif)g iSsuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

S

Q~ (i) file a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory
aut

§ (i)  deliver a copy of the reporting package to the successor auditor
d to the predecessor auditor; and

(iv) if there are any reportable events, issue and file a news release
disclosing the appointment of the successor auditor and describing the information in
the reporting package or referring to the news release required under subparagraph

(B)(b)(iv).
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(7) A change of auditor notice must state
(@) the date of termination or resignation;
(b)  whether the predecessor auditor

0] resigned on the predecessor auditor's own initiative or @ﬁ?
reporting issuer's request; q/

(i) was removed or is proposed to holders of qualified se;@iés to be
removed during the predecessor auditor's term of appointment; or Q‘

(i) was not reappointed or has not been propose@éappointment;

(c) whether the termination or resignation of the pr@&sor auditor and any
appointment of the successor auditor were considered pproved by the audit
committee of the reporting issuer's board of directors o @ reporting issuer's board of
directors; é

(d)  whether the predecessor auditor's«ﬁgg on any of the reporting issuer's
financial statements relating to the relevant perd expressed a modified opinion and, if
S0, a description of each modification; Q'\

(e) if there is a reportable egﬂ{lﬁe following information:
.

(1) for a disagre@gat,

(A) @cription of the disagreement;

( Qhether the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the r g issuer's board of directors discussed the disagreement with
the predecessor ; and

(C) whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to{ r¢¥pond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the

disagre t and, if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation;
<( (i) for a consultation,
\E (A) a description of the issue that was the subject of the

consultation;

(B) a summary of the successor auditor's oral advice, if any,
provided to the reporting issuer concerning the issue;
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(C) a copy of the successor auditor's written advice, if any,
received by the reporting issuer concerning the issue; and

(D)  whether the reporting issuer consulted with the predecessor
auditor concerning the issue and, if so, a summary of the predecessor auditor's advice
concerning the issue; and

(i) for an unresolved issue, '\QD

(A) adescription of the issue; (l/

4
(B)  whether the audit committee of the reportin is'%er's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed @T{sue with the
predecessor auditor; and %

(C)  whether the reporting issuer a %d the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor audit cerning the issue and,
if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; ang O

() if there are no reportable events, a sta@e t to that effect.

(8) If a reporting issuer does not file the rep@;ng package required to be filed under
subparagraph (5)(b)(i) or the news se required to be filed under
subparagraph (5)(b)(iv), the predecessos@itor must, within 3 days of the required
filing date, advise the reporting issueglin wWfiting of the failure and deliver a copy of the
letter to the securities regulatory au@’.‘

(9) If a reporting issuer do file the reporting package required to be filed under
subparagraph (6)(b)(i)) or news release required to be filed under
subparagraph (6)(b)(iv), th ccessor auditor must, within 3 days of the required filing
date, advise the reporgrR\issuer in writing of the failure and deliver a copy of the letter
to the securities reg authority.

Q<
M.O. 2005-03, €,M11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 1;
M.O. 2010-1gs. 7: M.O. 2014-07, s. 2.

S

PART FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

O
|v|.6<2‘o’o7-08, s. 3.

1. Application

This Part applies to forward-looking information that is disclosed by a reporting
issuer other than forward-looking information contained in oral statements.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
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4A.2. Reasonable Basis

A reporting issuer must not disclose forward-looking information unless the issuer
has a reasonable basis for the forward-looking information.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. 63
_ N
4A.3. Disclosure (19

A reporting issuer that discloses material forward-looking infor h must

include disclosure that Q‘

@) identifies forward-looking information as such; %

(b)  cautions users of forward-looking information t ﬁjal results may vary
from the forward-looking information and identifies material~QdkYactors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking: @rmation;

(c) states the material factors or assumpt@ sed to develop forward-looking

information; and

(d)  describes the reporting is &@policy for updating forward-looking
information if it includes procedures in ada% to those described in subsection 5.8(2).

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. 0.‘) R

PART 4B FOFI AND FINA@( OUTLOOKS

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

4B.1. Application O

(1) This Pa lies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed by a reporting
issuer.

(2) é’art does not apply to disclosure that is

a) subject to requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of
&closure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23), or Regulation 43-101
pecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15); or

(b) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in paragraph (a) that a reporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption; or
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(c) contained in an oral statement.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
4B.2. Assumptions

(1) A reporting issuer must not disclose FOFI or a financial outlook unless the&@
or financial outlook is based on assumptions that are reasonable in the circumstmll :

(2) FOFI or a financial outlook that is based on assumptions that are rﬁ'\%)hable in
the circumstances must, without limitation,

@) be limited to a period for which the information in %%OFI or financial
outlook can be reasonably estimated, and

(b) use the accounting policies the reporting issue@ﬁects to use to prepare
its historical financial statements for the period cover c@ the FOFI or the financial
outlook. %

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. t\o
"D

4B.3. Disclosure Q

In addition to the disclosure eqﬂ(ed by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer
discloses FOFI or a financial outloo@ Tssuer must include disclosure that

(@) states the date r@ement approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
document containing the F% inancial outlook is undated; and

(b) explains urpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautions readers
that the information ot be appropriate for other purposes.

M.O. 2007-08, (@2
PART 5 cﬁ((ANAGEMENT's DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

5.1, (Bng of MD&A

g A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its annual financial statements and
ch interim financial report.

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer does not have to file MD&A relating to
the annual financial statements and interim financial reports required under sections 4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim periods that ended before the issuer became a
reporting issuer.
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(2)  The MD&A required to be filed must be filed on or before the earlier of

(@) the filing deadlines for the annual financial statements and each interim
financial report set out in sections 4.2 and 4.4, as applicable; and

(b) the date the reporting issuer files the financial statements un(%
subsections 4.1(1) or 4.3(1), as applicable. '\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 12; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. (L
nO

5.2.  Filing of MD&A for SEC Issuers

Despite subsection 5.1(2), if an SEC issuer that is a reporgndNgsuer is filing its
annual or interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 303 ulation S-K under
the 1934 Act, the SEC issuer must file that document on or b e earlier of

(@) the date the SEC issuer would be requir, file that document under
section 5.1; and

(b)  the date the SEC issuer files that d@&{Qnt with the SEC.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; &?@@010-17, s. 9.
5.3. Additional Disclosure for Ve%r:el(ssuers Without Significant Revenue
(1) A venture issuer that has% d significant revenue from operations in either of
its last 2 financial years, m LZclose in its MD&A, for each period referred to in
subsection (2), a breakdow@terial components of

(@) explorati@% evaluation assets or expenditures;

(b) exp@g research and development costs;

(© @g\gible assets arising from development;

Q~ general and administration expenses; and

e) any material costs, whether expensed or recognized as assets, not
\@rred to in paragraphs (a) through (d);
and if the venture issuer's business primarily involves mining exploration and
development, the analysis of exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures must be
presented on a property-by-property basis.

(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the following periods:

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 36



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(@) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial
years; and

(b) in the case of interim MD&A for an issuer that is not providing disclosure in
accordance with section 2.2.1 of Form 51-102F1, for the most recent year-to-date
interim period and the comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim finan%

report. N
Q

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply if the information required under that_sub3éction
has been disclosed in the financial statements to which the MD&A relates. ,\(50“

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 14; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9; M.O. @307, s. 1.
5.4. Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data &

(1) A reporting issuer must disclose in its annual MD&A d, if the issuer is not
providing disclosure in accordance with section 2.2.1 orm 51-102F1, its interim
MD&A ,the designation and number or principal amoun%

(@) each class and series of voting or eﬁ@ securities of the reporting issuer
for which there are securities outstanding; %

(b)  each class and series of sqol%ies of the reporting issuer for which there
are securities outstanding if the segurit®s are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, voting or equity s%t?és of the reporting issuer; and

(c) each class and @'of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
that are issuable on the co Ion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of
the reporting issuer.

(2) For the appligasi’ of paragraph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal amount of
voting or equity les of the reporting issuer that are issuable on the conversion,
exercise or e nge of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer is not
determinablthe reporting issuer must disclose the maximum number or principal
amount of(e class and series of voting or equity securities that are issuable on the
conver xercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer and, if
that @l um number or principal amount is not determinable, the reporting issuer
mu escribe the exchange or conversion features and the manner in which the
\ ber or principal amount of voting or equity securities will be determined.

3) The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) must be prepared as of the latest

practicable date.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9; M.O. 2015-07, s. 2.
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5.5. Approval of MD&A

(2) The annual MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed.

(2)  The interim MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed. QD

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), the board of directors may Qa/ ate
the approval of the interim MD&A required to be filed under this Part t audit
committee of the board of directors. ,\%

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. Q‘

5.6. Delivery of MD&A &

(2) If a registered holder or beneficial owner of |es other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the rep or| issuer's annual or interim
MD&A, the reporting issuer must send a copy of the re%s ed MD&A to the person that
made the request, without charge, by the dellvery gexdiine set out in subsection 4.6(3)
for the annual financial statements or interim flna eport to which the MD&A relates.

(2) A reporting issuer is not requwed t@eor?d copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2 years before the issuer recei he request.

(3)  The requirement to send anrgg@/ﬁ)&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
reporting issuer that sends its agmua¥MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to its
securityholders, other than h Q/of debt instruments, within 140 days of the issuer's
financial year-end and in ac@ce with Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication
with Beneficial Owners of % rities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29).

4) If a reporting r sends MD&A under this section, the reporting issuer must

also send, at the time, the annual financial statements or interim financial report to
which the MD&Q tes.

M.O. 2005@%, . 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
@

5.7. itional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers with Significant Equity
Invegtees

% A reporting issuer that has a significant equity investee must disclose in its
MD&A for each period referred to in subsection (2),

€) summarized financial information of the equity investee, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and
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(b) the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity investee and any
contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might significantly affect the
reporting issuer's share of profit or loss.

(2) The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the following periods:

€) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financ(aj

years; and Q\

(b) in the case of interim MD&A for an issuer that is not providing djsclo®re in
accordance with section 2.2.1 of Form 51-102F1, for the most recenthér’lto-date
interim period and the comparative year-to-date period presented in the dtertm financial
report. <2L

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply if &

(@) the information required under that subsectionh been disclosed in the
financial statements to which the MD&A relates; or

(b)  the issuer files separate financial stat@nis of the equity investee for the
periods referred to in subsection (2).

M.O. 2006-04, s. 16; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9; M&\g’alS-O?, s. 3.

5.8. Disclosure Relating to Pre 'ofjl'fy Disclosed Material Forward-Looking
Information 036"

(1)  This section applies to@ al forward-looking information that is disclosed by a
reporting issuer other than Q

(@) forward-IQOW\ng information contained in an oral statement, or

(b) dizQ@ that is

subject to the requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting
Standards Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23) or
-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
-1.1,r. 15), or

Q (i) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the
uirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that a reporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption.

(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in its MD&A,
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(@) events and circumstances that occurred during the period to which the
MD&A relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual results to differ materially from
material forward-looking information for a period that is not yet complete that the
reporting issuer previously disclosed to the public; and

(b)  the expected differences referred to in paragraph (a).

o

(3)  Subsection (2) does not apply if the reporting issuer Q
@) includes the information required by subsection (2) in a ne s%ease
issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A R &d to in
subsection (2); and
(b) includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subse@&) that
0] identifies the news release referred to in aph (a);
(i) states the date of the news release;

(i)  states that the news release is @ilgble at www.sedar.com.

(4) A reporting issuer must disclose and 'd\(i‘juss in its MD&A, material differences

between
Q
a i

(@) actual results for the an% r interim period to which the MD&A relates,

and 0'.)

(b) any FOFI or @outlook for the period referred to in paragraph (a)

“

that the reporting issuer preyi y disclosed.

(5) If during the pgr >o which its MD&A relates, a reporting issuer decides to
withdraw previously sed material forward-looking information,

@) thﬁ orting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the decision and discuss
the events clfcumstances that led the reporting issuer to that decision, including a

discussion{ of¥he assumptions underlying the forward-looking information that are no
longer and

Q%
@&A

subsection (4) does not apply to the reporting issuer with respect to the
0] if the reporting issuer complies with paragraph (a); and

(i) the MD&A is filed before the end of the period covered by the
forward-looking information.
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(6) Paragraph 5(a) does not apply if the reporting issuer
(@) includes the information required by paragraph (5)(a) in a news release
issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (5); and
(b) includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (5) that QD
0] identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a); (19

(i) states the date of the news release; and ,\% B

(i)  states that the news release is available at www.é@?.’com.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 10. @b
RS

PART 6 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM O
6.1. Requirement to File an AIF %

A reporting issuer that is not a venture iss@&gst file an AlF.

o

>
6.2. Filing Deadline for an AIF
o

An AIF must be filed, Q/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.1.

(@) on or before$ th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most

recently completed financiaNar; or
(b) in the of a reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer filing its AIF on
Form 10-K or For. , on or before the earlier of

» the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most recently
completed(iingcial year; and

Q (i) the date the reporting issuer files its Form 10-K or Form 20-F with
theQE :

SE.O. 2005-03, s. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 11.

6.3. (Revoked).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 17.
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PART 7 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS
7.1. Publication of Material Change

Q) If a material change occurs in the affairs of a reporting issuer, the reporting issuer
must

(@) immediately issue and file a news release authorized by an exe@@
officer disclosing the nature and substance of the change; and q/

(b) as soon as practicable, and in any event within 10 days o ®ate on
which the change occurs, file a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Repo@it respect to

the material change. Q/

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply if, @

(@) in the opinion of the reporting issuer, and if thé%ﬁinion is arrived at in a
reasonable manner, the disclosure required by su @ion (1) would be unduly
detrimental to the interests of the reporting issuer; or

(b) the material change consists of a d%@on to implement a change made
by senior management of the reporting iss who believe that confirmation of the
decision by the board of directors is proba@d senior management of the reporting
issuer has no reason to believe that pe.‘lﬁ with knowledge of the material change
have made use of that knowledge ir@u\r asing or selling securities of the reporting

issuer, 0'.)

and the reporting issu ediately files the report required under paragraph
(2)(b) marked so as to indi that it is confidential, together with written reasons for
non-disclosure.

D
(3) (paragraph re@ﬁ.

4) (paragra voked).

(5) If a(rep¥rt has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must advise

&S regulatory authority in writing if it believes the report should continue to

fidential, within 10 days of the date of filing of the initial report and every 10

dayxfthereafter until the material change is generally disclosed in the manner referred to

ragraph (1)(a), or, if the material change consists of a decision of the type referred

\0 in paragraph (2)(b), until that decision has been rejected by the board of directors of
the reporting issuer.

(6) In Ontario, the reporting issuer must advise the securities regulatory authority.
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(7 If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must promptly
generally disclose the material change in the manner referred to in subsection (1) upon
the reporting issuer becoming aware, or having reasonable grounds to believe, that
persons are purchasing or selling securities of the reporting issuer with knowledge of
the material change that has not been generally disclosed.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 7.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 18; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 2.'\QD
PART 8 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT (19

8.1. Interpretation and Application ,\%"

Q) In this Part, Q/Q‘

“acquisition” includes an acquisition of an interest &business that is
consolidated for accounting purposes or accounted for by a Q/ method, such as the
equity method; &

“acquisition of related businesses” means 1@ acquisition of 2 or more
businesses if O

(@ the businesses were under con@n control or management before the
acquisitions were completed; Q

(b) each acquisition was anI}(onal upon the completion of each other
acquisition; or 03%"

(c) the acquisitions @eontingent upon a single common event;
“business” includes§nterest in an oil and gas property to which reserves, as

defined in Regulatio -TO1 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas
Activities (chapter V¢INM. 23), have been specifically attributed; and

“specifieQ ofit or loss” means profit or loss from continuing operations
attributable t@e owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.

(2) é’art does not apply to a transaction that is a reverse takeover.

M.8¢2005-03, s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 19; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 12.
\& . Obligation to File a Business Acquisition Report and Filing Deadline

(1) If a reporting issuer completes a significant acquisition, it must file a business
acquisition report within 75 days after the acquisition date.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), if the most recently completed financial year of the
acquired business ended 45 days or less before the acquisition date, a reporting issuer
must file a business acquisition report

(@) within 90 days after the acquisition date, in the case of an issuer other
than a venture issuer, or

(b)  within 120 days after the acquisition date, in the case of a venture is

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 20; M.O. 2010-17, s. 13. %(l/
'\ \

8.3. Determination of Significance Q‘
(1)  An acquisition of a business or related businesses is a signi@/acquisition,

(@) for areporting issuer that is not a venture issue ﬁaoquisition satisfies
any of the 3 significance tests set out in subsection (2); an

(b)  for a venture issuer, if the acquisition Wiles either of the significance
tests set out in paragraphs (2)(a) or (b) if “20%” is re@a “100%".

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the @iflcance tests are:

(@ The asset test. The ren?@g issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated assets of the businesg or¥related businesses exceeds 20% of the
consolidated assets of the reporting@é‘r calculated using the audited annual financial
statements of each of the reporpng &suer and the business or the related businesses
for the most recently complet&ncial year of each that ended before the acquisition
date.

(b) The inve%te} test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
and advances to @1 siness or related businesses as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of solidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the
most recently pleted financial year of the reporting issuer ended before the
acquisition xcluding any investments in or advances to the business or related
businesseg agvat that date.

@) The profit or loss test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
corgplidated specified profit or loss of the business or related businesses exceeds 20%
@re consolidated specified profit or loss of the reporting issuer calculated using the
dited annual financial statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business or
related businesses for the most recently completed financial year of each ended before
the acquisition date.

(3) Despite subsection (1), if an acquisition of a business or related businesses is
significant based on the significance tests in subsection (2),

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 44



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(@) a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer may re-calculate the
significance using the optional significance tests in subsection (4); and

(b) a venture issuer may re-calculate the significance using the optional
significance tests in paragraphs (4)(a) or (b) if “20%” is read as “100%".

(4)  The optional significance tests are: '\63

consolidated assets of the business or related businesses exceeds “ of the

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer’s proportionate sh§§e the
consolidated assets of the reporting issuer, calculated using the financja] statements of

each of the reporting issuer and the business or the related busin for the most
recently completed interim period or financial year of each, witho g effect to the
acquisition.

(b) The investment test: The reporting issuer's c@gﬁidated investments in
and advances to the business or related business s at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reportiléssuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed interim period or fina | "year of the reporting issuer,
excluding any investments in or advances to th ness or related businesses as at

that date.
&

(c) The profit or loss test: Thq@cified profit or loss calculated under the
following subparagraph (i) exceeds 20% o¥'the specified profit or loss calculated under
the following subparagraph (ii): 0'.) B

0] the reporti ssuer's proportionate share of the consolidated
specified profit or loss of th Iness or related businesses for the later of

(A@t e most recently completed financial year of the business or
related businesses; @

g (B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed ir@ period of the business or related businesses;

S

Q. (i) the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the
later, @

S

@ (A) the most recently completed financial year, without giving
ect to the acquisition; or

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the reporting issuer, without giving effect to the acquisition.
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(4.1) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (4), the reporting issuer must not
remeasure its previously held equity interest in the business or related businesses.

(4.2) For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(b) and (4)(b), the reporting issuer's
investments in and advances to the business or related businesses must include

(@) the consideration transferred for the acquisition, measured in accordancs
with the issuer's GAAP, Q’\

(b) payments made in connection with the acquisition which do ngf corétitute
consideration transferred but which would not have been paid unless tt‘& Quisition
had occurred, and Q‘

(c) contingent consideration for the acquisition measur@dccordance with
the issuer's GAAP.

5) If an acquisition does not meet any of the significan@ngs under paragraph (4),
the acquisition is not a significant acquisition.

(6) Despite subsection (3), the significance of ar@‘lq;iisition of a business or related
businesses may be re-calculated using financial ents for periods that ended after
the acquisition date only if, after the acquisitio te, the business or related businesses

remained substantially intact and were no icantly reorganized, and no significant
assets or liabilities were transferred to ot tities.
(7 For the purposes of paragr 2)(c) and (4)(c), if any of the reporting issuer,

the business or the related busianf has incurred a loss, the significance test must be
applied using the absolute va% the loss from continuing operations attributable to
owners of the parent, adjus% exclude income taxes.

(8) For the purpo
issuer's consolidate
year was lower b
the 3 most re

paragraph (2)(c) and clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), if the reporting
cified profit or loss for the most recently completed financial
or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for
tly completed financial years, the issuer may, subject to subsection
the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently
ncial years in determining whether the significance test set out in
(c) or (4)(c) is satisfied.

(9)<(Qor the purpose of clause (4)(c)(i))(B) if the reporting issuer's consolidated

ified profit or loss for the most recently completed 12-month period was lower

\ 20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most

recently completed 12-month periods, the issuer may, subject to subsection (10),

substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently

completed 12-month periods in determining whether the significance test set out in
paragraph (4)(c) is satisfied.
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(10) If the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for either of the 2
earlier financial periods referred to in subsections (8) and (9) is a loss, the reporting
issuer's specified profit or loss for that period is considered to be zero for the purposes
of calculating the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 financial periods.

(11) If a reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business, then
for the purposes of applying subsections (2) and (4), '\QD

(@) if the initial investment and one or more incremental investmem@ere
made during the same financial year, the investments must be aggregated and Wested
on a combined basis; ,\(ao

(b) if one or more incremental investments were made |} Q‘I‘Inancial year
subsequent to the financial year in which an initial or incremental i ent was made
and the initial or previous incremental investments are refl n audited annual
financial statements of the reporting issuer previously filed, porting issuer must
apply the significance tests set out in subsections (2) an n a combined basis to
the incremental investments not reflected in audited fina statements of the reporting
issuer previously filed; and

(© if one or more incremental invest&@ were made in a financial year
subsequent to the financial year in which the igal iInvestment was made and the initial
investment is not reflected in audited annu%ﬁq cial statements of the reporting issuer
previously filed, the reporting issuer apply the significance tests set out in
subsections (2) and (4) to the initial ar&r‘t‘ emental investments on a combined basis.

(11.1) For the purposes of
clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), a reporting_i
loss for its most recently co

cuating the optional profit or loss test under
r may use pro forma consolidated specified profit or
ted financial year that was included in a previously filed

document if 3
(@ there issuer has made a significant acquisition of a business after
its most recently ted financial year; and

(b) @a reviously filed document included

(1) audited annual financial statements of that acquired business for
the& s required by this Part; and

@ (i) the pro forma financial information required by subsection 8.4(5)
(6).

(12) In determining whether an acquisition of related businesses is a significant
acquisition, related businesses acquired after the ending date of the most recently filed
audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer must be considered on a
combined basis.
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(13) For the purposes of calculating the significance tests in subsections (2) and (4),
the amounts used for the business or related businesses must

(@) be based on the issuer's GAAP, and

(b) be translated into the same presentation currency as that used in t@s
reporting issuer's financial statements. '\

(13.1) Paragraph 8.3(13)(a) does not apply to a venture issuer if (l/

4
(@) the financial statements for the business or related busin g}referred to
in subsections 8.3(2) and (4) gs‘

(1) are prepared in accordance with Canadi&,w applicable to

private enterprises, and AQ/

(i) are prepared in a manner that co @ates any subsidiaries and
accounts for significantly influenced investees and % ventures using the equity

method;
and %&O
N

(b) none of the accounting pﬂ'ﬁ)les described in paragraphs 3.11(1)(a)
through (e) of Regulation 52-107 respe™ing Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, ;3R9) were used to prepare financial statements for
the business or related businessgs, reserred to in subsections 8.3(2) and (4).

or related businesses ma calculated using unaudited financial statements of the
business or related b@ ses that comply with section 3.11 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Accepta counting Principles and Auditing Standards if the financial
statements of th@iness or related businesses for the most recently completed
financial year th ot been audited.

(14) Despite subsections;??%nd (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
e

(15) Dedpitg¥subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business

or relat sinesses may be calculated using the audited financial statements for the

fina ear immediately preceding the reporting issuer's most recently completed

findCial year if the reporting issuer has not been required to file, and has not filed,
\ ited financial statements for its most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 21; M.O. 2010-17, s. 14; M.O. 2015-07, s. 4.
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8.4. Financial Statement Disclosure for Significant Acquisitions

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file a business acquisition report under section
8.2, the business acquisition report must include the following for each business or
related businesses:

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in e L%
and a statement of cash flows for the following periods: (;\

0] if the business has completed one financial year, (l/

©-
(A) the most recently completed financial ye gﬁied on or
before the acquisition date; and Q?‘

(B) the financial year immediately prec@the most recently
completed financial year, if any; or

period commencing on the date of formation and endg@® on a date not more than 45

(i) if the business has not completed g@financial year, the financial
days before the acquisition date; O

(b) a statement of financial positiorvjs at the end of each of the periods
specified in paragraph (a); and '\

(© notes to the financial sta%m ts.
4

(2)  The most recently compl@%ancial period referred to in subsection (1) must

be audited. s
(3) If a reporting issue?%)required to include financial statements in a business
acquisition report un ubsection (1), the business acquisition report must include
financial statements

€) thQ%Zt recently completed interim period or other period that started the
day after th te* of the statement of financial position specified in paragraph (1)(b) and

ended, QS)

<<O 0] in the case of an interim period, before the acquisition date; or

\% (i) in the case of a period other than an interim period, after the interim
riod referred to in subparagraph (i) and on or before the acquisition date; and

(b)  acomparable period in the preceding financial year of the business.

(3.1) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (3) to include an interim
financial report in a business acquisition report and the financial statements for the
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business or related businesses acquired are prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to private enterprises, as permitted under Regulation 52-107
respecting  Acceptable  Accounting  Principles and  Auditing  Standards
(chapter V-1.1, r. 25), the interim financial report must include

(@) abalance sheet as at the end of the interim period and a balance sheet as
at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any; '\QD

(b) an income statement, a statement of retained earnings and a caﬁiow
statement, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative financial jnformation
for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding financia&f: if any;

and Q/Q‘

(c) notes to the financial statements. %

4) Despite subsection (3), the business acquisition re Qay include financial
statements for a period ending not more than one interi riod before the period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i) if

(@) the business does not, or related busws:s do not, constitute a material
departure from the business or operations of the ing issuer immediately before the

acquisition; and
&
(b) (paragraph revoked). (19

(c) either (bQ B

0] the acquigit
acquisition report, within t
most recently completed in

date is, and the reporting issuer files the business
owing time after the business's or related businesses'
period:

@ 45 days, if the reporting issuer is not a venture issuer; or
<< (B) 60 days, if the reporting issuer is a venture issuer; or

(%f the reporting issuer filed a document before the acquisition date
that iane financial statements for the business or related businesses that would
hav required if the document were a prospectus, and those financial statements
areNor a period ending not more than one interim period before the interim period

\ rred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i).

(5) If a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer is required to include financial
statements in a business acquisition report under subsection (1) or (3), the business
acquisition report must include

(a) a pro forma statement of financial position of the reporting issuer,
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0] as at the date of the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position filed, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date of the
pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitions that have been
completed, but are not reflected in the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position for an annual or interim period; or

for any annual or interim period, as at the date of the acquired business's mo ent
statement of financial position, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as date
of the pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitio& ‘at have
been completed,;

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement of financial pghg?

(b)  a pro forma income statement of the reporting issu gives effect to
significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the fin year referred to in
clause (i)(A) or (ii)(A), as applicable, as if they had taken p % he beginning of that
financial year, for each of the following financial periods: l

(1) the reporting issuer's %
(A)  most recently completéq ancial year for which it has filed
financial statements; and '\%

(B) interim period %/hich it has filed an interim financial report
that started after the period in clause (A) ad ended immediately before the acquisition
date or, in the reporting issuer's dis n, after the acquisition date; or

(i) if the rep issuer has not filed a statement of comprehensive
income for any annual or infeNN period, for the business's or related businesses'

(A@ ost recently completed financial year that ended before the
acquisition date; an(O

% (B) period for which financial statements are included in the
business ac% n report under paragraph (3)(a); and

% pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financial statements
refe r in paragraph (b).

% Despite paragraph (5)(a) and clauses (5)(b)(i)(B) and (5)(b)(ii))(B), if the reporting
\s uer relies on subsection (4), the business acquisition report may include

(@) a pro forma statement of financial position as at the date of the statement

of financial position filed immediately before the reporting issuer's most recent
statement of financial position filed; and
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(b) a pro forma income statement for the period ending not more than one
interim period before the interim period referred to in clause (5)(b)(i)(B) or (5)(b)(ii))(B),
as applicable.

(7 If a reporting issuer is required to include pro forma financial statements in a
business acquisition report under subsection (5),

(@) the reporting issuer must identify in the pro forma financial state éég
each significant acquisition, if the pro forma financial statements give effect %@ore
than one significant acquisition; %

4

(b)  the reporting issuer must include in the pro forma financial@&te ents

0] adjustments attributable to each significant ASition for which
there are firm commitments and for which the complete financi cts are objectively

determinable; AQ/

(i) adjustments to conform amounts, the business or related
businesses to the issuer's accounting policies, and %

(i)  a description of the underlyinﬁ\gumptions on which the pro forma
financial statements are prepared, cross-rﬂsrenced to each related pro forma
adjustment; Q'\

(© if the financial year-end Qf t business differs from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more than 93 days, f & purpose of preparing the pro forma income
statement for the reporting issuey st recently completed financial year, the reporting
issuer must construct an ir@{ statement of the business for a period of 12
consecutive months endin ore than 93 days before or after the reporting issuer's
year-end, by adding the re%@ for a subsequent interim period to a completed financial
year of the business ducting the comparable interim results for the immediately

preceding year; O

(d) % structed income statement is required under paragraph (c), the pro
forma finaanﬁ tements must disclose the period covered by the constructed income
statement e face of the pro forma financial statements and must include a note
statin QL he financial statements of the business used to prepare the pro forma
flna tatements were prepared for the purpose of the pro forma financial

ents and do not conform with the financial statements for the business included
Where in the business acquisition report;

\

(e) if a reporting issuer is required to prepare a pro forma income statement
for an interim period required by paragraph (5)(b), and the pro forma income statement
for the most recently completed financial year includes results of the business which are
also included in the pro forma income statement for the interim period, the reporting
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro forma financial statements the revenue,
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expenses and profit or loss from continuing operations included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; and

() a constructed period referred to in paragraph (c) does not have to be
audited.

(8) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (1) to include finane%
statements for more than one business because the significant acquisition invol &a

acquisition of related businesses, the financial statements required under subse § (2)
must be presented separately for each business, except for the periods dyringWvhich
the businesses have been under common control or management, in whidDcase the
reporting issuer may present the financial statements of the businesseQLn combined

basis. Q/
M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 2008-06, s. @ 2010-17, s. 15;

M.O. 2015-07, s. 5. AQ/
8.5. (Revoked). %O
O

8.6. Exemption for Significant Acquisiti@ Accounted for Using the Equity
Method '\

Q

A reporting issuer is exempt fro&th requirements in section 8.4 if
.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 23.

(@) the acquisition is, o@l e, of an equity investee;

(b) the business @sQuisition report includes disclosure for the periods for
which financial statements otherwise required under subsection 8.4(1) that

0] arizes financial information of the equity investee, including
the aggregated a s of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and

@){< describes the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity
investee a@? ny contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might
signific@y ffect the reporting issuer's share of profit or loss;

C) the financial information provided under paragraph (b) for the most
\@ntly completed financial year

(1) has been derived from audited financial statements of the equity
investee; or

(i) has been audited; and
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(d) the business acquisition report

(1) identifies the financial statements referred to in subparagraph (c)(i)
from which the disclosure provided under paragraph (b) has been derived; or

(i) discloses that the financial information provided under paragraph
(b), if not derived from audited financial statements, has been audited; and '\QD

(i)  discloses that the auditor expressed an unmodified opinﬁ?vith
respect to the financial statements referred to in subparagraph (i) or tiaeofi ncial
information referred to in subparagraph (ii). ,\ B

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 2010-17, s. 16. Qg‘

8.7. (Revoked). %
( ) A((/@

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25.
8.8. Exemption for Significant Acquisitions if Fin@al Year End Changed

If under section 8.4 a reporting issuer is rék d to provide financial statements
for a business acquired and the business chan@&d its financial year end during either of
the financial years required to be include reporting issuer may include financial
statements for the transition year in satisfa%n of the financial statements for one of the
years, provided that the transition yea@ :;l east 9 months.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.8; M.O. 200604, & 26.

8.9. Exemption from @ratives if Financial Statements Not Previously
Prepared

A reporting i is not required to provide comparative information for an
interim financial r equired under subsection 8.4(3) for a business acquired if
(@) reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period

informatioif ogMa basis consistent with the most recently completed interim period of the
acquire Iness;

<( )  the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
\ (c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-

period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 27; M.O. 2010-17, s. 17.
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8.10. Acquisition of an Interest in an Oil and Gas Property

Q) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3) and 8.3(4), the asset tests in
paragraphs 8.3(2)(a) and 8.3(4)(a) do not apply to an acquisition

(@) of a business that is an interest in an oil and gas property or related
businesses that are interests in oil and gas properties; and '\QD

(b) that is not of securities of another issuer, unless the vendor transfem@the
r

business referenced in paragraph (1)(a) to the other issuer and that other iss%
4

0] was created for the sole purpose of facilitating the @%tion; and

(i) other than assets or operations relating to theé@ferred business,
has no

(A)  substantial assets; or C)AQ/

(B)  operating history. %
(2) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.&, 8.3(4), 8.3(8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10)
and 8.3(11.1), a reporting issuer must substitu{gy‘operating income” for “specified profit

or loss” for the purposes of the profit or los fée In paragraphs 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if
the acquisition is one described in subseqﬁ&(l).

3) Exemption from Financial S &nt Disclosure - A reporting issuer is exempt
from the requirements in sectioan'

(@) the significant@lsition is an acquisition described in subsection (1);

(b) the repory
of the significant acgm
statements do n
financial state

iSsuer is unable to provide the financial statements in respect
on otherwise required under this Part because those financial
or because the reporting issuer does not have access to those

(CE C$(e acquisition does not constitute a reverse takeover;

<<®)

\% (e) in respect of the business or related businesses, for each of the financial
r

iods for which financial statements would, but for this section, be required under
section 8.4, the business acquisition report includes

(paragraph revoked);

0] an operating statement for the business or related businesses
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25);
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(i) a pro forma operating statement of the reporting issuer that gives
effect to significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the reporting issuer’s
most recently completed financial year for which financial statements are required to
have been filed, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that financial year, for
each of the financial periods referred to in paragraph 8.4(5)(b);

(i)  a description of the property or properties and the interest ac@@
by the reporting issuer; and q/

(iv)  disclosure of the annual oil and gas production voluq@ﬂ'om the
business or related businesses;

() the operating statement for the most recently comp@?inancial period
referred to in subsection 8.4(1) is audited; and

(@) the business acquisition report discloses AQ/

0] the estimated reserves and relat CPure net revenue attributable
to the business or related businesses, the materiaf@§stumptions used in preparing the
estimates and the identity and relationship to the@ting issuer or to the vendor of the
person who prepared the estimates; and %

(i) the estimated oll an(tx% production volumes from the business or
related businesses for the first ye& rMlected in the estimates disclosed under

subparagraph (i). 0'.)

(4)  Areporting issuer is ex@(mm the requirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (ii)

and (iv), if }Q
I

(@) productiQQy ss sales, royalties, production costs and operating income
were nil for the busi r related businesses for each financial period; and

“

(b) th{é)gginess acquisition report discloses this fact.
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8.11. Exemption for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

Despite section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements to file
financial statements for an acquired business, other than the pro forma financial
statements required by subsection 8.4(5), in a business acquisition report if the
reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business and the acquired
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer's most recent annual finan%
statements that have been filed. Q\

nO

PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION AND INFORMATION CIRCULA@~

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O. 2010-17, s. 19.

9.1. Sending of Proxies and Information Circulars %Q/

(1) If management of a reporting issuer gives notice of &ng to its registered
holders of voting securities, management must, at the sa ¥ne as or before giving
that notice, send to each registered holder of voting se @es who is entitled to notice
of the meeting a form of proxy for use at the meeting. é

(2) A person that solicits proxies from registé&holders of voting securities of a
reporting issuer must, '\%

@) in the case of a solicitation(@r on behalf of management of a reporting
issuer, send an information circular with¥the notice of meeting to each registered

securityholder whose proxy is solicip@f‘

(b) in the case of ther solicitation, concurrently with or before the
solicitation, send an inform@tN, Circular to each registered securityholder whose proxy
is solicited.

D
(3) (paragraph re@ﬁ.

M.O. 2005-03, QE) ; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 3.

9.1.1. Not@s%’nd-Access

(1) @ erson soliciting proxies may use notice-and-access to send proxy-related
maNfials to a registered holder of voting securities of a reporting issuer if all of the

\@Wing apply:

(@) the registered holder of voting securities is sent a notice that contains the
following information and no other information:

0] the date, time and location of the reporting issuer's meeting for
which the proxy-related materials are being sent;
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(i) a description of each matter or group of related matters identified in
the form of proxy to be voted on, unless that information is already included in a form of
proxy that is being sent to the registered holder of voting securities under paragraph (b);

(i)  the website addresses for SEDAR and the non-SEDAR website
where the proxy-related materials are posted, '\QD

(iv)  areminder to review the information circular before voting; (19

(v) an explanation of how to obtain a paper copy of thf\%o’rmatlon
circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph (2)(b) from the p

(vi)  a plain-language explanation of notice-and-acémat includes the
following information:

(A) if the person is using stratificay a list of the types of
registered holders or beneficial owners who will receive ( @ r coples of the information
circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph Vo

(B) the estimated date amf\th by which a request for a paper
copy of the information circular and, if applica the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is
to be received in order for the requester t Fbc Ive the paper copy in advance of any
deadline for the submission of the proxy @e date of the meeting;

(©) an expl i of how the registered holder is to return the

proxy, including any deadline for Q/ of the proxy;

regarding each matter or g of related matters identified in the notice can be found;

a toll-free telephone number the registered holder can call to
get information a otice-and-access;

e Yegistered holder of voting securities is sent, by prepaid mail, courier
or the equivaiMt, the notice required by paragraph (a) and a form of proxy for use at the
> In the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
notlce and form of proxy are sent at least 30 days before the date of the

(D) $ ections of the information circular where disclosure

\ (c) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
issuer, the reporting issuer files on SEDAR the notification of meeting and record dates
in the manner and within the time specified by Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);
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(d) public electronic access to the information circular, form of proxy and the
notice in paragraph (a) is provided on or before the date that the person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to registered holders in the following manner:

(1) the documents are filed on SEDAR as required by section 9.3;

(i) the documents are posted until the date that is one year from t@s
date that the documents are posted, on a website other than the website for SEDARN

voting securities to request a paper copy of the information circular and, § Plicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), at any time from the date that the person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to the registered holder %nd including
the date of the meeting, including any adjournment; &

(e) atoll-free telephone number is provided for use by the registe‘@hgder of

() if a request for a paper copy of the informatio % ar and, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is received at the ¥ee telephone number
provided under paragraph (e) or by any other mea Q paper copy of any such
document requested is sent free of charge by the%on soliciting proxies to the
requester at the address specified in the request in @fo lowing manner:

0] in the case of a request r@?ived prior to the date of the meeting,
within 3 business days after receiving th est, by first class mail, courier or the

equivalent; (l/

(i) in the case o@étquest received on or after the date of the
meeting, and within one year of #je #iformation circular being filed, within 10 calendar
days after receiving the reque@ﬁrepaid mail, courier or the equivalent.

(2) Unless an informat&circular is included with the proxy-related materials, a
reporting issuer that proxy-related materials to a registered holder of voting
securities using noti -access must not include with the proxy-related materials any

information or do t that relates to the particulars of any matter to be submitted to
the meeting, ex for the following:

(a e information required to be included in the notice under
paragr (@);

)  financial statements of the reporting issuer to be approved at the meeting
@i MD&A related to those financial statements, which may be part of an annual report.

(3) A notice under paragraph (1)(a) and the form of proxy may be combined in a
single document.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
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9.1.2. Posting materials on non-SEDAR website

(1) A person that posts proxy-related materials in the manner referred to in
subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii) must also post on the website the following documents:

(@) any disclosure material regarding the meeting that the person has sent to
registered holders or beneficial owners of voting securities; '\QD

(b) any written communications the person soliciting proxies ha %de
available to the public regarding each matter or group of matters to be voted yporwvat the
meeting, whether or not they were sent to registered holders or benefici e@/vners of
voting securities.

(2) Proxy-related materials that are posted under subparagra
be posted in a manner and be in a format that permit an indi\
level of computer skill and knowledge to do all of the followin %

21(1)(d)(ii) must
ith a reasonable
(@) access, read and search the documents og website;

(b)  download and print the documents

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
(0

9.1.3. Consent to other delivery metho@

For greater certainty, section@jﬁ’does not

@) prevent a regis holder of voting securities from consenting to a
person’s use of other delive ods to send proxy-related materials;

(b) termmat%%dn‘y a consent that a registered holder of voting securities
previously gave to n regarding the use of other delivery methods to send proxy-
related materlals

(c) <Sent a person from sending proxy-related materials using a delivery
method to a registered holder has consented prior to February 11, 2013.
M.O, Q0)3-01, s. 5.

@4. Instructions to receive paper copies

(2) Despite section 9.1.1, a reporting issuer may obtain standing instructions from a
registered holder of voting securities that a paper copy of the information circular and, if
applicable, the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b), be sent to the registered holder in
all cases when the reporting issuer uses notice-and-access.
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(2) If a reporting issuer has obtained standing instructions from a registered holder
under subsection (1), the reporting issuer must do both of the following:

(@) include with the notice required by paragraph 9.1.1(1)(a) any paper copies
of information circulars and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b),
required to comply with standing instructions obtained under subsection (1);

(b) include with the notice under paragraph (a) a description, or othﬂﬁfg

inform the registered holder of, the means by which the registered holder ma)(L ke
the registered holder’s standing instructions. %
\ 4

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. Q‘

9.1.5. Compliance with SEC Notice-and-Access Rules %
A reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer can send -related materials to
registered holders under section 9.1 using a delivery permitted under U.S.

federal securities law, if both of the following apply:

(@) the SEC issuer is subject to, and C(@Iigs with Rule 14a-16 under the
1934 Act;

(b) residents of Canada do not <"arectly or indirectly, outstanding voting
securities carrying more than 50% of the for the election of directors, and none of

the following apply:
Q N

(1) the majority pf the€ executive officers or directors of the issuer are
residents of Canada; s

(i) more t?%)SO% of the consolidated assets of the issuer are located
in Canada;

(i) Q@ business of the issuer is administered principally in Canada.

&

M.O. 2013-0&,5. 5.

9.2. @Rptions from Sending Information Circular

(1)<(91bsection 9.1(2) does not apply to a solicitation by a person in respect of
\ rities of which the person is the beneficial owner.

(2) Paragraph 9.1(2)(b) does not apply to a solicitation if the total number of
securityholders whose proxies are solicited is not more than 15.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), 2 or more persons who are joint registered
owners of one or more securities are considered to be one securityholder.
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(4) Despite paragraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than management of a reporting issuer
or a person acting on behalf of management, may solicit proxies from registered
securityholders of a reporting issuer without sending an information circular, if

(@) the solicitation is made to the public by broadcast, speech or publication;

laws under which the reporting issuer is incorporated, organized or continued the

(b)  soliciting proxies by broadcast, speech or publication is permittet%\gg
person making the solicitation complies with the requirements, if any, of thos# laws

relating to the broadcast, speech or publication; ,\ S
(© the person has filed the following information: Qg‘
0] the name and address of the reportin er to which the

solicitation relates, Q/

(i) the information required under item ctions 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 and
paragraphs (b) and (d) of item 5 of Form 51-102F5,

(i)  any information required 6\ disclosed in respect of the
broadcast, speech or publication by the Ia\%under which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued, and Q

(iv) acopy of any cor‘g %ation intended to be published; and

(d) the broadcast, spe@ publication contains the information referred to in
paragraphs (c)(i) to (iii).

(5)  Subsection (4) doegg apply to a person that is proposing, at the time of the
solicitation, a signific cquisition or restructuring transaction involving the reporting
issuer and the pers der which securities of the person, or securities of an affiliate
of the person, areQ@changed exchanged, issued or distributed, unless

(@) % erson has filed an information circular or other document containing
the informgtig¥required by section 14.4 of Form 51-102F5; and

)* the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
disﬁQses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR.

Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is nominating or proposing to
nominate, at the time of the solicitation, an individual, including himself or herself, for
election as a director of the reporting issuer, unless

(@) the person has filed an information circular or other document containing
the information required by Form 51-102F5 in respect of the proposed nominee; and
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(b)  the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 4.
9.3. Filing of Information Circulars and Proxy-Related Material '\QD

A person that is required under this Regulation to send an information ciqﬁr or
form of proxy to registered securityholders of a reporting issuer must promptiWwiile a
copy of the information circular, form of proxy and all other material requir ‘be sent
by the person in connection with the meeting to which the information @T} or form of

proxy relates. Q/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. @
9.3.1. Content of Information Circular AQ/

(1)  Subject to Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, if a repor%ssuer is required to send an
information circular to a securityholder under para r@ .1(2)(a), the issuer must,

(@) disclose all compensation paid{/Rayable, awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, b fhe ssuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
each NEO and director, in any capacitx} luding, for greater certainty, all plan and
non-plan compensation, direct or ingdirec¥ pay, remuneration, economic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perp%é paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO irettor for services provided, directly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of th‘@er, and

(b) include detal d discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relati compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person erstanding of

(i)<< 2how decisions about NEO and director compensation are made,

the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwi vided to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
\%Nardship and governance of the reporting issuer.

(2) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
set out in, and in accordance with Form 51-102F6.

(2.1) Despite subsection (2), a venture issuer may provide the disclosure required by
subsection (1) for the periods set out in and in accordance with Form 51-102F6V.
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(2.2) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be filed

(@) not later than 140 days after the end of the issuer's most recently
completed financial year, in the case of an issuer other than a venture issuer, or

(b) not later than 180 days after the end of the issuer's most recer@b
completed financial year, in the case of a venture issuer. Q’\

(3) For the purposes of this section, “NEO” and “plan” have the meaning sc(rlfed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6 or, for a venture issuer relying on subseq& 12.1), in

Form 51-102F6V. Q‘

4) (paragraph revoked). %

(5)  Subsection (2.2) applies to an issuer in respect of a f@l year beginning on
or after July 1, 2015. )

M.O. 2008-18, s. 2; M.O. 2011-05, s. 1; M.O. 2015-07, N

9.4. Content of Form of Proxy '@
(1) A form of proxy sent to securityhold reporting issuer by a person soliciting
proxies must indicate in bold-face type er or not the proxy is solicited by or on

blank space for dating the form of and specify the meeting in respect of which the

proxy is solicited. Q/
t

(2)  An information circul % to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the informat ircular relates must

@) indicat@)ld-face type that the securityholder has the right to appoint a
person to repr% e securityholder at the meeting other than the person if any,

designated in t m of proxy; and

behalf of the management of the r;orti g issuer, provide a specifically designated

(b ntain instructions as to the manner in which the securityholder may
exercis right referred to in paragraph (a).

gnation of a named person as nominee, it must provide an option for the
curityholder to designate in the form of proxy some other person as the
securityholder's nominee.

(§)<( a form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer contains a

(4) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an
option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in the
securityholder's name will be voted for or against each matter or group of related
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matters identified in the form of proxy, in the notice of meeting or in an information
circular, other than the appointment of an auditor and the election of directors.

(5) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authority with respect to each matter referred to in subsection (4) as to
which a choice is not specified if the form of proxy or the information circular states in
bold-face type how the securities represented by the proxy will be voted in respec@j
each matter or group of related matters. Q

option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in th ® of the
securityholder must be voted or withheld from voting in respect of the apgointment of an
auditor or the election of directors. Q?‘

(6) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must Ero(\)de an

(7)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a repor@uer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must state that Q/

voting in accordance with the instructions of the securi er on any ballot that may be

(@) the securities represented by the proxwe voted or withheld from
called for; and O

(b) if the securityholder specifies wome under subsection (4) or (6) with
respect to any matter to be acted upon, the ties will be voted accordingly.

(8) A form of proxy sent to se rQKolders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authority with respect er

(@) amendments or&ﬂons to matters identified in the notice of meeting;

and Q

(b) other ma@ﬁ Which may properly come before the meeting,

O

if, Q~
(© &erson by whom or on whose behalf the solicitation is made is not
aware within fMeasonable time before the time the solicitation is made that any of those
amend , variations or other matters are to be presented for action at the meeting;
and<<
(d)  a specific statement is made in the information circular or in the form of
Xy that the proxy is conferring such discretionary authority.

(9) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must not confer
authority to vote
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(@) for the election of any person as a director of a reporting issuer unless a
bona fide proposed nominee for that election is named in the information circular or, in
the case of a solicitation under subsection 9.2(4), the document required under
paragraph 9.2(6)(a); or

(b)  at any meeting other than the meeting specified in the notice of meeting or

any adjournment of that meeting. QD
M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.4; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 20. (19\
9.5. Exemption ,\%“

Sections 9.1 to 9.4 do not apply to a reporting issuer, or a on that solicits
proxies from registered holders of voting securities of a reporting i f

(@) the reporting issuer or other person complies wi Qrequirements of the
laws relating to the solicitation of proxies under whic& e reporting issuer is

incorporated, organized or continued; : O

(b)  the requirements referred to in subse@n (a) are substantially similar to
the requirements of this Part; and

and form of proxy, or other documents contain substantially similar information,

(© the reporting issuer or otherngg?files a copy of any information circular
promptly after the reporting issuer o; oth¥r person sends the circular, form or other

document in connection with the m >

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.5; M.O. 20@{ s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 5.
PART 10 RESTRICTE@CURITY DISCLOSURE
10.1. Restricted S y Disclosure

(2) If a rep %ssuer has outstanding restricted securities, or securities that are
directly or idgirettly convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted
securities curities that will, when issued, result in an existing class of outstanding
securiti eing considered restricted securities, each document referred to in
sub (2) must

& (@) refer to restricted securities using a term that includes the appropriate
tricted security term;

(b) not refer to securities by a term that includes “common”, or “preference” or

“preferred”, unless the securities are common shares or preference shares,
respectively;
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(c) describe any restrictions on the voting rights of restricted securities;

(d) describe the rights to participate, if any, of holders of restricted securities if
a takeover bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to
those attached to the restricted securities;

(e) state the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to xo;)
reporting issuer's securities that are represented by the class of restricted sec@g ;

and q/

)] if holders of restricted securities have no right to participate ,@tﬁkeover
bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights spperdr to those
attached to the restricted securities, contain a statement to that effech/ d-face type.
(2) Subsection (1) applies to the following documents: &

(@) an information circular;

(b) a document required by this Regulation delivered upon request by a
reporting issuer to any of its securityholders; and O

(c) an AIF prepared by a reporting |5Q53r
(3) Despite subsection (2), annual flw'a%al statements, an interim financial report

and MD&A or other accompanying.disdssion by management of those financial
statements are not required to incl Re details referred to in paragraphs (1)(c), (d),

(e) and (f).
X

(4) Each reference to @ﬁcted securities in any document not referred to in
r

subsection (2) that a repO¥Qg issuer sends to its securityholders must include the
appropriate restricted geWrily term

B5) A reportan,L er must not refer, in any of the documents described in
subsection (4), securities by a term that includes “common” or “preference” or
“preferred”, @e s the securities are common shares or preference shares,
respective

(6) @a pite paragraph (1)(b) and subsection (5), a reporting issuer may, in one place
onl%dn a document referred to in subsection (2) or (4), describe the restricted securities
%Lhe term used in the constating documents of the reporting issuer, to the extent that
\e m differs from the appropriate restricted security term, if the description is not on the
front page of the document and is in the same type face and type size as that used
generally in the document.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.1; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2008-06, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 21.
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10.2. Dissemination of Disclosure Documents to Holder of Restricted Securities

(1) If a reporting issuer sends a document to all holders of any class of its equity
securities the document must also be sent by the reporting issuer at the same time to
the holders of its restricted securities.

(2) A reporting issuer that is required by this Regulation to arrange for, or volu%&g?
makes arrangements for, delivery of the documents referred to in subsection ( the
beneficial owners of any securities of a class of equity securities registered ig thevhame
of a registrant, must make similar arrangements for delivery of the docu@t& to the
beneficial owners of securities of a class of restricted securities registeégl the name

of the registrant. Q/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.2.

10.3. Exemptions for Certain Reporting Issuers AQ/

The provisions of sections 10.1 and 10.2 do not y to

(@) securities that carry a right to vote sﬁq@t to a restriction on the number or
percentage of securities that may be voted or ed by persons that are not citizens or
residents of Canada or that are otherwise@e ered as a result of any law applicable
to the reporting issuer to be non-CanadiaggNdut only to the extent of the restriction; and

(b)  securities that are SU@tb a restriction, imposed by any law governing
the reporting issuer, on the Ie{é‘h ownership of the securities by any person or
combination of persons, but o% e extent of the restriction.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.3; M.ONX08-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 3.
PART 11 ADDIT| L FILING REQUIREMENTS
11.1. Additior\Qgisclosure Requirements
@ A r@%g issuer must file a copy of any disclosure material
@) that it sends to its securityholders;
@ (b) in the case of an SEC issuer, that it files with or furnishes to the SEC
der the 1934 Act, including material filed as exhibits to other documents, if the
material contains information that has not been included in disclosure already filed in a

jurisdiction by the SEC issuer; or

(c) that it files with another provincial or territorial securities regulatory
authority other than in connection with a distribution.
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(2) A reporting issuer must file the material on the same date as, or as soon as
practicable after, the earlier of

€) the date on which the reporting issuer sends the material to its
securityholders;

(b)  the date on which the reporting issuer files or furnishes the material@gg

SEC; and q/

(c) the date on which the reporting issuer files that material \/\,’t\bﬁe other
provincial or territorial securities regulatory authority.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31.

&
11.2. Change of Status Report @
RS

A reporting issuer must file a notice promptly aft occurrence of either of the
following: %

(@) the reporting issuer becomes a ventﬂ@suer; or

(b) the reporting issuer ceases to@i@enture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.2. Qq/

)
11.3. Voting Results Q/‘b
A reporting issuer th@)t a venture issuer must, promptly following a meeting

of securityholders at which atter was submitted to a vote, file a report that discloses,
for each matter voted

(@) a br@(g}scription of the matter voted upon and the outcome of the vote;

and

(b he vote was conducted by ballot, including a vote on a matter in which
votes a t both in person and by proxy, the number or percentage of votes cast for,
agaj withheld from the vote.

&o. 2005-03, s. 11.3.
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11.4. Financial Information

A reporting issuer must file a copy of any news release issued by it that discloses
information regarding its historical or prospective financial performance or financial
condition for a financial year or interim period.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 23. QD
11.5. Re-filing Documents (19\
If a reporting issuer decides it will ,\% B
(@) re-file a document filed under this Regulation, or Q/Q‘

(b) re-state financial information for comparativ@ods in financial
statements for reasons other than retrospective applicai f a change in an
accounting standard or policy or a new accounting standard.l

and the information in the re-filed document, ?-stated financial information,
will differ materially from the information originall , the issuer must immediately
issue and file a news release authorized by an &ive officer disclosing the nature
and substance of the change or proposed char@ss

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s. 24(1/
11.6. Executive Compensatlon Sure for Certain Reporting Issuers

(1)  Areporting issuer that [ equwed to send to its securityholders an information
circular and does not send @ ormation circular that includes the disclosure required
by Item 8 of Form 51- 102$nd that does not file an AIF that includes the executive
compensation disclos uired by Item 18 of Form 51-102F2 must

(@) dis all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provi€gds directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
each NEO irector, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and
non-plan ¢oRMensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial
award, rd, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
oth provided to the NEO or director for services provided, directly or indirectly, to
theNgsuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and

\ (b) include detail and discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person an understanding of

0] how decisions about NEO and director compensation are made,
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(i) the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of the reporting issuer.

(2) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the perioqs
set out in, and in accordance with Form 51-102F6. Q’\

(2.1) Despite subsection (2), a reporting issuer that is a venture issuer may rofl)de the
disclosure required under subsection (1) for the periods set out in and ir}\ drdance
with Form 51-102F6V.

(3) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must éﬁiled not later
than 140 days after the end of the reporting issuer’'s most rec mpleted financial

year. AQ/

4) For the purposes of this section, “NEO” and “pla ”@/e the meaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6 or, for a venture issu ying on subsection (2.1), in
Form 51-102F6V. O

(5)  This section does not apply to an is$5er that satisfies securities legislation

requirements relating to information circ proxies and proxy solicitation under
section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-10 ecting Continuous Disclosure and Other

Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issue&(c pter V-1.1, r. 37).
\

(6) (paragraphe revoked). Q/‘b

M.O. 2008-18, s. 4; M.O. 2Q1 , S. 2; M.O. 2015-07, s. 7.
PART 12 FILING @ TAIN DOCUMENTS

12.1. Filing of DQQents Affecting the Rights of Securityholders

@ A rep@ issuer must file copies of the following documents, and any material
amendme@ the following documents, unless previously filed:

)* articles of incorporation, amalgamation, continuation or any other
corgfating or establishing documents of the issuer, unless the constating or establishing
\ ment is a statutory or regulatory instrument;
(b) by-laws or other corresponding instruments currently in effect;
(c) any securityholder or voting trust agreement that the reporting issuer has

access to and that can reasonably be regarded as material to an investor in securities of
the reporting issuer;
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(d) any securityholders' rights plans or other similar plans; and

(e) any other contract of the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer that creates or
can reasonably be regarded as materially affecting the rights or obligations of its
securityholders generally.

(2) A document required to be filed under subsection (1) may be filed in paper %%59
if

%

(@) itis dated before June 1, 2005; and ,\%“

(b) it does not exist in an acceptable electronic format. Qg‘

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 33. &
12.2. Filing of Material Contracts AQ/

(2) Unless previously filed, a reporting issuer mus@e a material contract entered
into ,@

(@  within the last financial year; or '\%

(b) before the last financial year@at material contract is still in effect.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a @ﬁhg issuer is not required to file a material
contract entered into in the ordin@ rse of business unless the material contract is

(@) a contract to @ directors, officers, or promoters are parties other than
a contract of employment; 3

(b)  a conti
or services or to

contract to sell the majority of the reporting issuer’s products
se the majority of the reporting issuer’s requirements of goods,

services, or ra erials;
(c franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, trade
secret, ss or trade name;

d) a financing or credit agreement with terms that have a direct correlation
\@ anticipated cash distributions;

(e) an external management or external administration agreement; or

() a contract on which the reporting issuer's business is substantially
dependent.
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(3) A provision in a material contract filed pursuant to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unreadable if an executive officer of the reporting issuer
reasonably believes that disclosure of that provision would be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the reporting issuer or would violate confidentiality provisions.

(4)  Subsection (3) does not apply if the provision relates to:

o

(@) debt covenants and ratios in financing or credit agreements; Q

(b)  events of default or other terms relating to the termination of the (rl(terial
contract; or '\ 5

(© other terms necessary for understanding the impa the material
contract on the business of the reporting issuer. %

(5) If a provision is omitted or marked to be unreadable%/ subsection (3), the
reporting issuer must include a description of the type rmation that has been
omitted or marked to be unreadable immediately after I@)rovision in the copy of the
material contract filed by the reporting issuer. é

(6) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a rep%g@issuer is not required to file a
material contract entered into before January 10500 :

N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5‘19

12.3. Time for Filing of DocumemBQ"

The documents require filed under sections 12.1 and 12.2 must be filed no
later than the time the repogtizNNISsuer files a material change report in Form 51-102F3,
if the making of the documés onstitutes a material change for the issuer, and

the document wa e or adopted before the date of the issuer's AlF; or

@) no I@the time the reporting issuer's AlF is filed under section 6.1, if

(b) Ipthe reporting issuer is not required to file an AIF under section 6.1, within
120 days the end of the issuer's most recently completed financial year, if the
docum s made or adopted before the end of the issuer's most recently completed

fina ear.
2O

@.‘2005-03, s. 12.3; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727.
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PART 13 EXEMPTIONS
13.1. Exemptions from this Regulation

(2) The securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Regulation,
in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the

exemption.
&

(2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant Sp@an
exemption. %
4

(3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is tet under the
statute referred to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 res% Definitions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3), opposite the name of the local jurisdiction. %

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18,3@ 13.

(1) A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely néexemption, waiver or approval
granted to it by a securities regulatory autho& elating to continuous disclosure
requirements of securities legislation or securiigg directions existing immediately before
this Regulation came into force is exempt f H\ y substantially similar provision of this
Regulation to the same extent and on t @me conditions, if any, as contained in the

exemption, waiver or approval. Q
)

(2) A reporting issuer must, me that it first intends to rely on subsection (1) in
connection with a filing re ent under this Regulation, inform the securities
regulatory authority in writi

13.2. Existing Exemptions

(@) the gene a)ure of the prior exemption, waiver or approval and the date
on which it was gra \Nand

(b) the Eg; ement under prior securities legislation or securities directions in
respect of hthe prior exemption, waiver or approval applied and the substantially

similar pro@s’ of this Regulation.
=
M.O, Q0Y5-03, s. 13.2.

\éﬁ). Exemption for Certain Exchangeable Security Issuers
(2) In this section:

“designated Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec, or Saskatchewan,;
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“designated exchangeable security” means an exchangeable security which
provides the holder of the security with economic and voting rights which are, as nearly
as possible except for tax implications, equivalent to the underlying securities;

“exchangeable security” means a security of an issuer that is exchangeable for,
or carries the right of the holder to purchase, or of the parent issuer to cause the
purchase of, an underlying security; '\QD

“exchangeable security issuer’” means a person that has issued an excha(v@ble

security;
©-

“parent issuer”, when used in relation to an exchangeable securi isstier, means
the person that issues the underlying security; and

“underlying security” means a security of a parent |ssuer%g or transferred, or
to be issued or transferred, on the exchange of an exchangea curity.

(2)  An exchangeable security issuer satisfies the req @ents in this Regulation if

(@ the parent issuer is the beneficial owr@o all the issued and outstanding
voting securities of the exchangeable security is

o

(b) the parent issuer is either Q

marketplace that has filed all docu it is required to file with the SEC; or

0] an SEC issuer W|;E atllfass of securities listed or quoted on a U.S.

(i) a reporti %ﬂer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is requ o file under this Regulation;

(c) the exch%e le security issuer does not issue any securities, and does
not have any securi tstanding, other than

(|)<< 2 esignated exchangeable securities;

securities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of
the par uer,

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan

@ investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,

vings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; or

(iv)  securities issued wunder exemptions from the prospectus

requirement in section 2.35 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 21);
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(d)  the exchangeable security issuer files in electronic format,

0] if the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file with
the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filing by the parent issuer of those documents with the SEC; or '\QD

(i) if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated C@@ian
jurisdiction,
4
(A) a notice indicating that the exchangeable u'my issuer is
relying on the continuous disclosure documents filed by its parent is %ﬂd setting out
where those documents can be found in electronic format, if t@ent issuer is a
reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the paﬁe&suer Is required to file
under securities legislation, other than in connection wit jstribution, at the same time
as the filing by the parent issuer of those docum with a securities regulatory

authority; O

(e) the exchangeable security is @concurrently sends to all holders of
designated exchangeable securities all dis e materials that are sent to holders of
the underlying securities in the manner a the time required by

0] U.S. laws and U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent issuer are listed or quo%' the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdictk%

(i) securiﬂ§egislation, if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian j ICtion;

) the Qg issuer

(ﬁ){ complies with U.S. laws and the requirements of any U.S.
e

marketpla which the securities of the parent issuer are listed or quoted if the

parent r is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction, or

sec legislation if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian

juriélc lon, in respect of making public disclosure of material information on a timely
js; and

(i) immediately issues in Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material change in its affairs;

() the exchangeable security issuer issues in Canada a news release and
files a material change report in accordance with Part 7 of this Regulation for all material
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changes in respect of the affairs of the exchangeable security issuer that are not also
material changes in the affairs of its parent issuer; and

(h)  the parent issuer includes in all mailings of proxy solicitation materials to
holders of designated exchangeable securities a clear and concise statement that

(1) explains the reason the mailed material relates solely to the par@j
issuer;

(i) indicates that the designated exchangeable securiti {a]é the
economic equivalent to the underlying securities; and %“

(i)  describes the voting rights associated wit@? designated
exchangeable securities. %

(3) The insider reporting requirement and the requireme@e an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for ElectroR] isclosure by Insiders
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) does not apply to any insider of an angeable security issuer in
respect of securities of the exchangeable security issus%o ong as,

€) if the insider is not the parent issuelv,&O

(1) the insider does not reﬁ@in the ordinary course, information as

to material facts or material changes cou‘if ing the parent issuer before the material
facts or material changes are generalleis osed, and

other than by virtue of being ap WNAder of the exchangeable security issuer;

4
(i) the insider ig n%()an insider of the parent issuer in any capacity

(b) the parent i r is the beneficial owner of all of the issued and
outstanding voting se &S of the exchangeable security issuer;

(© if th?. er is the parent issuer, the insider does not beneficially own any
designated exc eable securities other than securities acquired through the exercise
of the excha@ ght and not subsequently traded by the insider;

S

the parent issuer is an SEC issuer or a reporting issuer in a designated
Ca& jurisdiction; and

§ (e) the exchangeable security issuer has not issued any securities and does
t have any securities outstanding, other than

0] designated exchangeable securities;

(i) securities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of
the parent issuer;
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(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; and

(iv)  securities issued wunder exemptions from the prospect@s
requirement in section 2.35 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptio

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M. 2%05
s. 1; I.N. 2015-06-01.

13.4. Exemption for Certain Credit Support Issuers Q‘
Q) In this section: &

“alternative credit support” means support, other@ a guarantee, for the
payments to be made by the issuer, as stipulated in th: s of the securities or in an

agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to, ho of the securities that

(@) obliges the person providing the suﬁg to provide the issuer with funds
sufficient to enable the issuer to make the Stlpl% payments, or

(b)  entitles the holder of the sﬂ‘%les to receive, from the person providing
the support, payment if the issuer fail e a stipulated payment;

“credit support issuer’” me s‘,bn issuer of securities for which a credit supporter
has provided a guarantee or @ﬂive credit support;

“credit supporter” m? a person that provides a guarantee or alternative credit
support for any of the ents to be made by an issuer of securities as stipulated in
the terms of the secgm or in an agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to,
holders of the secd)

“desi <§1 Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brun , Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec or Saskatchewan; “designated credit
support: rltles” means

a) non-convertible debt securities or convertible debt securities that are
@vertlble into non-convertible securities of the credit supporter; or

(b) non-convertible preferred shares or convertible preferred shares that are
convertible into securities of the credit supporter, in respect of which a parent credit
supporter has provided

(c) alternative credit support that
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0] entitles the holder of the securities to receive payment from the
credit supporter, or enables the holder to receive payment from the credit support
issuer, within 15 days of any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; and

(i) results in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit rating they would have received if payment had be@;
fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result j "(h
securities receiving such a rating if they were rated; or q/&

(d) a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be @E“ by the
credit support issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or ipyanagreement
governing the rights of holders of the securities, that results in Ider of such
securities being entitled to receive payment from the credit suppo@ﬂthin 15 days of
any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment;

“parent credit supporter” means a credit supporter ofqa&%ﬁ the reporting issuer is

a subsidiary; :

“subsidiary credit supporter” means a credit@porter that is a subsidiary of the
parent credit supporter; and

“summary financial information” inclt@&ae following line items:

(@) revenue; q’
Q-
(b) profit or loss fron@hnuing operations attributable to owners of the
parent;

(c) profit or loss ég)utable to owners of the parent; and

ccounting principles used to prepare the financial statements
the preparation of the person's statement of financial position
without cIassﬁy% ssets and liabilities between current and non-current and the person
provides altgfpative meaningful financial information which is more appropriate to the

industry, C)
<<OQ~ 0] current assets;

\é (i) non-current assets;

(i) current liabilities; and

(iv)  non-current liabilities.
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(1.1) For the purposes of subparagraph (2)(g)(ii), consolidating summary financial
information must be prepared on the following basis:

(@ an entity’s annual or interim summary financial information must be
derived from the entity’s financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter for the corresponding period;

(b)  the parent credit supporter column must account for investments&@
subsidiaries under the equity method; and q/

(© all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments ,@dh-credit
supporter subsidiaries under the equity method.

(2) Except as provided in this section, a credit support éér satisfies the
requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent credit supporter is the beneficial m&g{ of all the outstanding
voting securities of the credit support issuer; : O

(b)  the parent credit supporter is either O

0] an SEC issuer that is incc@aorated or organized under the laws of
the United States of America or any state M ory of the United States of America or
the District of Columbia and that has fiIc%l documents it is required to file with the
SEC,; or

4
(i) a reporting S i@ in a designated Canadian jurisdiction that has

filed all documents it is requir fe under this Regulation;

(c) the credit sumﬁ issuer does not issue any securities, and does not have
any securities outstang ther than

(i)QQ@ignated credit support securities;

securities issued to and held by the parent credit supporter or an

i)
affiliate of Q&lrent credit supporter;

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan

an&wvestment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,

@ngs or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
WYancial institutions; or

(iv)  securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus

requirement in section 2.35 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 21);
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(d) the credit support issuer files in electronic format,

(1) if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to file with the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time or as soon as
practicable after the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with the

SEC; or '\QD

(i) if the parent credit supporter is a reporting issuer in a deei@ted
Canadian jurisdiction,

(A) a notice indicating that the credit support is % relylng on
the continuous disclosure documents filed by the parent credit suppq, %d setting out
where those documents can be found for viewing in electronit&t, if the credit
support issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the Q@ﬁt credit supporter is
required to file under securities legislation, other than ig(coynection with a distribution,
at the same time as the filing by the parent credit su r of those documents with a
securities regulatory authority; O

(e) if the parent credit supporter is{Rpt a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, the parent credit sup

(1) complies with S.(lﬁws and the requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which securities of, Parent credit supporter are listed or quoted in
respect of making public disclosuQ/o aterial information on a timely basis; and

(i) immedi Issues in Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material chang ts affairs;

material change in accordance with Part 7 for all material changes in respect of
the affairs of th dit support issuer that are not also material changes in the affairs of

the parent CQ/ upporter,

() the%@ pport issuer issues in Canada a news release and files a

d)(ii)(A) or in or with the copy of each consolidated interim financial report and
ated annual financial statements filed under subparagraph (d)(i) or
@se (d)(ii)(B), either

(1) a statement that the financial results of the credit support issuer are
included in the consolidated financial results of the parent credit supporter, if at that
time,

the credit support issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referred to
in cI
Ii
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(A) the credit support issuer has minimal assets, operations,
revenue or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and
repayment of the securities described in paragraph (c), and

(B) each item of the summary financial information of the
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined basis, other than the credit
support issuer, represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the consolida
financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to
paragraph (d), or

(i) for the periods covered by the consolidated interim fiq@al report
or consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit supporter filed,
consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit s@l’er presented
with a separate column for each of the following:

(A) the parent credit supporter; AQ/®

(B) the credit support issuer;

(C) any other subsidiaries @hg parent credit supporter on a
combined basis;

(D)  consolidating ad%@nts and

(E) the total 006 ated amounts;

the credit support issuer fj e notice with the statement contemplated in
subparagraph (g)(i) and credit support issuer can no longer rely on

subparagraph (9)(i);

(h) the credit suppo@h files a corrected notice under clause (d)(ii)(A) if
I

0] in the of designated credit support securities that include debt, the
credit support is ncurrently sends to all holders of such securities all disclosure
materials that ent to holders of similar debt of the parent credit supporter in the
manner and time required by

(|) U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
|t supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
ing issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; and

0) in the case of designated credit support securities that include preferred
shares, the credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of such securities all
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disclosure materials that are sent to holders of similar preferred shares of the parent
credit supporter in the manner and at the time required by

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a re;@r@
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction. q/

(k) no person other than the parent credit supporter has providec}}S rantee
or alternative credit support for the payments to be made under@ sued and

outstanding securities of the credit support issuer. Q/
(2.1) A credit support issuer satisfies the requirements of this ation where there
is a parent credit supporter and one or more subsidiary credit rters if

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (), (i @j (j) are complied with;

(b)  the parent credit supporter controls EQI ubsidiary credit supporter and
the parent credit supporter has consolidated the #garCial statements of each subsidiary
credit supporter into the parent credit suppori€Rs financial statements that are filed or
referred to under paragraph (2)(d); Q

(© the credit support issuer, iIe(sl/ln electronic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with t Py of each consolidated interim financial report
and the consolidated annual fingncia¥ statements filed under subparagraph (2)(d)(i) or
clause (2)(d)(ii))(B), for a peri@(ered by any consolidated interim financial report or
consolidated annual finant% tatements of the parent credit supporter filed by the
parent credit supporter, coﬁ? dating summary financial information for the parent credit
supporter presented wj eparate column for each of the following:

(i)QQQ parent credit supporter;

@ the credit support issuer;

S

Q. (i)  each subsidiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

<( (iv)  any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined

(v) consolidating adjustments; and

(vi)  the total consolidated amounts;
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(d) no person, other than the parent credit supporter or a subsidiary credit
supporter has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support for the payments to be
made under the issued and outstanding designated credit support securities; and

(e) the guarantees or alternative credit supports are joint and several.

(2.2) Despite paragraph (2.1)(c), the information set out in a column in accordan@s

with
Q

(@)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), may be combined with the informatiq ut in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if eaclﬁean of the
summary financial information set out in a column nce with
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) represents less than 3% of the correspo%tems on the
consolidated financial statements of the parent credit supporter be'%' d or referred to
under paragraph (2)(d),

(b) subparagraph (2.1)(c)(ii) may be combined vwlmgé information set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragra @.1)(0); if the credit support
issuer has minimal assets, operations, revenue or cas?%ws other than those related to
the issuance, administration and repayment @ he securities described in
paragraph (2)(c).

3) The insider reporting requirement J\ﬁ’% requirement to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 Syste% Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI)
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) do not apply to ider of a credit support issuer in respect of
securities of the credit support issuen‘é@ng as,

(@ the conditions in&raphs (2)(a) to (c) are complied with;
(b) if the insider | a credit supporter,

to material facts erial changes concerning a credit supporter before the material
facts or materi ges are generally disclosed, and

0] Qﬁ).Qﬁsider does not receive, in the ordinary course, information as
n

the insider is not an insider of a credit supporter in any capacity
othert virtue of being an insider of the credit support issuer; and

C) if the insider is a credit supporter, the insider does not beneficially own any
@gnated credit support securities;
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(4) A parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction for the purposes of subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) if the parent credit supporter
complies with a requirement of this Regulation by relying on a provision of
Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.4; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 36; M.O. 20
06, s. 7 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 7; M.O. 2009-05, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, 6&,
M.O. 2012-05, s. 1; I.N. 2015-06-01.

PART 14 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION y\%"

14.1. Effective Date Q/Q‘
(Omitted). &
RS

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1. O
14.2. Transition %

Despite section 14.1, section 5.7 applies f@ﬁ{@ncial years of the reporting issuer
beginning on or after January 1, 2007. %

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.2; Erratum, 2005, G.O@ 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 37.

14.3. Transition - Interim Financip@abort

(1) Despite section 4.4 a agraph 4.10(2)(c), the first interim financial report
required to be filed in th r of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim period
beginning on or after Janua\M, 2011 may be filed

@) in the @ of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before

the earlier of Q~

Q)/ the 75th day after the end of the interim period; and

S

g‘ (i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for )0d ending on the last day of the interim period; or

\é (b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
0] the 90th day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period.
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(2) Despite subsection 5.1(2), the MD&A required to be filed under subsection 5.1(1)
relating to the first interim financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting
IFRS in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
on or before the earlier of

(@) the filing deadline for the interim financial report set out in subsection (1);

and '\QD

(b) the date the reporting issuer files the interim financial repor(l}%der
subsections (1) or 4.3(1), as applicable. %
4

r'a‘ securities,
first interim

(3) Despite subsection 4.6(3), if a registered holder or beneficial ow
other than debt instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the i
financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS i ct of an interim
period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the reporting iss y send a copy of
the required interim financial report and the interim MD ating to the interim
financial report to the person that made the request, withou ge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer relyin subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline set out in subsecti@(l , for the financial statements
requested,;

days after the filing deadline in subparag 4.4(a)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), subsection 4.10(2) or

subsection 14.3(1), as applicable, for @ ncial statements requested; and
4

(© 10 calendar days a@?@e issuer receives the request.

(b) in the case of a reporting is:é{g relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar
fi

(4) Subsections (1), (2) @ do not apply unless the reporting issuer:

(@) is disclogi kr the first time, a statement of compliance with International
Accounting Standar terim Financial Reporting; and

(b) di({l& previously file financial statements that disclosed compliance with

IFRS. Q/

(5) Cé)ctions (), (2) and (3) do not apply if the first interim financial report is in
res an interim period ending after March 30, 2012.

&9. 2010-17, s. 27.
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FORM 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of MD&A

MDG&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of how
company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and

company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A compleme
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of yo%fi
4

ncial

statements. '\

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to impro Qanr company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of yo pany's financial
performance and financial condition including, without limitation considerations as

liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad news as good news. Your
MD&A should A

- help current and prospective investor@?erstand what the financial
statements show and do not show; O

- discuss material information that{aay not be fully reflected in the financial
statements, such as contingent IiabilitieEN aults under debt, off-balance sheet

financing arrangements, or other contrac bligations;
- discuss important tr ‘and risks that have affected the financial
statements, and trends and risk are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and s

- provide inforrng#fon about the quality, and potential variability, of your
company's profit or | and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past
performance is indi of future performance.

(b)  Date of IQoamation

In e%ng the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the dat e MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
the @ ure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.

\% Use of “Company”

Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d)  Explain Your Analysis

Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.

Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period

to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the reader to
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures.

&

Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not need di¥Close
information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determig\ hether

information is material. Q‘

(e) Focus on Material Information

()] Determination of what is Material Information %

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or, o buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed4 information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely rial.

() Venture Issuers O

If your company is a venture issuer(,éou have the option of meeting the
requirement to provide interim MD&A und 'be ion 2.2 by instead providing quarterly
highlights disclosure. Refer to Policy %ment to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations. (D&Cision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for
guidance on quarterly highlights. 0'.) B

If your company is a v
in your MD&A including an
financial performance on €

objectives and miIesto@s

(h) Reverse TQQer Transactions

If an uisition is a reverse takeover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse
takeover a€qy¥er's financial statements.

issuer without significant revenue from operations,
rterly highlights, focus your discussion and analysis of
nditures and progress towards achieving your business

() agraph revoked).

@ Resource Issuers

If your company has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
(chapter V-1.1, r. 15), including the requirement that all scientific and technical
disclosure be based on a technical report or other information prepared by or under the
supervision of a qualified person.
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If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23).

(k) Numbering and Headings

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be r, ted

elsewhere.
)

The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Forg'ﬁ?‘g

) Omitting Information

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is i@cable.

(m) Defined Terms Q/

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refef§o¥art 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (c er V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter 1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities st&é of the local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disﬁure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 re g Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20) &71/ ther guidance.

This Form also uses acco “erms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly gccoemtable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) O licy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting

Continuous Disclosure Oin@
(n)  Plain Languag
Write the so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain

language prlncﬁ) listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting
Continuous sure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical terms,
explain th() a clear and concise manner.
(o) @/ ilable Prior Period Information

@ If you have not presented comparative financial information in your financial

te

ments, in your MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
performance that is available.
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(p) Use of “Financial Condition”

This Form uses the term “financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown
on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.

PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A '\63

D
tem1 Annual MD&A
nO

1.1 Date

Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A méf no earlier than
the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statem r your company's

most recently completed financial year. AQ/

Provide an analysis of your company's fina condition, financial performance
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands& mitments, events or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on@g.lr company's business. Compare your
company's performance in the most recent b& pleted financial year to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should addresi/ least the following:

1.2 Overall Performance

(@) operating segments re reportable segments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP; Q/

(b) other parts of usiness if

(1) th ave a disproportionate effect on revenue, profit or loss or
cash needs; or O

(ii& there are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of r company's business to another;

¢Q~ industry and economic factors affecting your company's performance;
LY

why changes have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in
@r company's financial condition and financial performance; and

(e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) When explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,
include an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.

(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks tl(é
have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably Il@\
affect them in the future.

(i) Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if |t,®help the
reader to better understand a trend.

1.3. Selected Annual Information %Q/

(1) Provide the following financial data derived from your
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed finang

(@) total revenue; %

(b) profit or loss from continuing opeﬁ’ s attributable to owners of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted mﬁ are basis;

(c) profit or loss attributable tq‘&rers of the parent, in total and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis;

(d) total assets; Q/‘b
(e) total non-cum@mcial liabilities; and

) distributi@\p}sh dividends declared per-share for each class of share.

“

(2) Discuss t??'gtors that have caused period to period variations including
discontinued o ions, changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions @pud thanges in the direction of your business, and any other information
elieves would enhance an understanding of, and would highlight trends
in, fina osition and financial performance.

IN@QCTIONS

\(s For each of the 3 most recently completed financial years, indicate the
accounting principles that the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the
presentation currency and the functional currency if different from the presentation
currency.
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(i) If the financial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same
accounting principles for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the business.

1.4  Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recer@b
completed financial year, including Q’\

(@) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes ﬂ/such
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services l\ “sold, or

the introduction of new products or services; Q‘
(b)  any other significant factors that caused changes in t@lvenue;
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; Q/

revenue, describe each project, including your comp plan for the project and the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expe@u es made and how these relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the projectlﬁ\ next stage of the project plan;

(d)  for issuers that have significant project: @t have not yet generated

(e) for resource issuers with proﬁbf% mines or mines under development,
identify any milestone, including, withou ation, mine expansion plans, productivity
improvements, plans to develop a n glﬁosit, or production decisions, and whether
the milestone is based on a techn%’port filed under Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mine@/ jects;

() factors that ca a change in the relationship between costs and
revenue, including change costs of labour or materials, price changes or inventory
adjustments;

(9) con‘Q@nts, events, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably believe
will materially your company's future performance including total revenue and

profit or lossdpm®continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent;
C)effect of inflation and specific price changes on your company's total
@ nd on profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the

\é 0] a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
your company was going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any
financing, an explanation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
company's ability to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and

()] unusual or infrequent events or transactions.
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INSTRUCTION
Your discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include
0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and

(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as cha%é\ci?
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues. q/

1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results ,\%"

financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed qu ’

(@) total revenue; A@@

(b) profit or loss from continuing operation: @ibutable to owners of the

Provide the following information in summary form, deriveda%gcmr company's

parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-sha sis; and

(© profit or loss attributable to owner&ge parent, in total and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. '\%

Discuss the factors that have caqs@variations over the quarters necessary to

understand general trends that have@ev oped and the seasonality of the business.
4

INSTRUCTIONS Q/‘b

(1) In the case of the @MD&A, your most recently completed quarter is the
guarter that ended on the Iés ay of your most recently completed financial year.

(i) You do not to provide information for a quarter prior to your company
becoming a repo suer if your company has not prepared financial statements for
those quarters.

(i)  For(sepdons 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the foll factors:

A) changes in customer buying patterns, including changes due to new
nologies and changes in demographics;

(B) changes in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrangements or a reorganization of a direct sales force;

(C) changes in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
resources, strengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;
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(D) the effect of exchange rates;

(E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;

(F)  changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closwes
and work stoppages; Q’\

(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumeg of réturns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on&ét basis

against revenue, Q~

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service contr

() the progress in achieving previously announced gpdstones;
J) for resource issuers with producing mines tify changes to cash flows
caused by changes in production throughput, head- , cut-off grade, metallurgical

recovery and any expectation of future changes; anO

(K) if you have an equity investee t Is significant to your company, the
nature of the investment and significance t company.

(iv)  For each of the 8 most receptly dmpleted quarters, indicate the accounting
principles that the financial data ha%%n"prepared in accordance with, the presentation
currency and the functional curre@ Wdifferent from the presentation currency.

(v) If the financial data Ided was not prepared in accordance with the same
accounting principles for al uarters, focus the discussion on the important trends and
risks that have affecte usiness.

1.6 Liquidity Qp

Provi@n analysis of your company's liquidity, including

O

Qﬁ. its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in
the erm and the long term, to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your
coréany's planned growth or to fund development activities;

\ (b) trends or expected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties;

(c) its working capital requirements;

(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;
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(e) if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,
discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to
remedy the deficiency;

() statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's liquidity; QD

(9) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transf(!@ds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on 'w%a ity of

your company to meet its obligations; and ,\ N

(h) defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults or arrean~

(1) distributions or dividends payments, Ieas@hents, interest or
principal payment on debt; Q/
(i) debt covenants; and : &

(i)  redemption or retraction Gr sinking fund  payments,
and how your company intends to cure¢5 default or arrears or address the risk.
INSTRUCTIONS (19

0] In discussing your company'@lhy to generate sufficient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you should deggriné sources of funding and the circumstances that
could affect those sources are reasonably likely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that could t liquidity are market or commodity price changes,
economic downturns, defa n guarantees and contractions of operations.

(i) In discussin@s or expected fluctuations in your company's liquidity and
liquidity risks ass@. with financial instruments you should discuss

(A) ovisions in debt, lease or other arrangements that could trigger an
additional (fus™ing requirement or early payment. Examples of such situations are
provisi ed to credit rating, profit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

)  circumstances that could impair your company's ability to undertake
%saction considered essential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the
\n bility to maintain investment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or
share price.

(i) In discussing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss

situations where your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'
delivery requirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.
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(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of contractual
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereafter. The
summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a venture issuer. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular circumstances

follows: 63

N
Payments Due by Period A\D
Contractual Total Less than 1year | 1-3years 4 -5years After 5 Wfars
Obligations R “
Debt Nt
Finance  Lease Q~
Obligations (,
Operating Leases Y
Purchase \4
Obligations(1) pe
Other ~AV
Obligations(2) N\
Total Contractual é\—’
Obligations .
Q) “Purchase Obligation” means an agreement to purchaw or services that is enforceable and legally
binding on your company that specifies all significant terms, incl¥gg™fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased;
fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximgge_timiftg of the transaction.
2 “Other Obligations” means other financial Iiabiliti&r lected on your company's statement of financial

provisions that create, increase or erate obligations, or other details to the extent
necessary for an understanding timing and amount of your company's specified
contractual obligations.

position. Q
The tabular presentation m§ (bl(accompanied by footnotes to describe
t

1.7 Capital Resourcess
Provide an ar@ﬁof your company's capital resources, including

@ ¢ itments for capital expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial sta(@e ts including

Q~ 0] the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments;
<( (i) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and
(i)  expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your

company's capacity, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development
activities;
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(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's capital
resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources;
and

(© sources of financing that your company has arranged but not yet used.
INSTRUCTIONS '\QD

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to your company anq@Ade
debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that you reasonably cgnsicér will
provide financial resources to your company. ,\% N

(i) In discussing your company's commitments you should disc Qﬂy exploration
and development, or research and development expenditures fed to maintain
properties or agreements in good standing.

1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements AQ/

Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements trﬁave, or are reasonably likely
to have, a current or future effect on the financial ormance or financial condition of
your company including, without limitation, such'ﬁQ Iderations as liquidity and capital

resources. '\%

In your discussion of off-balance s(%t arrangements you should discuss their
business purpose and activities, their_ecdiomic substance, risks associated with the
arrangements, and the key termsgﬁbéonditions associated with any commitments.
Your discussion should include Q/

(@) adescription @)ther contracting party(ies);
(b) the effec@{érminating the arrangement;

(© the Qnts receivable or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
resulting from tIQ rangement;

(d e nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from
the arr ent that could require your company to provide funding under the
arr(a&@ nt and the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;
an

\ (e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of
action that management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such
circumstances.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 97



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an
entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, under which your
company has

(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts; '\QD
ted

(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconspt%
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk sugport ¥0 that
entity for the assets; ,EDO B

(C) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or Q/Q ~

(D) any obligation held by your company in an un@idated entity that
provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk sup your company, or
engages in leasing, hedging activities or, research and de ent services with your
company.

(i) Contingent liabilities arising out of litigation @it;ation or regulatory actions are
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangem .

(i)  Disclosure of off-balance sheet arrﬁg’%ents should cover the most recently
completed financial year. However, the@lé ssion should address changes from the
previous year where such discussion @3 ssary to understand the disclosure.

Q‘a} information provided in the notes to the financial
y cross-references to specific information in the
substance of the notes into the discussion in a manner
the information not included in the MD&A.

(iv)  The discussion need not
statements if the discussion
relevant notes and integrates
that explains the significan%

1.9 Transaction een Related Parties
Discuss Qténsactions between related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.
INSTRUC'Q&
discussing your company's transactions between related parties, your
disd¢ssion should include both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
ssary for an understanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic
bstance. You should discuss

(A) the relationship and identify the related person or entities;

(B) the business purpose of the transaction;
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(C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the measurement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the
transaction.

1.10 Fourth Quarter
"D

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected your cow@uy's
financial condition, financial performance or cash flows, year-end and Vother
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your company's business and di;%ﬂons of
business segments. If your company has filed separate MD&A for its foyskth Quarter, you
may satisfy this requirement by incorporating that MD&A by referenc<&?L

1.11 Proposed Transactions &

Discuss the expected effect on financial conditionq\kp%cial performance and
cash flows of any proposed asset or business ac L@ion or disposition if your
company's board of directors, or senior managementév believe that confirmation of
the decision by the board is probable, have decid@t proceed with the transaction.
Include the status of any required shareholder or atory approvals.

INSTRUCTION '\%
Q

Regulation 51-102 respecting Conig 5 Disclosure Obligations, your company has
fled a Form 51-102F3 Materjal ange Report regarding the transaction on a
confidential basis and the repqggﬂains confidential.

1.12 Critical Accounting%)imates

If your comp@not a venture issuer, provide an analysis of your company's
ates. Your analysis should

You do not have to discl§e(]ﬁi information if, under section 7.1 of

critical accounti?
(@) iderttify and describe each critical accounting estimate used by your
company iQCiMing

<<O 0] a description of the accounting estimate;

@ (i) the methodology used in determining the critical accounting
timate;

(i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate that relate to
matters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made,;
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(iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that could
materially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; and

(v) if applicable, why the accounting estimate is reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact on the financial presentation;

(b) explain the significance of the accounting estimate to your companﬁr;

financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance and i
the financial statement line items affected by the accounting estimate; q/

(© (paragraph revoked); ,\% N

(d) discuss changes made to critical accounting estlmate
financial years including the reasons for the change and the qua
company's overall financial performance and financial statementi

ng the past 2
effect on your

(e) identify the reportable segments of your cezﬁggﬁy's business that the
accounting estimate affects and discuss the accoungiQg)estimate on a reportable
segment basis, if your company operates in more than reportable segment.

INSTRUCTIONS '\O

(1) An accounting estimate is a critical a@ming estimate only if

(A) it requires your compa t(ol’make assumptions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the accqggﬁ)@ estimate is made; and

(B) different estima t your company could have used in the current
period, or changes in the acdQNnting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would ha material impact on your company's financial condition,

changes in financial C(@{ion or financial performance.

(i) As part o?. description of each critical accounting estimate, in addition to
qualitative dis e, you should provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative
information i€ yeasonably available and would provide material information for investors.
Similarly, gur discussion of assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relates {gtMatters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made, you should
prov' antitative disclosure when it is reasonably available and it would provide
madfial information for investors. For example, quantitative information may include a
@sitivity analysis or disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of estimates
m which the recorded estimate was selected.

1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption

Discuss and analyze any changes in your company's accounting policies,
including
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(@ for any accounting policies that you have adopted or expect to adopt
subsequent to the end of your most recently completed financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make voluntarily and those due to a change in an
accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do not have to adopt until a
future date, you should

0] describe the new standard, the date you are required to a@@

and, if determined, the date you plan to adopt it; q/

(i) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by thq\%ébunting
standard and the method you expect to use; Q‘

(i)  discuss the expected effect on your ny's financial

statements, or if applicable, state that you cannot reasonably es@ the effect; and

(iv)  discuss the potential effect on your bus@ , for example technical
violations or default of debt covenants or changes in bui': practices; and

(b)  for any accounting policies that you h@ initially adopted during the most
recently completed financial year, you should

0] describe the events @sactions that gave rise to the initial
adoption of an accounting policy; (l/

(i) describe the apb%ﬁ‘ting policy that has been adopted and the
method of applying that policy; Q/

(i)  discus effect resulting from the initial adoption of the
accounting policy on your C any's financial position, changes in financial position and
financial performance;

(iv) prour company is permitted a choice among acceptable
accounting poIiQs,

C) (A) state that you made a choice among acceptable alternatives;
<<OE (B) identify the alternatives;
\é (C)  describe why you made the choice that you did; and

(D) discuss the effect, where material, on your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance under the
alternatives not chosen; and

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 101



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events
or transactions giving rise to your initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain your
decision regarding which accounting policy to use and the method of applying that
principle.

INSTRUCTION

You do not have to present the discussion under paragraph 1.13(b) for the&@
adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption of new ac% ing

standards.
)

1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments

For financial instruments and other instruments, %Q/

(@) discuss the nature and extent of your con‘@ use of, including
relationships among, the instruments and the business pur that they serve;

(b) describe and analyze the risks associate@t the instruments;

(c) describe how you manage the 4‘@ in paragraph (b), including a
discussion of the objectives, general strate i%and instruments used to manage the
risks, including any hedging activities; é\

(d) disclose the financial s tegént classification and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and losses associa@g h the instrument; and

(e)  discuss the sign] assumptions made in determining the fair value of
financial instruments, the {odNamount and financial statement classification of the
change in fair value of finaR™al instruments recognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the total amount financial statement classification of deferred or unrecognized
gains and losses on ial instruments.

INSTRUCTIONQQ‘

0] “Ot ex(struments” are instruments that may be settled by the delivery of non-
financi ets. A commodity futures contract is an example of an instrument that may
be by delivery of non-financial assets.

& Your discussion under paragraph 1.14(a) should enhance a reader's

derstanding of the significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on your
company's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The information
should also assist a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and certainty of future
cash flows associated with those instruments. Also discuss the relationship between
liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments.
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(i)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if your company is exposed to significant
price, credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or tabular
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an analysis of
the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or currency rates on
the fair value of financial instruments and future profit or loss and cash flows may be
useful in describing your company's exposure to price risk.

(iv)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(d), disclose and explain the revenue, exp@@
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other activities. q/

1.15 Other MD&A Requirements y\%"

company, including your company's AlF if your company files an 5 on SEDAR at

(@  Your MD&A must disclose that additional informatiog%lﬁ:ting to your
www.sedar.com.

(b) Your MD&A must also provide the informatiqi%’quired in the following
sections of Regulation 51-102, if applicable:

0] section 5.3 involving additio@ élsclosure for venture issuers
without significant revenue;

(i) section 5.4 involving di%bi?re of outstanding share data; and

(i)  section 5.7 involving additional disclosure for reporting issuers with
)

significant equity investees. 0'.)
(c) Your MD&A include the MD&A disclosure required by
Regulation 52-109 respecti rtification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim

Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 2?__5 d, as applicable, Form 52-109F1 Certification of Annual
Filings — Full Certific orm 52-109F1R Certification of Refiled Annual Filings, or
Form 52-109F1 AIF, ication of Annual Filings in Connection with Voluntarily Filed

AlF. QQ‘

ltem 2 |n:@/m MD&A
2.1 lﬁg)

pecify the date of your interim MD&A.
\xg Interim MD&A

Interim MD&A must update your company's annual MD&A for all disclosure
required by Item 1 except section 1.3. This disclosure must include

(@) a discussion of your analysis of
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0] current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparison of
financial performance to the corresponding periods in the previous year;

(i.0) a comparison of cash flows to the corresponding period in the

previous year;

attributable to owners of the parent that are not related to ongoing business ope S;

(i) changes in financial performance and elements of profit ogf’og?

(i)  any seasonal aspects of your company's business t;@a‘ffect its
financial position, financial performance or cash flows; and Q‘

(b) a comparison of your company's interim financi
company's financial condition as at the most recently completed {i

dition to your
ial year-end.

INSTRUCTIONS

0] If the first MD&A you file in this Form (your flrs@ A) is an interim MD&A, you
must provide all the disclosure called for in Ite n your first MD&A. Base the
disclosure, except the disclosure for section 1.3@ our interim financial report. Since
you do not have to update the disclosure re d In section 1.3 in you interim MD&A,
your first MD&A will provide disclosure und ion 1.3 based on your annual financial
statements. Your subsequent interim Mli!i;%for that year will update your first interim
MD&A.

‘h.Z(b), you may assume the reader has access to
A. You do not have to duplicate the discussion and
your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. For example, if
are substantially unchanged you may make a statement

(i) For the purposes of para
your annual MD&A or your firgt
analysis of financial conditi
economic and industry fac
to this effect.

(i)  For the q‘jges of subparagraph 2.2(a)(i), you should generally give
prominence to IQ rrent quarter.

(iv)  In disg¥ssing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit

or loss Sh flow items for an interim period, you do not have to present a summary,
in t form, of all known contractual obligations contemplated under section 1.6.
Ins , you should disclose material changes in the specified contractual obligations

\ {ng the interim period.
(v) Interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 2 is not required for your
company's fourth quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be contained in your
company's annual MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 1 (see section 1.10).
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(vi)  In your interim MD&A, update the summary of quarterly results in section 1.5 by
providing summary information for the 8 most recently completed quarters.

(vii)  Your annual MD&A may not include all the information in Item 1 if you were a
venture issuer as at the end of your last financial year. If you ceased to be a venture
issuer during your interim period, you do not have to restate the MD&A you previously
filed. Instead, provide the disclosure for the additional sections in Item 1 that you w
exempt from as a venture issuer in the next interim MD&A you file. Base your disc

for those sections on your interim financial report. (1/
2.2.1 Quarterly Highlights ,\%"

If your company is a venture issuer, you have the opti Ql‘meeting the
requirement to provide interim MD&A under section 2.2 by inst oviding a short
discussion of all material information about your company’s ons, liquidity and

capital resources. Include in your discussion:

and cash flows and any significant factors that have d period to period variations

- an analysis of your company’s financial g jtion, financial performance
in those measures; O

- known trends, risks or demands; %

- major operating milestoneszl/Q

- commitments, expectqq? Unexpected events, or uncertainties that have
materially affected your compapa’s €perations, liquidity and capital resources in the
interim period or are reasonab&eﬂy to have a material effect going forward;

- any significaﬁ?ganges from disclosure previously made about how the
company was going uSe proceeds from any financing and an explanation of

variances; O

- a dgnificant transactions between related parties that occurred in the
interim perio%
INSTR NS

ot use quarterly highlights. Rather, you must provide all the disclosure called for in

1 in your first MD&A. Base the disclosure, except the disclosure for section 1.3, on
your interim financial report. Since you do not have to update the disclosure required in
section 1.3 in your interim MD&A, your first MD&A will provide disclosure under
section 1.3 based on your annual financial statements.

(ié Qche first MD&A you file in this Form (your first MD&A) is an interim MD&A, you
m
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(i) Provide a short, focused discussion that gives a balanced and accurate picture of
the company’s business activities during the interim period. The purpose of the quarterly
highlights reporting is to provide a brief narrative update about the business activities,
financial condition, financial performance and cash flow of the company. While
summaries are to be clear and concise, they are subject to the normal prohibitions
against false and misleading statements.

for your company’s fourth quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be con in
your company’s annual MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 1 (see sect% :

(i) Quarterly highlights prepared in accordance with section 2.2.1 are notg@@
) |
1.¥0)

4
(iv)  You must title your quarterly highlights “Interim MD&A — QuarterlQii%lights”.

period, include a description of the material effects resulting fro hange.

(v) If there was a change to the company’s accounting pc’_)@ing the interim

2.2.2 Quarterly Highlights - Transition A

Section 2.2.1 applies to an issuer in respect of%mancial year beginning on or
after July 1, 2015. O

2.3  Other Interim MD&A Requirements %

Your interim MD&A must inclu %e interim MD&A disclosure required by
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certificgtion¥of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings and, as applicable, Formél’wFZ Certification of Interim Filings — Full
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R CQ/ tion of Refiled Interim Filings.

s. 6; M.O. 2008-17,s.1; M 008-18, s. 8 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 28; M.O. 2011-02,

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51- 10@ .0. 2005-25, s. 2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 38; M.O. 2007-08,
s. 1; M.O. 2015-07, s.
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FORM 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Description of AIF

companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Dis
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). An AIF is a disclosure document intended to |de
material information about your company and its business at a point in jj the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AIF dq&n Es your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external factors at Impact your
company specifically.

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by ce@

This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year by&quent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material change g{ business acquisition
aaz a

reports, financial statements and management discussion lysis.
(b)  Date of Information %
Unless otherwise specified in this Form nformation in your AIF must be

presented as at the last day of your compan {ﬁ‘uost recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the informag K the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented as y date other than the last day of your
company's most recently completed i ial year, specify the relevant date in the
disclosure. "

(c) Use of “Company” EQ/

Wherever this Formﬁs the word “company”, the term includes other types of
business organization ch as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.

All refer& to “your company” in Items 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form
apply collec@ 0 your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
your comfanyY is a party and entities in which your company has an investment
accoun r by the equity method.

(g)Qrous on Material Information

Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information
that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.
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(e) Determination of What is Material

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

® Incorporating Information by Reference '\QD

You may incorporate information required to be included in your AIF by rqﬂ@me
to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly identify the yefeMnced
document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your AlF. Unle&rc du have
already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including any documegs incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your SEDAR prof} Q/Uu must file it
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the documen&n SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.

(g0 Defined Terms AQ/

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, re Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations anQ) Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is use s Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in @u ation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1. olicy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obliggh (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20)
for further guidance.

)
‘r?(%g terms that are defined or used in Canadian
buntable enterprises. For further guidance, see
Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
ons.

This Form also uses ac
GAAP applicable to publicl
subsections 1.4(7) and (
Continuous Disclosure Obli

(h) Plain Langu@

Write th@? so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language p@ s listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
[

respectin nuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, n them in a clear and concise manner.
(is <(Qpecial Purpose Entities

If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the
disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.
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() Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

k Omitting Information
(k) g '\63

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable a@/ou
may omit negative answers. %
\ 4

PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF Q‘

tem 1 Cover Page %
1.1 Date &

Specify the date of your AIF. The date must be @arlier than the date of the
auditor's report on the financial statements for your co@ny's most recently completed

financial year. O

You must file your AIF within 10 days of@ate of the AIF.

N
1.2 Revisions (19

If you revise your company('%%P after you have filed it, identify the revised
version as a “revised AlF".

Iltem 2  Table of Conten%%
2.1 Table of Conte@\3

Include a tqgﬂ‘ contents.

ltem 3 C(Q/O te Structure

3.1 !@Address and Incorporation

(1)<(gate your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
%corporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
\h address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or

organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or
foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substance of

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 109



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents
of your company.

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary state: '\QD

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the su(o@ary
ny,

beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your cor%a
4

(b)  the percentage of each class of restricted securities g th'e\subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by company; and

(© where it was incorporated, continued, formed or or@d.

INSTRUCTION AQ/

You may omit a particular subsidiary if, at the most nt financial year-end of your
company, O

0] the total assets of the subsidiary do n ceed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company; Q'\

(i) the revenue of the subsidiary (&glfot exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue
of your company; and 0'.) R

(i) the conditions in parag@/(i) and (ii) would be satisfied if you

(A) aggregated tﬁsgjbsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and
(i), and

(B) cha@@he reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 G@gl Development of the Business

4.1 Qg%History

escribe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed

%ncial years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions

\h t have influenced the general development of the business. If your company

produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kind of

service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your company's
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year.
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4.2  Significant Acquisitions

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your company during its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is required under Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, by providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether your company has filed a
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition. '\QD

ltem 5 Describe the Business (19

5.1 General ,\%"

Describe the business of your company and its operating é?ents that are
reportable segments as those terms are described in the issu% ’AAP. For each
reportable segment include:

(@) Summary - For products or services, AQ/

0] their principal markets; %O
(i)  distribution methods; :\C)
(i)  for each of the 2 mc;zﬁgaly completed financial years, as dollar

amounts or as percentages, the revenu ach category of products or services that
accounted for 15% or more of total 6ns idated revenue for the applicable financial
year derived from 0'.) B

A. sa@&ransfers to joint ventures in which your company is

a participant or to entities i ch your company has an investment accounted for by
the equity method,

gt sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,
outside the cons d entity, and
Q/ C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;

(iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
ser&@ nd, if the products are not at the commercial production stage

ﬁ A. the timing and stage of research and development
grams,

B. whether your company is conducting its own research and

development, is subcontracting out the research and development or is using a
combination of those methods, and
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C. the additional steps required to reach commercial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or proposed method of production

and, if your company provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing
services.

and knowledge requirements and the extent to which the skill and knowle are
available to your company. %
4

(d) Competitive Conditions - The competitive conditions%r ompany's

(c) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - A description of any specializ%@@

principal markets and geographic areas, including, if reason ossible, an
assessment of your company's competitive position.

(e) New Products - If you have publicly announce(@]troduction of a new
product, the status of the product. A

) Components - The sources, pricing vailability of raw materials,
component parts or finished products. @

(9) Intangible Properties - The im {;tt?nce, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible properties, such as brand na & rculation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences, patents, software, subscription IQsI/ nd trademarks, on the segment.

(h) Cycles - The extent Qq:)%u’th the business of the reportable segment is
cyclical or seasonal. Q/

(1) Economic D ence - A description of any contract upon which your
company's business is sub tially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company's pro@s or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements for gogd§\Services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
agreement to usQ@tent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your company'sQJ iness depends.

()] éﬂanges to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
t you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by

busines%h
ren ion or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect.

@ (k) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational effects of

vironmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit or loss and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and the expected
effect in future years.
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)] Employees - The number of employees as at the most recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the year, whichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the dependence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations.

(n) Lending - With respect to your company's lending operations, disclo@ﬁg
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. (l/

(2) Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures - Disclose the nature and rf\gmé of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the compars ortany of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar dings by the
company or any of its subsidiaries, within the 3 most recently con@ financial years
or during or proposed for the current financial year.

3) Reorganizations - Disclose the nature and results o&é%/material reorganization
of your company or any of its subsidiaries within the 3 c@ecently completed financial
years or completed during or proposed for the current %cial year.

(4)  Social or Environmental Policies - If yonf\g‘upany has implemented social or
environmental policies that are fundamenta your operations, such as policies
regarding your company's relationship witl-ﬂ& nvironment or with the communities in
which it does business, or human righu;l/ icies, describe them and the steps your
company has taken to implement the%

o

5.2 Risk Factors Q/
Disclose risk factors@lng to your company and its business, such as cash

flow and liquidity proble f any, experience of management, the general risks
inherent in the busine@arried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key per [, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
financial history a@/ other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
decision to pur securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of
your comW become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of

“

the securit@, close that risk.
INS IONS

@ Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
rious.

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
conditions.
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5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding

If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information:

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount of 805
payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. Q’\

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the 3 most recently completed fin %ears
of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date o ith your
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, financial disclosur described
the underlying pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed sec& relating to

(@) the composition of the pool as of the end of each&ial year or partial

period; AQ/
(b) profit and losses from the pool on at least nual basis or such shorter
period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlyv'épool of assets;

(© the payment, prepayment and coIIe&'QQexperience of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter period as% reasonable given the nature of the
underlying pool of assets; Q

(d) servicing and other adm'&isfrlﬁve fees; and
4

(e) any significant vgptane€s experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d). g@

(2.1) If any of the financiaN¥sclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
been audited, disclose, existence and results of the audit.

3) Investmen@ameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash rov(e pluses.

g™l History - The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently
compleéadmancial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which
youy, @, pany had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and
st or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your
\ pany outstanding.
(5)  Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of
asset-backed securities.
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal
obligor and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a
Form 10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS
"o

(1) Present the information requested under subsection (2) in a manner thati@Ies
a reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, stangdard® and
preconditions referred to in subsection (1) of this item. ,\ N

(i) If the information required under subsection (2) Qg‘

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of financ&sets servicing the
asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool of th%( e assets from which

the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the p ance of the larger pool
is representative of the performance of the pool of secur't assets, or

(B) inthe case of a new company, Whereg pool of financial assets servicing
the asset-backed securities will be randomly s from a larger pool of the same
assets so that the performance of the lar pool will be representative of the
performance of the pool of securitized as bs be created, a company may comply
with subsection (2) by providing the infoml/ n required based on the larger pool and
disclosing that it has done so.

\
5.4 Companies with Mineral@ggcts

If your company ha@nineral project, provide the following information, by
summary if applicable, for és project material to your company:

(1) Curre hnical Report — The title, author(s), and date of the most
recent technical on the property filed in accordance with Regulation 43-101
respecting Stan% s of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15).
(25 oject Description, Location, and Access
<<O (@  The location of the project and means of access.
ﬁ (b)  The nature and extent of your company’s title to or interest in the
ject, including surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project, and

the expiration date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.

(© The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or
other agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.
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(d) To the extent known, any significant factors or risks that might
affect access or title, or the right or ability to perform work on, the property, including
permitting and environmental liabilities to which the project is subject.

3) History

€) To the extent known, the prior exploration and development of
property, including the type, amount, and results of any exploration work undertal§
previous owners, any significant historical estimates, and any previous produnl/ on

the property. %
4
?\

4) Geological Setting, Mineralization, and Deposit TypesQ~

(@  The regional, local, and property geology. %Q/

(b)  The significant mineralized zones encou %on the property, the
surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, e length, width, depth
and continuity of the mineralization together with a desc @1 of the type, character and
distribution of the mineralization. é

(© The mineral deposit type or(@ogical model or concepts being

(5) Exploration — The nature am&xtent of all relevant exploration work other
than drilling, conducted by or on be@f your company, including a summary and

applied.

interpretation of the relevant results% B
(6) Drilling — The ty, extent of drilling and a summary and interpretation
of all relevant results. Q

including, without li

(7 Samplin?&%ﬂysis, and Data Verification — The sampling and assaying
(a% sample preparation methods and quality control measures
employed b@a ispatch of samples to an analytical or testing laboratory,

(b)  the security measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of

§ (c) assaying and analytical procedures used and the relationship, if
y, of the laboratory to your company, and

(d)  quality control measures and data verification procedures, and their
results.
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(8) Mineral Processing and Metallurgical Testing — If mineral processing or
metallurgical testing analyses have been carried out, describe the nature and extent of
the testing and analytical procedures, and provide a summary of the relevant results
and, to the extent known, provide a description of any processing factors or deleterious
elements that could have a significant effect on potential economic extraction.

(9) Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates — The min
resources and mineral reserves, if any, including, without limitation, Q

©-
(b)  the quantity and grade or quality of each categgry “of mineral
resources and mineral reserves,

(@) the effective date of the estimates,

(© the key assumptions, parameters, and m@ used to estimate
the mineral resources and mineral reserves, and Q/

(d)  the extent to which the estimate of ral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical,ﬁwlronmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political, @o her relevant issues.

(10) Mining Operations — For advaigd properties, the current or proposed
mining methods, including a summary of t 'N vant information used to establish the
amenability or potential amenability of th eral resources or mineral reserves to the

roposed mining methods.
prop g Q"

(11) Processing and co¥ery Operations — For advanced properties, a
summary of current or prg processing methods and reasonably available
information on test or ope(&@ results relating to the recoverability of the valuable
component or commodit 3

(12) Infras re, Permitting, and Compliance Activities — For advanced

properties, Q~

@ the infrastructure and logistic requirements for the project, and

(b) the reasonably available information on environmental, permitting,
and or community factors related to the project.

\é (13) Capital and Operating Costs — For advanced properties,

(@) a summary of capital and operating cost estimates, with the major
components set out in tabular form, and
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(b) an economic analysis with forecasts of annual cash flow, net
present value, internal rate of return, and payback period, unless exempted under
Instruction (1) to Item 22 of Form 43-101F1.

(14) Exploration, Development, and Production — A description of your
company’s current and contemplated exploration, development or production activities.

INSTRUCTIONS Q’\63
0] Disclosure regarding mineral exploration, development or production ti\m'rés on
material projects must comply with Regulation 43-101 respecting ards of

Disclosure for Mineral Projects, including the limitations set out in it. Ygy mbtist use the
appropriate terminology to describe mineral reserves and mineral re S. You must
base your disclosure on information prepared by, under the supenry of, or approved

by, a qualified person. @

(i) You are permitted to satisfy the disclosure requi nts in section 5.4 by
reproducing the summary from the technical report he material property and
incorporating the detailed disclosure in the technical re@lnto the AIF by reference.

5,5 Companies with Oil and Gas Activities '@

If your company is engaged izsbﬁpand gas activities as defined in
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standardsg/ Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23), disclose the follgin Information:

)

(2) Reserves Data and Othe@f mation

€) In the case of@naﬂon that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement
of Reserves Data and Oth | and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end of
a financial year, disclo at information as at your company's most recently completed
financial year-end. O

(b) IHQ;1 case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1, is to be
prepared forg financial year, disclose that information for your company's most recently
completed(iingcial year.

@) (paragraph revoked).

%} Report of Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Include

\v h the disclosure under subsection (1) a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 Report
on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor, on the
reserves data included in the disclosure required under subsection (1).

(3) Report of Management -Include with the disclosure under subsection (1) a
report in the form of Form 51-101F3 Report of Management and Directors on Oil and
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Gas Disclosure under Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and
Gas Activities that refers to the information disclosed under subsection (1).

4) Material Changes — To the extent not reflected in the information disclosed in
response to subsection (1), disclose the information contemplated by Part 6 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities in
respect of material changes that occurred after your company’s most recer@b
completed financial year-end.

QY
INSTRUCTION (l/

The information presented in response to section 5.5 must be in ance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Ga, %@Nltles

ltem 6 Dividends and Distributions @

6.1 Dividends and Distributions A

(2) Disclose the amount of cash dividends or distn’%ons declared per security for
each class of your company’s securities for eacf@ the 3 most recently completed
financial years.

(2) Describe any restriction that could ;@2& your company from paying dividends
or distributions.

(3) Disclose your company’s ¢ "leldend policy and any intended change in

dividend policy. Q/
Item 7  Description of C@Structure

7.1 General Descr n of Capital Structure

Describe ?Qcompanys capital structure. State the description or the
designation o ch class of authorized security, and describe the material
characterlstl ach class of authorized security, including voting rights, provisions for
exchange,(c erS|on exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon di ilon or winding-up.

INQQQCTION

@is section requires only a brief summary of the provisions that are material from a
securityholder's standpoint. The provisions attaching to different classes of securities do
not need to be set out in full. This summary should include the disclosure required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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7.2 Constraints

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of your company
to ensure that your company has a required level of Canadian ownership, describe the
mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the securities is or will
be monitored and maintained.

&

Q

(1) If you have asked for and received a credit rating, or if you are aware th¥t you
have received any other kind of rating, including a stability rating or a provj a%a‘l rating,
from one or more credit rating organizations for securities of your cgegpahy that are
outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the rating or ratings continue% ct, disclose

7.3 Ratings

(@) each rating received from a credit rating organizati@%

(b) for each rating disclosed under paragraph e name of the credit
rating organization that has assigned the rating;

(c) a definition or description of the ca@o in which each credit rating
organization rated the securities and the relaﬁ( rank of each rating within the
organization’s overall classification system; %

(d)  an explanation of what the q&; addresses and what attributes, if any, of
the securities are not addressed by thgati 0;
4
(e) any factors or congderations identified by the credit rating organization as
giving rise to unusual risks as d with the securities;

() a statement t a credit rating or a stability rating is not a
recommendation to b sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any ti the credit rating organization; and

(99 a %ouncement made by, or any proposed announcement known to
your compaythat is to be made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that the
organizatidn {¥Y’reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously assigned
to be disclosed under this section.

payments were, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization that

ided a rating described in subsection (1), state that fact and state whether any

yments were made to the credit rating organization in respect of any other service
provided to your company by the credit rating organization during the last 2 years.
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INSTRUCTIONS

There may be factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a credit
rating organization when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cash settled
derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issuer, such as
the continued subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the price, value or
level of the underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysis. Rather th@;
being addressed in the rating itself, these factors may be described by a credit £
organization by way of a superscript or other notation to a rating. Any such tes
must be discussed in the disclosure under section 7.3.

4

A provisional rating received before the company’s most rec tmcompleted

financial year is not required to be disclosed under section 7.3. Q?L

ltem 8 Market for Securities @
8.1 Trading Price and Volume AQ/

Q) For each class of securities of your company%at is traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketplace, identify the marketplace \w he price ranges and volume
traded or quoted on the Canadian marketplace ch the greatest volume of trading

or quotation generally occurs. '\%

(2) If a class of securities of your cow@y is not traded or quoted on a Canadian
marketplace, but is traded or quoted onV¥a foreign marketplace, identify the foreign
marketplace and the price range\?}i2l 8 volume traded or quoted on the foreign
marketplace on which the greategt voKime of trading or quotation generally occurs.

3) Provide the informag srequired under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for each month or, | plicable, partial months of the most recently completed

financial year. @
8.2  Prior SaIeQ~O

For eQ} ass of securities of your company that is outstanding but not listed or
guoted on{ayMarketplace, state the price at which securities of the class have been
issued &0 the most recently completed financial year by your company, the number
of ié@ s of the class issued at that price, and the date on which the securities were
isshed.

Ny
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Item 9 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction
on Transfer

9.1 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on
Transfer

(1)  State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of ea@é
class of your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in escrow or that are s@g
to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that number represen the
outstanding securities of that class for your company’s most recently .con¥leted

financial year. N B
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT Q‘

TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER AQ/
Designation of class Number of securities held in | Percen f class

escrow or that are subject to a
contractual restriction on transfer \Q P

(2) In a note to the table disclose the name of the G%Jsitory, if any, and the date of
and conditions governing the release of the se s from escrow or the date the
contractual restriction on transfer ends, as applicA%@.

INSTRUCTIONS Q\

0] For the purposes of this item es(clﬁw includes securities subject to a pooling
agreement. (bQ"

(i) For the purposes of tliy m, securities subject to contractual restrictions on
transfer as a result of pledgges\Made to lenders are not required to be disclosed.

[tem 10 Directors a icers

10.1 Name, O&ngn and Security Holding

(2) List t ame, province or state, and country of residence of each director and
executive QOffycer of your company and indicate their respective positions and offices
held wj our company and their respective principal occupations during the 5
pre years.

ﬁ State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director
d when his or her term of office will expire.

3) State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities

of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
directly or indirectly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a group.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 122



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

4) Identify the members of each committee of the board.

(5) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of your company is
acting as an officer of a person other than your company, disclose that fact and state
the principal business of the person.

INSTRUCTION
"o

For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiaries of your company are
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by djrectéfs or
executive officers through ownership, or control or direction, directly or in& tly, over
securities of your company, do not need to be included. Q‘

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctio%

If a director or executive officer of your company is, a% e date of the AIF, or
was within 10 years before the date of the AlF, a director, ci&f ¥xecutive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including your compan t:

(@) was subject to an order that was is hile the director or executive
officer was acting in the capacity as director, c#ﬂe\ xecutive officer or chief financial

officer, Q '\%
or (l/

(b)  was subject to an or at was issued after the director or executive
officer ceased to be a director, cp ecutive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that d while that person was acting in the capacity as

director, chief executive offic r chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the
basis on which the order w ade and whether the order is still in effect.

(2.1) For the purp f subsection (1), “order” means any of the following, if in effect
for a period of m n 30 consecutive days:
€) cease trade order;

8

an order similar to a cease trade order; or

QQ) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
\%surities legislation.

(1.2) If a director or executive officer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of your company to affect materially the control of your
company
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(@) is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the
date of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including your company)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or

trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or '\QD
(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the AIF, become bﬂ'@lpt,
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or b&ome
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise wit ors, or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assetgyof the director,
executive officer or shareholder, state the fact. Q/
(2) Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the gro n which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the ci ances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a director or executive offl of your company, or a

shareholder holding a sufficient number of securiti 5@‘ your company to affect
materially the control of your company, has been subje%

(@) any penalties or sanctions imposéQQy a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory autipgjty or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory aut ,or

that would likely be considered i fant to a reasonable investor in making an

(b) any other penalties or ;ngéns imposed by a court or regulatory body
investment decision. Q/

3) Despite subsection %o disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into before Decemde*31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable investQr aking an investment decision.

INSTRUCTIONS O

0] The losure required by subsections (1), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any
personal 0lIgMg companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)
and (2@

(ii <( management cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
% company is an “order” for the purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be
\& closed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a “penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2.
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(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or executive
officer was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was
issued against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the director or
executive officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after
the order was issued.

10.3 Conflicts of Interest QD

Disclose patrticulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest men
your company or a subsidiary of your company and any director or offiger o¥ your
company or of a subsidiary of your company. ,\% N

ltem 11 Promoters Qg‘
11.1 Promoters &

For a person that has been, within the 2 most recen&hA mpleted financial years
or during the current financial year, a promoter of your, @1pany or of a subsidiary of

your company, state %

(@  the person name; &O

(b) the number and percentage an‘u class of voting securities and equity
securities of your company or any of its iaries beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly; Q

4

(c) the nature and a n#&of anything of value, including money, property,
contracts, options or rights oé%kind received or to be received by the promoter
directly or indirectly from yQuUNdmpany or from a subsidiary of your company, and the
nature and amount of an sets, services or other consideration received or to be
received by your comp@gor a subsidiary of your company in return; and

(d) for et acquired within the 3 most recently completed financial years
or during the CL@ financial year, or an asset to be acquired, by your company or by a
subsidiary oi¢geur company from a promoter
C)(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
whi consideration has been or will be determined;
§ (i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
d the person relationship with your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate

of your company or of the promoter; and

(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost
of the asset to the promoter.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 125



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

Item 12 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions
12.1 Legal Proceedings

Q) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of
its property is or was the subject of, during your company’s financial year.

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contempla@f3

(3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), include the rgme of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the pr %ﬂhg, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the procgediny is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding. Q/

INSTRUCTION @

You do not need to give information with respect to any pros%%ﬁg that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of inter nd costs, does not exceed
10% of the current assets of your company. Howeve&s=¥ any proceeding presents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues as wr proceedings pending or known
to be contemplated, you must include the amouA\iolved in the other proceedings in

computing the percentage. '\%

12.2 Regulatory Actions (19
Describe any (bQ R

(@) penalties or san %imposed against your company by a court relating
to securities legislation or b curities regulatory authority during your financial year,

(b) any oth nalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
against your comp at would likely be considered important to a reasonable
investor in makin vestment decision, and

(© tthement agreements your company entered into before a court relating
to securiti€s y¥gislation or with a securities regulatory authority during your financial
year.

INQQQCTION

u do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed 10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding
presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings
pending or known to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the
other proceedings in computing the percentage.
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Item 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions
13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions
Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or

indirect, of any of the following persons in any transaction within the 3 most recerq?
completed financial years or during the current financial year that has materially af bie

or is reasonably expected to materially affect your company: q/

(@) a director or executive officer of your company; ,\% N

(b) a person that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, QIV or indirectly,
more than 10% of any class or series of your outstanding votlng se, s; and

or (b). O
INSTRUCTIONS %

(1) The materiality of the interest is to be det d on the basis of the significance
of the information to investors in light of all the@gumstances of the particular case. The
importance of the interest to the person the interest, the relationship of the
parties to the transaction with each ot nd the amount involved are among the
factors to be considered in deter haé the significance of the information to
securityholders. 0'.) B

(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons &% to in paragraphs (a)

(i) This Item does not ap
of your company if the secyr
not shared on an equal ba

other holders of the sa@p

(i)  Give a brié@fgcription of the material transactions. Include the name of each
person whose i st in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
to your com

ny interest arising from the ownership of securities
older receives no extra or special benefit or advantage
y all other holders of the same class of securities or all
ss of securities who are resident in Canada.

(iv) é)ny transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your

co r a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser,

anNhe cost of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the
saction.

(v) You do not need to give information under this Item for a transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,
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(B) the interest of a specified person in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(D) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the inter
of the specified person arose from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, f@
than 10% of any class of equity securities of another company that is part the
transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of your mgcfny or
your company's subsidiaries. ,\% N

(vi)  Describe all transactions not excluded above that involve remx@ﬂon (including
an issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the #ed persons for
services in any capacity unless the interest of the person& solely from the
beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of a s of equity securities
of another company furnishing the services to your co@ y Or your company's

subsidiaries. : O

Item 14 Transfer Agents and Registrars O
14.1 Transfer Agents and Registrars %

State the name of your companr&ansfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the
location (by municipalities) of the regi%r(s of transfers of each class of securities.
4

ltem 15 Material Contracts Q/‘b
15.1 Material Contracts %
Give particulars,oNQny material contract

(@) requf 0 be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AIF is filed, as ¥ed under section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

time thi is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fact
that t@ previously filed.

TRUCTIONS
&

(1) You must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within the
last financial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, and that is required
to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be required to be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previously filed. You do not
need to give particulars of a material contract that was entered into

(b; S ) ould be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
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before January 1, 2002 because these material contracts are not required to be filed
under section 12.2 of the Regulation.

(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given under
this item, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the AlIF. Particulars need only
be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given elsewhere in the

AlF. '\QD

(i)  Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, consip&ion
provided for in, and general nature and key terms of, the contracts. %
\ 4

Item 16 Interests of Experts Q‘

16.1 Names of Experts %
Name each person Q/ét

(@ who is named as having prepared or. tified a report, valuation,
statement or opinion described or included in a fiIing% referred to in a filing, made
under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuoug)i closure Obligations by your
company during, or relating to, your company's ecently completed financial year;

and '\%

(b)  whose profession or busiw@ gives authority to the report, valuation,
statement or opinion made by the per%L
)

16.2 Interests of Experts Q/‘b

(2) Disclose all register eneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities
or other property of your co ny or of one of your associates or affiliates

@) held b, expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individual, by the ated professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the
report, vaIuatisz tement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

(b ceived by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individ the designated professionals of that expert, after the time specified in
pargclahh 16.2(1)(a); or

§ (c) to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
individual, by the designated professionals of that expert.

(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a “designated professional” means, in
relation to an expert named in section 16.1,
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(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated in and
who was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

(b) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who was, at any time
during the preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome of the preparaﬂon@j
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, without limitation

0] any person who recommends the compensation who
provides direct supervisory, management or other oversight of, the partner,%ﬂbyee or
consultant in the performance of the preparation of the report, valuatigq, statement or
opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a), including those at all succes&senior levels

through to the expert's chief executive officer; %

(i) any person who provides consultatlo ardlng technical or
industry-specific issues, transactions or events for the aratlon of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph JS a); and

(i)  any person who provides qualgyNcontrol for the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion referred t ragraph 16.1(a).

(2) For the purposes of subsection ( H&e person's interest in the securities
represents less than 1% of your outstau@ securities of the same class, a general
statement to that effect is sufficient.
atlaaitor who is independent in accordance with the
ct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit in accordance wit CAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provide the disclosure in section (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
independent in acco ce with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jurisdiction of Cana hat the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor

independence. Q~

3) If a p%n or a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
Q) is or i ected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or
emplo your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose the

(2.1) Despite subsection (1),
auditor's rules of professional

fact ectation.

TRUCTIONS
&

0] (paragraph revoked);

(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to
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(A) auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have not
been or will not be appointed as your company's auditor subsequent to the acquisition,
and

(B) your company's predecessor auditors, if any, for periods when they were
not your company's auditor.

(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, direct or in&fégp,
held through mutual funds. (1/

ltem 17 Additional Information y\%"

17.1 Additional Information Qg‘

Q) Disclose that additional information relating to your con@may be found on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

securityholders, include a statement that additional in tion, including directors' and
officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal @n s of your company's securities
and securities authorized for issuance under equs pensation plans, if applicable, is
contained in your company's information circ for its most recent annual meeting of
securityholders that involved the election of@h& ors.

(2) If your company is required to distribute a E 51-102F5 to any of its
e

3) Include a statement that adddé' iond financial information is provided in your
company's financial statements arﬂa &A for its most recently completed financial
year.

INSTRUCTION QQ/
»

Your company may a € required to provide additional information in its AIF as set
out in Form 52-110 it Committee Information Required in an AlF.

Item 18 AddilQ%TDisclosure for Companies Not Sending Information Circulars

18.1 Ad@%al Disclosure

Q companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to any of their
sedfityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 and 13 of
\ 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable:
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Form 51-102-F5 Reference

Modification

tem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal
Holders of Voting Securities

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase “entitled to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include the disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure
specified in section 6.5.

Iltem 7 - Election of Directors

Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Include tlﬁ
disclosure specified in section 7.1 without regard tot
word “proposed” throughout. Do not includq¢ \jh
disclosure specified in section 7.3.

Item 8 - Executive Compensation

C
Disregard the preamble and paragraphs ga¥)'and (c)
of ltem 8. A company that dog mt send a

management information circular curityholders
must  provide the  discl required by
Form 51-102F6.
LN
Item 9 - Securities Authorized for Issuance | Disregard subsection 9. @‘
under Equity Compensation Plans A
(A
ltem 10 - Indebtedness of Directors and | Include the dis specified throughout; however,
Executive Officers replace the p “date of the informtion circular” with
“date  of AIF”  throughout. Disregard

paragra&\kf&S(a).

Item 12 - Appointment of Auditor

Nagé Ny auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
: the last 5 years, state the date when the auditor
%first appointed.

_H

tbv
M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F2: 2005-25, s. 3: M.O. 2006-04, s. 39: M.O. 2007-08,
s. 70 M.O. 2008-06, s. 9 11: M.O. 2008-18, s. 13: M.O. 2010-17, s. 29

M.O. 2011-02, s. 2; M.O. 2 5, s. 3; M.O. 2013-09, s. 2; M.O. 2015-07, s. 9.
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FORM 51-102F3 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block capit@s
“CONFIDENTIAL” at the beginning of the Report. Q’\

(b) Use of “Company”
O
Wherever this Form uses the word “company” the term includego%er types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other uninc rated business
entities.

(c) Numbering and Headings &

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to item need not be repeated

elsewhere
&O

(d) Defined Terms
"o

If a term is used but not defined inﬁ@Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure OblMations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Defiry’@"(chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in both Q?ﬁ ecurities statute of a local jurisdiction and in

Regulation 51-102 respecting fMuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Regulation 51-102 respecti ntinuous Disclosure Obligations.
(e) Plain Languag@5

Write the ?Qt so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detail ided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language pifieipkes listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respectin inuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20).
If you u hnical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

The numbering, headings and ordering of the |;e@ Included in this Form are

PAQ CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
m 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2  Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
Item 3  News Release

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issued un@b
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. Q’\

Item 4  Summary of Material Change

©-
Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and substan@hhe material

change.
K

Item 5  Full Description of Material Change @
5.1  Full Description of Material Change AQ/

Supplement the summary required under Item% with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significance iImpact of the material change

without having to refer to other material. M ent is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant and mu@bdisclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also Item 7. Q

Some examples of significant f tsf)&ating to the material change include: dates,
parties, terms and conditions, deseﬁm of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,
purpose, financial or dollar valugs, redsons for the change, and a general comment on
the probable impact on the is@dr its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would

not normally be required. Q

Other additiona@{séosure may be appropriate depending on the particular

situation. O

5.2 Disclos r Restructuring Transactions

Thig itgvh applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a
restruct transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued
or dj ed. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company
seM¢an information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities

\ ange takeover bid circular.

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under Item 5
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23).

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, clearly iden
the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have already fil "(h
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material change rep@l/ ou
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. %
4
?\

Iltem 6 Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-102

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basis in relianc bsection 7.1(2)
of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligay state the reasons
for such reliance. AQ/

INSTRUCTION O

Q

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (7) of Regul 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations concerning continuing igtions in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51052 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations. N

ltem 7 Omitted Information (l’

Q

)
State whether any inform@has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential

information. s

In a separate letter he securities regulatory authority marked “Confidential”
provide the reasons f%qur company's omission of confidential significant facts in the
Report in sufficient | to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to
determine whethQ@xercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant
facts.

N
INSTRUC %

Inc circumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been

or W about to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting

tinuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company

\a y nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be

disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.
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Item 8 Executive Officer
Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of your

company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the name
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 9  Date of Report
&

Date the Report. (19

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 2008-10, s. 8; I\/@ZOOS-l&
s. 13.
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FORM 51-102F4 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report

Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after completing
significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Conti
Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). The Business Acquisition
describes the significant businesses acquired by your company and the effect ¥f the
acquisition on your company. ,\%

(b)  Use of “Company” Q/Q‘

Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term@es other types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and oth corporated business
entities. O
(c) Focus on Relevant Information %

When providing the disclosure required bﬂ Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, ana@or other reader.

(d) Incorporating Material By Referqr&

You may incorporate informq@r’équired by this Form, by reference to another
document. Clearly identify the geferenced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
incorporate into this Report. you have already filed the referenced document or
excerpt, including any doquNsnts incorporated by reference into the document or
excerpt, you must file it wit Report. You must also disclose that the document is on
SEDAR at www.sedar :

(e) Defined T@.Q

Ifat istused but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respectin tinuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definiti apter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
sec statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous

Disssure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
ecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20)
\h further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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() Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use techni(aj
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner. Q\

(9) Numbering and Headings
e

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included i h'is\ Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item nee be repeated
elsewhere in the Report.

PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITION REP@

J
RS

1.1 Name and Address of Company O

Item 1 Identity of Company

State the full name of your company @e address of its principal office in
Canada. N

1.2 Executive Officer (l’

Q-
Give the name and busi g‘t)elephone number of an executive officer of your
company who is knowledgea@out the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer through such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 2  Details of A@dsnion
2.1  Nature of Qgess Acquired

Desci)e the nature of the business acquired.
2.2 ﬁ@Sesition Date
ante the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.
\x Consideration
Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-

monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
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company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the
acquisition.

2.4 Effect on Financial Position

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your business affairs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect on the financ(é
performance and financial position of your company. Examples include any prop 8\
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial part of its a (@ to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization or to make gpy n¥terial
changes to your business or the business acquired such as changes,'\ drporate

structure, management or personnel. Q~

2.5 Prior Valuations %
Describe in sufficient detail any valuation opinion o d within the last 12
months by the acquired business or your company require curities legislation or a

any of its subsidiaries for the business, including the n of the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the opinion relates,@ alue attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies used.

2.6 Parties to Transaction Q

Canadian exchange or market to support the considerg paid by your company or

State whether the transaction i wi(t)/an informed person, associate or affiliate of
your company and, if so, the iden@w
company.

2.7 Date of Report Qé
Date the Repor@5

Item 3 Finaangtements and Other Information

¥ the relationship of the other parties to your

M.6<2‘®5-o3, Sch. 51-102F4: M.O. 2006-04, s. 41: M.O. 2008-18, s. 13: M.O. 2010-17,

N
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FORM 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@  Timing of Information

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a specifi
date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information circ
any securityholder of the company. q/

(b)  Use of “Company” ,\% B

Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term incl ther types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other uni% rated business
entities.

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference AQ/

You may incorporate information required to %mcluded in your information
circular by reference to another document. Clearl ntify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your ation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or excerﬁ?including any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, ust file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the docum on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,

upon request, you will promptly provi§ a ®py of any such document free of charge to

a securityholder of the company ever, you may not incorporate information
required to be included in Form 2F6 or Form 51-102F6V by reference into your
information circular.

(d) Defined Terms BQ
If a term i@ not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respecting Contj Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14- especting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and i€ defined in both the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in
02 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
ent to Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Degio)2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20) for further guidance.

& This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
AP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 140


http://www.sedar.com/

REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

&

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this F(glﬁ are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not dpeated

elsewhere. Q‘
K

()] Numbering and Headings

(g) Tables and Figures

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present infor @1 tabular form. State
all amounts in figures. &

(h)  Omitting Information %O

You do not need to respond to any item&Qs Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not kno to the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reasona in the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances that r the information unavailable.

You may omit information Jas contained in another information circular,
notice of meeting or form of ppoxy~Sent to the same persons whose proxies were
solicited in connection with me meeting, as long as you clearly identify the
particular document contair% e information.

PART 2 CONTE!@B
Item 1 Date Qp

Specigthe date of the information circular.

Item 2 Q&/ocability of Proxy

tate whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
&evocaﬁon is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly
scribe the limitation or procedure.
Item 3  Persons Making the Solicitation

3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that
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he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose.

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of the

company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose behalf, it is
made.

employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged employees or ing

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe the method;d\gg
agents, state,

(@) the parties to and material features of any contract or arr ent for the
solicitation; and @

(b) the cost or anticipated cost thereof. &
3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directly or indirectl g/cost of soliciting.

Item 4  Proxy Instructions

4.1  The information circular or the form of to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-face type that th curityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the securityholder at eeting other than the person, if any,

designated in the form of proxy and musml/ ain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may exercise the rig.

4.2  The information circular the’ form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must state that the se % represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in accordance e instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
may be called for and that) e securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any
matter to be acted upoQ\€ securities will be voted accordingly.

4.3 The inform@:ircular must include the following, if applicable:

(@)

registered

statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials to
rs or beneficial owners using notice-and-access, and if stratification will
escription of the types of registered holders or beneficial owners who will
per copies of the information circular and, if applicable, the documents in

rec
paZQraph 9.1.1(2)(b);

\ (b) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials

directly to non-objecting beneficial owners under Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);
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(© a statement that management of the reporting issuer does not intend to
pay for intermediaries to forward to objecting beneficial owners under
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer the proxy-related materials and Form 54-101F7 — Request for Voting
Instructions Made by Intermediary, and that in the case of an objecting beneficial owner,
the objecting beneficial owner will not receive the materials unless the objecting
beneficial owner’s intermediary assumes the cost of delivery. '\QD

Iltem 5 Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon (19

Briefly describe any material interest, direct or indirect, by way %éneficial
ownership of securities or otherwise, of each of the following persons j§ any matter to
be acted upon other than the election of directors or the appointmentﬁmitors:

(@) if the solicitation is made by or on behalf of managg t of the company,
each person who has been a director or executive officer o ompany at any time
since the beginning of the company's last financial year;

(b) if the solicitation is made other than by o!%?ehalf of management of the
company, each person by whom, or on WhosQe alf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made; &

(© each proposed nominee for e@? as a director of the company; and

(d) each associate or affilia%ct)aﬁny of the persons listed in paragraphs (a)

to (c). B

INSTRUCTIONS EQ/

0] The following perso Qud companies are deemed to be persons by whom or on
whose behalf the solic@qn Is made (collectively, “solicitors” or individually a “solicitor”):

(A) any%Q)er of a committee or group that solicits proxies, and any person
whether or nokﬁ) ed as a member who, acting alone or with one or more other
persons, dir@ r indirectly takes the initiative or engages in organizing, directing or
financing @ ch committee or group;

any person who contributes, or joins with another to contribute, more
tha% 0 to finance the solicitation of proxies; or

\ (C) any person who lends money, provides credit, or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or understanding with a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing the purchase, sale, holding or voting of securities of the
company but not including a bank or other lending institution or a dealer that, in the
ordinary course of business, lends money or executes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities.
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(i) Subject to paragraph (i), the following persons and companies are deemed not to
be solicitors:

(A) any person retained or employed by a solicitor to solicit proxies or any
person who merely transmits proxy-soliciting material or performs ministerial or clerical

duties;
| N>

(B) any person employed or retained by a solicitor in the capacity ofd@/er,
accountant, or advertising, public relations, investor relations or financial ggvis&f and
whose activities are limited to the performance of their duties in the c& @ of the

employment or retainer; Q‘

(C) any person regularly employed as an officer or emp@of the company
or any of its affiliates; or

(D) any officer or director of, or any person %rly employed by, any
solicitor.

Item 6  Voting Securities and Principal Holderg §oting Securities

6.1 For each class of voting securities of ¢§ company entitled to be voted at the
meeting, state the number of securities ou@fag Ing and the particulars of voting rights
for each class. (l/

6.2 For each class of restrictqe&},a%eéurities, provide the information required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulationg1-M?2 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

6.3 Give the record da of which the securityholders entitled to vote at the
meeting will be determineMMr particulars as to the closing of the security transfer
register, as the case , and, if the right to vote is not limited to securityholders of
record as of the ified record date, indicate the conditions under which
securityholders a@ tled to vote.

6.4 If actigp 1S to be taken with respect to the election of directors and if the
securityho or any class of securityholders have the right to elect a specified
number rectors or have cumulative or similar voting rights, include a statement of

suc and state briefly the conditions precedent, if any, to the exercise thereof.

§ If, to the knowledge of the company’s directors or executive officers, any person
neficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and state

(@) the approximate number of securities beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly, by each such person; and
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(b) the percentage of the class of outstanding voting securities of the
company represented by the number of voting securities so owned, controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly.

ltem 7 Election of Directors

7.1 If directors are to be elected, provide the following information, in tabular f Mflg
the extent practicable, for each person proposed to be nominated for electio&%s a
director (a “proposed director”) and each other person whose term of office as a dMector
will continue after the meeting: ,a\%“

(@) State the name, province or state, and country of r Q@hce, of each
director and proposed director. %

(b)  State the period or periods during which eac @or has served as a
director and when the term of office for each director and pr: d director will expire.
(© Identify the members of each committee @e board.

(d) State the present principal occup ™business or employment of each
director and proposed director. Give the name principal business of any company in
which any such employment is carried o Ish similar information as to all of the
principal occupations, businesses or em ents of each proposed director within the
5 preceding years, unless the proposed dir¥ctor is now a director and was elected to the
present term of office by a vote of sg%t’yholders at a meeting, the notice of which was
u

accompanied by an information %

(e) If a director o osed director has held more than one position in the
company, or a parent or subQwiary, state only the first and last position held.

() State %mber of securities of each class of voting securities of the
company or any Q@ubsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly
or indirectly, byQ proposed director.

(9 (g/securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all voting
securiti the company or of any of its subsidiaries are beneficially owned, or
con or directed, directly or indirectly, by any proposed director and the proposed
dir&or s associates or affiliates,

\ 0] state the number of securities of each class of voting securities
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the associates or
affiliates; and

(i) name each associate or affiliate whose security holdings are 10%
or more.
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7.2  If a proposed director

(@) is, as at the date of the information circular, or has been, within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including the company in respect of which the
information circular is being prepared) that, '\QD

(1) was subject to an order that was issued while the proposedﬂ&tor
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial(gfic r; or
4
(i) was subject to an order that was issued after the pyqpoSed director
ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial r and which
resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acti he capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer,

state the fact and describe the basis on whm& order was made and
whether the order is still in effect; or : O

(b) is, as at the date of the information lar, or has been within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a d|re executive officer of any company
(including the company in respect of which t mnformatlon circular is being prepared)
that, while that person was acting in th city, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became b pt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency Qr w¥s subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with @ifors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold its ass te the fact; or

(© has, within tRe years before the date of the information circular,
become bankrupt, made oposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or

insolvency, or beco ject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with crgo{W's, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to
hold the assets 0 roposed director, state the fact.

7.2.1 Descil)e the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, €r t{¥ terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise
tothe s ent agreement, if a proposed director has been subject to

a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities
{slation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement
reement with a securities regulatory authority; or

(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body

that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding
whether to vote for a proposed director.
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7.2.2 Despite section 7.2.1, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The disclosure required by sections 7.2 and 7.2.1 also applies to any persor@j
holding companies of the proposed director. Q’\

(i) A management cease trade order which applies to directors or execu 've%mcers
of a company is an “order” for the purposes of paragraph 7.2(a)(i) rhust be
disclosed, whether or not the proposed director was named in the order

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the | g of an insider
report, is not a “penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section

(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 7.2(a)(i) only applies if&h&%oposed director was a
director, chief executive officer or chief financial offic hen the order was issued
against the company. You do not have to provide déﬁure if the proposed director
became a director, chief executive officer or chief ncial officer after the order was
issued.

7.2.3 For the purposes of subsection 7.2( ’@er” means
(a) a cease trade order; q’
Q-
(b) an order similar to Q/e%e trade order; or

(c) an order that @ the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation,

that was i %:t for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

7.3 Ifanypr Q&j director is to be elected under any arrangement or understanding

between th sed director and any other person, except the directors and executive
officers of company acting solely in such capacity, name the other person and
describ ly the arrangement or understanding.

Ite‘(B Executive Compensation

\ Despite section 9.3.1 of the Regulation, if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a meeting

(@) thatis an annual general meeting,

(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or
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(c) at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation, include a completed Form 51-102F6 or, in the case
of a venture issuer, a completed Form 51-102F6 or a completed Form 51-102F6V.

Iltem 9  Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

o

9.1 Equity Compensation Plan Information Q

(1) Provide the information in subsection (2) if you are sending this J fo(r](ation
circular in connection with a meeting ,\PO“

(@) thatis an annual general meeting, Qg‘
(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elected&

(© at which the company’s securityholders will ed to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation or a transaction th t@o ves the company issuing
securities. %

(2) In the tabular form under the caption set oﬁ&govide the information specified in
section 9.2 as of the end of the company's m&g recently completed financial year with
respect to compensation plans under wpi quity securities of the company are
authorized for issuance, aggregated as f

(@) all compensation plan ously approved by securityholders; and

(b) all compensatior&s not previously approved by securityholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Inf tion

§ Number of securities to Weighted-average Number of securities

be issued upon exercise price of remaining available for
Q~ exercise of outstanding | outstanding options, future issuance under
Q options, warrants and warrants and rights equity compensation
rights (b) plans (excluding
@ (@) securities reflected in
C) column (a))

(©)

Plan C{IeNO¥y

Equify, Sebdmpensation  plans

approyed by securityholders
%&y compensation plans not
approved by securityholders

Total

9.2 Include in the table the following information as of the end of the company's most
recently completed financial year for each category of compensation plan described in
section 9.1:
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(@) the number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights (column (a));

(b) the weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding options, warrants
and rights disclosed under subsection 9.2(a) (column (b)); and

(c) other than securities to be issued upon the exercise of the outstﬁn’ca
options, warrants and rights disclosed in subsection 9.2(a), the number of sesl/ ies
remaining available for future issuance under the plan (column (c)).

©-
9.3 For each compensation plan under which equity securities of t %npany are
authorized for issuance and that was adopted without the approval urityholders,
describe briefly, in narrative form, the material features of the plan.%

INSTRUCTIONS Q/

0] The disclosure under Item 9 relating to co ation plans must include
individual compensation arrangements.

(i) Provide disclosure with respect to any cefq@nsation plan of the company (or
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of the compa under which equity securities of the
company are authorized for issuance t loyees or non-employees (such as
directors, consultants, advisors, vendors(;%omers, suppliers or lenders) in exchange
for consideration in the form of goods Qr se¥ices. You do not have to provide disclosure
regarding any plan, contract or arra(&%nt for the issuance of warrants or rights to all
securityholders of the company % o rata basis (such as a rights offering).

(i) If more than one ¢l of equity security is issued under the company's
compensation plans, disc aggregate plan information for each class of security
separately.

(iv)  You may ate information regarding individual compensation arrangements
with the plan in tion required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable.

(v) Yoq aggregate information regarding a compensation plan assumed in
connec ith a merger, consolidation or other acquisition transaction pursuant to
whi company may make subsequent grants or awards of its equity securities with
theNdan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable. Disclose
@an aggregated basis in a footnote to the table the information required under
bsections 9.2(a) and (b) with respect to any individual options, warrants or rights
outstanding under the compensation plan assumed in connection with a merger,
consolidation or other acquisition transaction.

(vi) To the extent that the number of securities remaining available for future
issuance disclosed in column (c) includes securities available for future issuance under
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any compensation plan other than upon the exercise of an option, warrant or right,
disclose the number of securities and type of plan separately for each such plan in a
footnote to the table.

(vii) If the description of a compensation plan set forth in the company's financial
statements contains the disclosure required by section 9.3, a cross-reference to the
description satisfies the requirements of section 9.3. QD

(viii)  If an equity compensation plan contains a formula for calculating the n % of
securities available for issuance under the plan, including, without limitatio aﬂl{mula
that automatically increases the number of securities available for is;@d& by a
percentage of the number of outstanding securities of the compaw cribe this

formula in a footnote to the table. Q/

ltem 10 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers @

10.1 Aggregate Indebtedness AQ/

O
AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($)

Purpose To the Company or its Subsidiari O To Another Entity
(a) (b) '< (c)

Share purchases AV
Other o\

y .4

date within 30 days before the date information circular entered into in connection

with: Q/
(@ apurchase OS grities; and
(b)  all other @btedness.

(2) Report se y the indebtedness to

\J
(1) Complete the above table for$e%gregate indebtedness outstanding as at a

(a) @ company or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and

another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support
agr nt, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by

tlée mpany or any of its subsidiaries (column (c)),

of all executive officers, directors, employees and former executive officers,
directors and employees of the company or any of its subsidiaries.

(3)  “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement to
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provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any indebtedness of
the borrower.

10.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities
Purchase and (2) Other Programs

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1)
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS N o
Name and Involvement of Largest Amount Financially Security for Am%\
Principal Company or Amount Outstanding as Assisted Indebtedness F%
Position Subsidiary Outstanding at [Date within Securities U} Durin ost
(@) (b) During [Most 30 days] Purchases acently

Recently %) During [Most ! mpleted

Completed (d) Recently Financial

Financial Completed Year]

Year] Financial @ (©)]
%) Year] % (9)
© (#) @
©) Q/
\\
[
Securities Purchase Programs %\J
Other Programs AT
P N
AN)
}\

(1) Complete the above table for ea dividual who is, or at any time during the
most recently completed financial rywas, a director or executive officer of the
company, each proposed nominee lection as a director of the company, and each
associate of any such director, tive officer or proposed nominee,

(& whois, or at @t e since the beginning of the most recently completed
financial year of the cgmpany has been, indebted to the company or any of its
subsidiaries, or &

(b)) w ndebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the
beginning of th& most recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a
guarantee ort agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understa@m provided by the company or any of its subsidiaries,

Qnd separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and all
enprograms.

}2) Note the following:
Column (a) - disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently completed financial year, but no longer is a

director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate,
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describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the
financial year, was a director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, name that individual and provide the information required by this
subparagraph for that individual.

Column (b) - disclose whether the company or a subsidiary of the company is the
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or simi
arrangement or understanding. Q’\

Column (c) - disclose the largest aggregate amount of the in ebadness
outstanding at any time during the most recently completed financial year. ,\ B

Column (d) - disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness @Hﬁding as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular. %

Column (e) - disclose separately for each class or seri@ecurities, the sum of
the number of securities purchased during the most rece mpleted financial year
with the financial assistance (security purchase programg@y

Column (f) - disclose the security for the ir@;t dness, if any, provided to the
company, any of its subsidiaries or the other enti urity purchase programs only).

Column (g) - disclose the total amo Fg?lndebtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recently completed M%ial year.
(3)  Supplement the above table m@a"summary discussion of

(@  the material tern%éach incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of
each guarantee, support a% ent, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understanding, including

0] ature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was
incurred;

@ the rate of interest;

Q. (i)  the term to maturity;

<< (iv)  any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse; and
\E (v) any security for the indebtedness;
(b)  any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently

completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding.
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Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in column (g) of the above table should be
explained; and

(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or
held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of securities is not
publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, including the provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, retraction and dividends. '\QD
10.3 You do not need to disclose information required by this Item (19

(@) if you are not sending this information circular in connq@f‘with a
meeting

0] that is an annual general meeting, %Q/
(i) at which the company’s directors are to b ed, or

(i) at which the company’s securityho will be asked to vote on a
matter relating to executive compensation,

(b) for any indebtedness that has beenéq@ly repaid on or before the date of
the information circular, or '\%
(c) for routine indebtedness. (19

“Routine indebtedness” me 8ebtedness described in any of the following

clauses: Q/
0] If the compan@subsidiary makes loans to employees generally,

(A) th S are made on terms no more favourable than the terms on
which loans are ma he company or its subsidiary to employees generally, and

(B% the amount, at any time during the last completed financial year,
remaining aid under the loans to the director, executive officer or proposed
nominee, gg¥her with his or her associates, does not exceed $50,000.

<<@ A loan to a person who is a full-time employee of the company,
\é (A) thatis fully secured against the residence of the borrower, and

(B) the amount of which in total does not exceed the annual salary of
the borrower.

(i) If the company or its subsidiary makes loans in the ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a person other than a full-time employee of the company
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(A)  on substantially the same terms, including those as to interest rate
and security, as are available when a loan is made to other customers of the company
or its subsidiary with comparable credit, and

(B)  with no more than the usual risks of collectibility.
ordinary travel or expense advances, or for similar reasons, if the re nt

arrangements are in accord with usual commercial practice.
r\(b )

ltem 11 Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions Q‘

(iv) A loan arising by reason of purchases made on usual trade terr@@
e

Describe briefly and, where practicable, state the approx@/amount of any
material interest, direct or indirect, of any informed perso e company, any
proposed director of the company, or any associate or affilia ny informed person
or proposed director, in any transaction since the comm ent of the company's
most recently completed financial year or in any proQoyed transaction which has
materially affected or would materially affect the compaxy@or any of its subsidiaries.

INSTRUCTIONS: :\O

(1) Briefly describe the material transaﬁﬁgsmte the name and address of each
person whose interest in any transaction% scribed and the nature of the relationship

giving rise to the interest. Q
)

(i) For any transaction involvjag tk€ purchase or sale of assets by or to the company
or any subsidiary, other than % ordinary course of business, state the cost of the
assets to the purchaser an cost of the assets to the seller, if acquired by the seller
within 2 years prior to the t action.

(i)  This Item do apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of the company e the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or
advantage not%\ ed on a proportionate basis by all holders of the same class of
securities ory alt holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

(iv) I@ information as to any material underwriting discounts or commissions
upo @ ale of securities by the company where any of the specified persons was or is
tQ an underwriter in a contractual relationship with the company with respect to
@surities or is an associate or affiliate of a person that was or is to be such an
derwriter.

(v) You do not need to disclose the information required by this Item for any
transaction or any interest in that transaction if
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(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,

(B) the interest of the specified person in the transaction is solely that of
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depositary of fun%
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, 06\

(D) the transaction does not directly or indirectly, involve remu?gaft)o'n for

services, and N B
() the interest of the specified person arose f e beneficial
ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class o Mg securities of

another company that is a party to the transaction,

()] the transaction is in the ordinary cours %siness of the company
or its subsidiaries, and

(1) the amount of the transactiog §r 'series of transactions is less
than 10% of the total sales or purchases, as the'ﬁé may be, of the company and its
subsidiaries for the most recently completed f;r\éﬁcial year.

(vi)  Provide information for traﬂ@tions not excluded above which involve
remuneration, directly or indirectly, tg.any¥of the specified persons for services in any
capacity unless the interest of the h arises solely from the beneficial ownership,
direct or indirect, of less than 10, o~any class of voting securities of another company
furnishing the services to the &ny or its subsidiaries.

Item 12 Appointment of‘ﬁgitor

Name the a of the company. If the auditor was first appointed within the
last 5 years, stat ate when the auditor was first appointed.
If actigp is’ to be taken to replace an auditor, provide the information required

under sec@ .11 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
Ite @ Management Contracts
@ If management functions of the company or any of its subsidiaries are to any
bstantial degree performed other than by the directors or executive officers of the

company or subsidiary,

(@) give details of the agreement or arrangement under which the
management functions are performed, including the name and address of any person
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who is a party to the agreement or arrangement or who is responsible for performing the
management functions;

(b)  give the names and provinces of residence of any person that was, during
the most recently completed financial year, an informed person of any person with
which the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or arrangement and, if the
following information is known to the directors or executive officers of the company, @:?
the names and provinces of residence of any person that would be an informed gq
of any person with which the company or subsidiary has any such agree@ or
arrangement if the person were an issuer;

O
(c) for any person named under paragraph (a) state the o%ts paid or
payable by the company and its subsidiaries to the person since the&ﬂencement of
the most recently completed financial year and give particulars; an%

(d)  for any person named under paragraph (a) or % their associates or
affiliates, give particulars of, A

(1) any indebtedness of the person, G?pany, associate or affiliate to
the company or its subsidiaries that was outstandin@n

(i) any transaction or arran @:fznt of the person, company, associate
or affiliate with the company or subsidiary, Q?\

at any time since the ar(t]tff the company's most recently completed
financial year. 0'.) B

INSTRUCTIONS: EQ/
ﬁ&r that is relatively insignificant.

s of indebtedness, state the largest aggregate amount of
ng at any time during the period, the nature of the indebtedness
and of the tra%a tion in which it was incurred, the amount of the indebtedness
presently ouggantling and the rate of interest paid or charged on the indebtedness.

0] Do not refer to an

(i) In giving pan
indebtedness ou

(i) I@ggt include as indebtedness amounts due from the particular person for
pur subject to usual trade terms, for ordinary travel and expense advances and
fQr S¢her similar transactions.

m 14 Particulars of Matters to be Acted Upon
14.1 If action is to be taken on any matter to be submitted to the meeting of
securityholders other than the approval of annual financial statements, briefly describe

the substance of the matter, or related groups of matters, except to the extent described
under the foregoing items, in sufficient detail to enable reasonable securityholders to
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form a reasoned judgment concerning the matter. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, such matters include alterations of share capital, charter amendments,
property acquisitions or dispositions, reverse takeovers, amalgamations, mergers,
arrangements or reorganizations and other similar transactions.

14.2 If the action to be taken is in respect of a significant acquisition as determined
under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 under which securities of the acquired business @;
being exchanged for the company’s securities, or in respect of a restrugiN
transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued or disgrydQed,
include disclosure for %

4

(@ the company, if the company has not filed all documentgyeqbired under
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, Q?‘

(b) the business being acquired, if the matter is a sign@acquisition,

(© each entity, other than the company, whose flies are being changed,
exchanged, issued or distributed, if

0] the matter is a restructuring tra@ct;on, and

(i) the company’s current se€gityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the restructuring transaction is ¢ ed, and

(d) each entity that wo (l/sult from the significant acquisition or
restructuring transaction, if the corw?/’s securityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the significant acquis@ restructuring transaction is completed.

The disclosure for h%mpany, business or entity must be the disclosure
(including financial stateme\} prescribed under securities legislation and described in
the form of prospec&%qa the company, business or entity, respectively, would be
eligible to use imm y prior to the sending and filing of the information circular in
respect of the si@nt acquisition or restructuring transaction, for a distribution of
securities in the{er diction.

eQ‘ﬁatter is one that is not required to be submitted to a vote of
rs, state the reasons for submitting it to securityholders and state what
acti nagement intends to take in the event of a negative vote by the
sedé)@ty olders.

4 Section 14.2 does not apply to an information circular that is sent to holders of
voting securities of a reporting issuer soliciting proxies otherwise than on behalf of
management of the reporting issuer (a “dissident circular”), unless the sender of the
dissident circular is proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction
involving the reporting issuer and the sender, under which securities of the sender, or
an affiliate of the sender, are to be distributed or transferred to securityholders of the
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reporting issuer. However, a sender of a dissident circular shall include in the dissident
circular the disclosure required by section 14.2 if the sender of the dissident circular is
proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction under which securities of
the sender or securities of an affiliate of the sender are to be changed, exchanged,
issued or distributed.

14.5 A company satisfies section 14.2 if it prepares an information circular%
connection with a Qualifying Transaction, for a company that is a CPC, or in conn (!hQ

with a Reverse Take-Over (as Qualifying Transaction, CPC and Reverse Take-(a&are
defined in the TSX Venture Exchange policies) provided that the comp%co plies

with the policies and requirements of the TSX Venture Exchange in re ? of that
Qualifying Transaction or Reverse Take-Over. Q‘
INSTRUCTION %Q/

For the purposes of section 14.2, a securityholder will not IQ{ sidered to have an
interest in an entity after an acquisition or restructuring tr ion is completed if the
securityholder will only hold a redeemable security th @immediately redeemed for
cash. %

ltem 15 Restricted Securities '@

15.1 If the action to be taken involves hgf?saction that would have the effect of
converting or subdividing, in whole % part, existing securities into restricted
securities, or creating new restricte Os"el'urities, the information circular must also
include, as part of the minimum dis@é required, a detailed description of:

(@) the voting rights éﬂed to the restricted securities that are the subject of
the transaction or that wil t from the transaction either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or rcise, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
securities of any othe of securities of the company that are the same or greater
on a per security han those attached to the restricted securities that are the
subject of the tr. tion or that will result from the transaction either directly or
following a con on, exchange or exercise;

(b e percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the company's
securiti t are represented by the class of restricted securities;

C) any significant provisions under applicable corporate and securities law, in
ﬁiicular whether the restricted securities may or may not be tendered in any takeover
\ for securities of the reporting issuer having voting rights superior to those attached
to the restricted securities, that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities
that are the subject of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of
another class of equity securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the constating
documents or otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securities; and
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(d) any rights under applicable corporate law, in the constating documents or
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are the subject of the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, to attend, in person or by
proxy, meetings of holders of equity securities of the company and to speak at the
meetings to the same extent that holders of equity securities are entitled.

15.2 If holders of restricted securities do not have all of the rights referred@t&?
section 15.1, the detailed description referred to in section 15.1 must include, ¢ Id-
face type, a statement of the rights the holders do not have. %

\ 4

ltem 16 Additional Information

www.sedar.com. Disclose how securityholders may contact t pany to request
copies of the company's financial statements and MD&A. Q/

16.1 Disclose that additional information relating to the cor@& on SEDAR at

16.2 Include a statement that financial information j§ Provided in the company's
comparative annual financial statements and MD&A Its most recently completed

financial year.
<O

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F5; M.O. 2006-04, 2; M.O. 2007-08, s. 8; M.O. 2008-06,
s. 10 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 10 and 1 M . 2010-17, s. 31; M.O. 2013-01, s. 7,
M.O. 2015-07, s. 10. (l/
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending before December 31, 2008)

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1 The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, whatever
the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection with offi
or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever this

uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of business organizati ch

as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities.
4

The particular requirements in this Form should be interpreted wj %gard to this
purpose, the definition of “executive officer” in the Regulation, angsi manner that
gives priority to substance over form.

1.2  You should prepare the Form in the prescribed forrr@may omit a table or

column of a table if it is not applicable. O
1.3  For the purposes of this Form %
“Chief Executive Officer” or “CEO” mean@ individual who served as chief
[

executive officer of your company or acted in a@n ar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year, Q'\

“Chief Financial Officer” or “CEO” Mieans each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your company or, @ in a similar capacity during the most recently

completed financial year, Q/
“long-term incentive or “LTIP” means a plan providing compensation
intended to motivate perfo ce over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs

do not include option @ plans or plans for compensation through shares or units
that are subject to r@ ons on resale;

“measur gﬁ?period” means the period beginning at the “measurement point”
isfed by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
your comi{a fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your
ost recently completed financial year. If the class or series of securities has
bee icly traded for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison
maéorrespond to that time period;

\ “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” means the following individuals:
(@) each CEO;

(b)  each CFO;
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(© each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and

(d)  any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your company at tQS
end of the most recently completed financial year-end; Q’\

“normal retirement age” means normal retirement age as defined i a(plﬁsion
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant may retirfr\t@m)ut any
benefit reduction due to age; Q‘

“options” includes all options, share purchase warrants an s granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for employmen$ ices or office. An
extension of an option or replacement grant is a grant of % option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third party or a n sidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your company or a s%@ary of your company;

“plan” includes, but is not limited to, any arra@ ent, whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or not applic only one individual, under which
cash, securities, options, SARs, phantom stoci(gvarrants, convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restrictions on , performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments may be r d or purchased. It excludes the Canada
Pension Plan, similar government plags aMd group life, health, hospitalization, medical
reimbursement and relocation pl%tﬁat are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, does ngt dis€riminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of
executive officers or directors;

“replacement grant”\ﬁ)ans the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or potential c, ation of an option or SAR;

“repricing”qg option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the
exercise or bas@; ice of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
through the @peration of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
awarded oftigM or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying
the opti SAR is excluded; and

stock appreciation right” or “SAR” means a right, granted by a company or any
& subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price

of publicly traded securities.

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
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Form and is defined in both the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20).

1.4  In preparing this Form:

(@) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Executive Officer 'Fh
determination of your company’s most highly compensated executive officers i @ed
on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive officer during your or‘rg]]{alny’s
most recently completed financial year. ,\6 N

> If the NEO
disclosure is

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During the Financial
served in that capacity during any part of a financial year for,
required, disclose all of his or her compensation for the full finangi

(© Exclusion Due to Unusual Compensatiai%’r Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumstances, you exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, who is one o most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in determinin@ exclude an individual are

0] a payment or accrual n unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as bonus or com@s’ n) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely to continue; qu/

(i) the payment @ditional amounts of cash compensation for
increased living expenses due to® signment outside of Canada.

d Al Compeng@Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
and non-plan compensatioN\Ydr each NEO, and each director in accordance with Item

11. Except as express ovided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation
for a financial year e reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.

(e) S s of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must
include comgensation from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
include in(thg¥appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
underst g, arrangement or agreement existing among

<< 0] any of
\E (A)  the company,

(B) its subsidiaries, or

(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
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(i) another entity,

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or director for
employment services or office.

If the company’s executive management is employed or retained by an external
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associate) and the comp
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agreement of any kind f "(h
provision of executive management services by the external management corm%/ to
the company directly or indirectly, the company must disclose any co%e ation

payable ,\ N

(i)  directly by the company to any persons emplo, retained by
the external management company who are acting as executive of% and directors of
the company; and

(iv) by the external management compan;% such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the company dlrectly irectly.

() Compensation Furnished to Ass@ﬁ. Any compensation to an
associate, under an understanding or agree mong any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another entity and an officer cg@ector of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the company, its subs or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for employment servicee?affice, must be included in the appropriate
compensation category.
)

() Allocation of Co ‘réation — If the company’s executive management

is provided through an exter@nagement company, and the external management

company has other cIient\h> dition to the company, the company must disclose
either,

external manag company that can be attributed to services rendered to the
company; or

0] @rtion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the

(%f the entire compensation paid by the external management
comparQa e officer or director.

<§ the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
\@w d disclose the basis for the allocation.
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Item 2 Summary Compensation Table
2.1 Summary Compensation Table
Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts ya

NEO Year | Salary | Bonus | Other Annual | Securities | Shares of | LTIP All &@
Name (b) %) ()] Compensation | Under Units Subject | Payouts | Compegrsgtl
and (©) (d) %) Options /| to Resale | ($) %) @
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions (h) 0] (1/
Position Granted (%) N
@ ) © 1\Q)

(®)

XXX1 4

Vo
CEO XXX3 Y‘
XXX2 %
>

CFO XXX3

XXX2 AN
XXXL \

e ‘Q“
N

XXX1
B XXX3
XXX2
XXX1 &C>
C XXX3 M
XXX2 r\%
XXX1 a\
O
1. Complete this table for each gNthie¢' NEOs for your company’s 3 most recently
completed financial years. Note the Ing:
- Columns (c) a — include any cash or non-cash base salary and
bonus earned by the NEO non-cash compensation, disclose the fair market value

of the compensation at gheJme the compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the
election of a NEO mu% included in the financial year in which earned. If the amount
of salary and/or bq arned in a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must
be disclosed in&1 ote and the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial

or the financial year in which earned.

year in the coju
- (ﬁﬁy salary or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the
electi a NEO, under a program of your company under which non-cash
co ation may be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be
i r&ed in the salary or bonus columns. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash
%pensation in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the
ection was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in
this table, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
and referring to the table in section 3.1.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 164



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote
to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item 9).

- Column (e) — disclose all other compensation of the NEO that is not
properly categorized as salary or bonus, including

@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or prg @%P
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $50,000 and of
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the financial year. GeneMlly, a
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provided to the NE dt is not
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be perquisitesqs

- Car allowance @

- Car lease AQ/
e

O

- Cars

- Corporate aircraft

- Club membership
o

- Financial assizl@e to provide education to children

- Financia@‘?’selling
Pa

- @retu rn preparation

@IIowing are not considered perquisites and thus need not be

reported:
&

Q/ - Contributions to professional dues
QS) - Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan
<(O - Dental
\é - Employee relocation plans available to all employees

- Group life benefits available to all employees

- Long-term benefits available to all employees
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- Medical

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25% of the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be identified by
type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other personal benefits
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to your company and its

subsidiaries; '\QD
(b) The above-market portion of all interest, dividends qu%her
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock appreciation rights (Sé?s), ans,

deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a NEO during the fin Pyear or
payable during that period but deferred at the election of the NEO. AQove-market or

preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid by mpany or its
subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same or sgn@/features issued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not reported in colum hould be reported

in column (i); Q/
\

(c) Earnings on LTIP compensation or (i nd equivalents paid during
the financial year or payable during that period but def at the election of the NEO;

(d)  Amounts reimbursed duringif@nancial year for the payment of

taxes; '\%

(e)  The difference betw Qhe price paid by a NEO for a security of
your company or its subsidiaries that Was purchased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the fair market Va|l"§ the security at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was available gener% ither to all securityholders or to all salaried

employees of your company; é

() The i ed interest benefits from loans provided to, or debts
incurred on behalf of, O by your company and its subsidiaries as computed in
accordance with the e Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5™ Suppl.)); and

(g@ The amounts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your
company, it b3idiaries or third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
or its subqdig¥es without the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the
compa ubsidiaries in its place.

- Column (f) — includes the number of securities under option

@h or without SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of

curities subject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent

fiscal year should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
figures are not cumulative.

- If at any time during the most recently completed financial
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awarded to a
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NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SARs grants in
column (f).

- Column (g) — includes the dollar value (net of consideration
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your company’s freely trading
shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock units awarded). '\QD

- In a footnote to column (g) disclose (19

- the number and value of the aggregate holdi @f‘ shares
and units that are subject to restrictions on resale at the end of thgy most recently
completed financial year, Q/

- for any shares or units that are s to restrictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, in less than 3 years e date of grant, the
total number of securities awarded and the vesting scheduleQ

- whether dividends or divide quivalents will be paid on the
shares and units that are subject to restrictions on r@le disclosed in the column.

- Column (h) — incluﬂﬁ the dollar value of all payouts under
LTIPs.

resale that are subject to perfor @-based conditions prior to vesting may be
disclosed as LTIP awards under, le in section 3.1 instead of under column (g). If
this approach is selected, ongg share or unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP
payout in column (h). Q

- any specified performance target, goal or condition to

payout was waived ing any amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in
a footnote to colu

- Awards of hafr]!s or units that are subject to restrictions on
e§b

Q/ - Column (i) — must include, but is not limited to,
OQS) (@) The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for

0] the resignation, retirement or other termination
Q@Ie NEO’s employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or

(i) a change in control of your company or one of

its subsidiaries or a change in the NEO’s responsibilities following such a change in
control.
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(b) The dollar value of the above-market portion of all
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, or calculated with
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that period, or payable
during that period at the election of the NEO that were reported as other annual
compensation in column (e). See the description for column (e), point (b) for an
explanation of the above market portion.

compensation during the financial year, or calculated with respect to that perj nd
dividend equivalents earned during that period except that amounts paid durirng that
period, or payable during that period at the election of the NEO must bq\ Orted as
other annual compensation in column (e).

(c) The dollar value of amounts earned on §5"ng

(d)  Annual contributions or other ations by the
company or its subsidiaries to vested and unvested define ribution plans or
employee savings plans. These benefits are not considere e perquisites due to
their all-inclusive nature.

(e)  The dollar value of a@surance premium paid by, or
on behalf of, your company or its subsidiaries dun@th financial year with respect to
term life insurance for the benefit of a N f there is an arrangement or
understanding, whether formal or informal, th e NEO has received or will receive or
be allocated an interest in any cash surren% ue under the insurance policy, either

(1) the full dollar value of the remainder of the
premiums paid by, or on behalf of, t %l’hpany or its subsidiaries; or

% if the premiums will be refunded to the
company or its subsidiaries 0 mination of the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to
the NEO of the remainder%bwe premium paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its
subsidiaries during th ancial year. This benefit must be determined for the period,

projected on an act NN basis, between payment of premium and the refund.
% () If the NEO’s compensation takes the form of a
contribution ist in the NEQO’s purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,

unless the( cgMtribution was available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salarie oyees of the company.

- The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be

@d for each NEO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the

xt, that fact and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnote to
column (i).

- The following need not be reported in column (i):
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(1) LTIP awards and amounts received on exercise of
options and SARs; and

(i) information on defined benefit and actuarial plans.

2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most recent fiscal year in determining

the NEOs.
D

3. If, during any of the financial years covered by the table, your compa % its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire financial year, disclose this f?ct d the

number of months the NEO was so employed during the year in a footnote table.
4. If during any of the financial years covered by the t NEO was
compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliate of your company, dis f a note to the
table

(@) the amount and nature of such compensation&&%

(b) whether the compensation is included in%compensation reported in the

table. O

5. Information with respect to a financi ear-end prior to the most recently
completed financial year-end need not be (fed if your company was not a reporting
ar

issuer at any time during such prior finanqi't/

ltem 3 LTIP Awards Table 20 °
3.1 LTIP Awards In Mo&tently Completed Financial Year
AN
Estimated Future Payouts Undex
Non-Securities-Price- BasedR
NEO Name | Securitj nlts Performance or | Threshold Target Manimum
(@) or (0] ghts Other Period | ($ or #) ($or#) (Sor#)
Until  Maturation | (d) (e) 4)
or Payout

(©)

CEO

i

TQV

}. Complete this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs during the most
recently completed financial year. Note the following:

- Column (b) — Include the number of securities, units or other rights

awarded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of securities underlying any
such unit or right.
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- Columns (d) to (f) — For plans not based on stock price, the dollar value of
the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under the award (threshold, target and
maximum amount), whether such award is denominated in stock or cash.

- Threshold is the minimum amount payable for a certain level of
performance under the plan. '\Q.)

- Target is the amount payable if the specified performance targaé@ is
reached. You should provide a representative amount based on the previoys firvancial
year’'s performance if the target award is not determinable. ,\%“

- Maximum is the maximum payout possible under the png‘

2. Describe in a footnote to the table, the material terms o&ward, including a
general description of the formula or criteria applied in % ining the amounts
payable. You are not required to disclose confidential info n that would adversely
affect your company’s competitive position.

3. A grant of 2 instruments in conjunction wi aih other, only one of which is
under an LTIP, need be reported only in the tabl cable to the other instrument.

Item 4 Options and SARs Q'\
4.1 Option/SAR Grants Duringh ost Recently Completed Financial Year
4
NEO Name | Securities, | % of tale Exercice of Base | Market Value of | Expiration
@ Under Options /| Price Securities Date
Options /| SAR ted | ($/Security) Underlying Options / | (f)
SARs to @onees (d) SARs on the Date of
Granted ins inancial Grant
#) §§ar ($/Security)
(b) ) (e)
CEO )
CFO 8"
A 4/ <
C 2

1. @Jmplete this table for individual grants of options to purchase or acquire
S cgdties of your company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in conjunction with

\o s) and freestanding SARs made during the most recently completed financial year
td each of NEO. Note the following:

- The information must be presented for each NEO in groups according to

each issuer and class or series of security underlying the options or SARs granted and
within these groups in reverse chronological order. For each grant, disclose in a
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footnote the issuer and the class or series of securities underlying the options or
freestanding SARs granted.

- If more than one grant of options or freestanding SARs was made to a
NEO during the most recently completed financial year, a separate row must be used to
provide the particulars of each grant. However, multiple grants during a single financial
year to a NEO can be aggregated if each grant was made on the same terms ((gb
Exercise price, expiration date and vesting thresholds, if any). Q\

- A single grant of options or freestanding SARs must be rgpor#d as
separate grants for each tranche with a different exercise or base price, e&ﬁon date
or performance-vesting threshold.

- Each material term of the grant, including but not | to the date of
exercisability, the number of SARs, dividend equivalents, per ce units or other
instruments granted in conjunction with options, a perfor -based condition to
exercisability, a re-load feature or a tax-reimbursement f&) must be disclosed in a
- Options or freestanding SARs grante®1$an option repricing transaction
must be disclosed.

footnote to the table.

- If the exercise or base price® ustable over the term of an option or
freestanding SAR in accordance with aql( cribed standard or formula, include in a
footnote to the table, a description of the st¥ndard or formula.

4

- If any provision of gaion or SAR (other than an anti-dilution provision)
could cause the exercise or b Qﬂce to be lowered, a description of the provision and
its potential consequences e included in a footnote to the table.

>

- In detergiNQg the grant date market value of the securities underlying
options or freestandg ARs, use either the closing market price or any other formula
prescribed under@ption or SAR plan. For options or SARs granted prior to the
establishment rading market in the underlying securities, the initial offering price

may be use%
O
X

<
\}
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4.2

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed
Financial Year And Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values

NEO Name | Securities, Aggregate Value | Unexercised Value of Unexercised
€) Acquired on | Realized Options / SARs at | in-the-Money Options /
Exercice  (3) | (%) FY-End SARs at FY-End
(b) (€) #) ®)
Exercisable ! | Exercisable %
Unexercisable Unexercisable '\
@ @ N
CEO |74
CFO (O
A N\~
B
C D
\ V4
1. Complete this table for each exercise of options (or awarded with the

options) and freestanding SARs during the most recently c
each NEO and the financial year-end value of unexerci
aggregated basis. Note the following:

Column (c) — the aggregate dollar v

securities underlying the options or SARs at

value is equal to column (b) times the differ
§S

and the exercise or base price of the optior@

exercisable and unex

same way as in col
year-end if the

el

Column (d) — the total
and SARs held at the end of the
identifying the exercisable and u@

Column (e) &\
options and SARs h

o

D

a

s

exercise or lst/ rice of the option or SAR.

<
\}

O
X

Regulation 51-102

June 30, 2015

ted financial year by
tions and SARs, on an

alized upon exercise. The dollar
etween the market value of the
ise or financial year-end, respectively,

ARS.

b\e of securities underlying unexercised options
recently completed financial year, separately
efcisable options and SARs.

aggregate dollar value of in-the-money, unexercised
e end of the financial year, separately identifying the
able options and SARs. The dollar value is calculated the
c). Options or freestanding SARs are in-the-money at financial
t value of the underlying securities on that date exceeds the
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Item 5 Option and SAR Repricings
5.1 Table of Option and SAR Repricings
NEO | Date of | Securities Market Exercise Price | New  Exercise | Length of Original
Name | Repricing | Uner Price of | at Time of | Price Option Term
(@ (b) Options /| Securities Repricing or | ($/Security) (f) Remaining at Dgte
SARS at Time of | Amendment of Repricing %
Repriced Repricing or | ($/Security) AmendmenQ\
or Amendment | (e) (9) (1/
Amended ($/Security)
®© @ oo
CEO N\N°©T
CFO ReN
A LODS
B Y

C )
t

NN\
1. Complete this table if at any time during the mos *&%{Iy completed financial

year, your company has repriced downward any option freestanding SARs held by
any NEO. é

2. State the following information for all doxﬁﬁwg?rd repricings of options or SARsS
held by any NEO during the shorter of '\%

(@ the 10 year period ending o % date of this Form; and

(b) the period during Whi@lﬁ company has been a reporting issuer.

3. Information about a re ent grant made during the financial year must be
disclosed even if the corre ing original grant was cancelled in a prior year. If the
replacement grant is not at the current market value, describe this fact and the

terms of the grant in a@mote to the table.

4, The infor must be presented in groups according to issuer and class or
series of secu nderlying options or SARs and within these groups in reverse
chronologica@i r.

Qnarrative immediately before or after this table, explain in reasonable detail
(]

5.
the r all downward repricings during the most recently completed financial year
o] ions and SARs held by any of the NEOs.

N
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ltem 6 Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disclosure

6.1 Pension Plan Table

Remuneration Years of Service
(%) 15 20 25 30 35

125,000 R

150,000 AP

175,000 O\

200,000 ax

225,000

250,000 ANO ™

300,000 »

o)
400,000 N

[insert additional rows as appropriate for additional increments] %

1. Complete this table for defined benefit or actuarial pIa%c der which benefits are
determined primarily by final compensation (or average ompensation) and years
of service. The estimated annual benefits payable up@rement (including amounts
attributable to any defined benefit supplementary ﬁ ess pension awards plan) for
the specified compensation and years of service sﬂ be disclosed .

2. Immediately following the table discl s@

(@) the compensation covered bwthe plan(s), including the relationship of the
covered compensation to the compqq:) ivn reported in the table in section 2.1;

(b)  the current com ion covered by the plan for any NEO whose total
compensation differs substa (by more than 10%) from that set out in the table in
section 2.1; 3

(© a stat as to the basis upon which benefits are computed (for
example; straightAt nnuity amounts), and whether or not the benefits listed in the
table are subje%> any deduction for social security or other offset amounts such as
Canada Pen@] lan or Québec Pension Plan amounts; and

( the estimated credited years of service for each NEO.

3. <§1 ompensation disclosed in the table must allow for reasonable increases in
%tl g compensation levels or, alternately, you may present, as the highest
\ mpensation level in the table, an amount equal to 120% of the amount of covered
compensation of the most highly compensated of the NEOs.

4. For defined benefit or actuarial plans which are not reported in the table in

section 6.1 because the benefits are not determined primarily by final compensation (or
average final compensation) or years of service, state in narrative form
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(@) the formula by which benefits are determined; and

(b)  the estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement at normal
retirement age for each of the NEOs.

Item 7 Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and
Employment Contracts '\QD

7.1 Describe the terms and conditions, including dollar amounts, of eaclrﬁthe
following contracts or arrangements which are in existence at the end the/most
recently completed financial year: ,\ S

(@) any employment contract between your company or itsés?diaries and a

NEO; and %

(b)  any compensatory plan, contract or arrangeme re a NEO is entitled
to receive more than $100,000 from the issuer or its su ries, including periodic
payments or instalments, in the event of

0] the resignation, retirement or @ gther termination of the NEO's
employment with your company and its subsidiari&i

(i) a change of control of Dgt%mpany or any of its subsidiaries; or
Q

(i)  achangein the Og(esponsibilities following a change in control.
4
7.2 A cross reference to dis ‘u‘,’% already made of any payments, instalments or
contributions to defined benefi ion plans under Items 2 or 6 is permitted.

Item 8 Compositionﬁ)he Compensation Committee

8.1 If any compe ﬁl is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed
financial year, the caption “Composition of the Compensation Committee”,
identify each er of your company's compensation committee (or other board
committee p%c()r ing equivalent functions or in the absence of any such committee, the
entire bo@ directors) during the most recently completed financial year. Also,
indicate@.c committee member who

a) was, during the most recently completed financial year, an officer or
@;onee of your company or any of its subsidiaries;

(b)  was formerly an officer of your company or any of its subsidiaries;
(© had or has any relationship that requires disclosure by your company

under Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, Item 10 “Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers” and Item 11 “Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions”;
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(d)  was an executive officer of your company and also served as a director or
member of the compensation committee (or other board committee performing
equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of
directors) of another issuer, one of whose executive officers served either

(1) on the compensation committee (or other board commit
performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the
board of directors) of the issuer; or

(i)  as a director of the issuer. '\% N

8.2 If the composition of the compensation committee changed@g the year or
before the report in Item 9 “Report on Executive Compensati prepared, then
disclose the change in membership as well as any of the re hips described in

RS

9.1 If any compensation is reported in Items 2 %the most recently completed
financial year, describe under the caption “Repﬁ{ n Executive Compensation” the
policies of the compensation committee or otht(u?oard committee performing equivalent
functions, or in the absence of any such c ittee then of the entire board of directors
of your company, during the most rece ompleted financial year, for determining
compensation of executive officers. B&’i te language should be avoided.

section 8.1, if any.

Item 9 Report on Executive Compensation

9.2  This report should includngi ussion of

(@) the relative e@is of your company on cash compensation, options,
SARs, securities purchase$ grams, shares or units that are subject to restrictions on

resale and other ince ans, and annual versus long-term compensation;

(b) whe?g\e amount and terms of outstanding options, SARs, shares and
units subject t&strictions on resale were taken into account when determining
whether an any new option grants would be made;

the specific relationship of your company's performance to executive

on and, in particular, describing each measure of your company's

mance whether quantitative or qualitative, on which executive compensation was
d and the weight assigned to each measure, e.g. percentage ranges; and

\

(d) the waiver or adjustment of the relevant performance criteria and the
bases for the decision if an award was made to a NEO under a performance-based plan
despite failure to meet the relevant performance criteria. For example, you should
explain how bonuses are earned and why they were awarded this period, if applicable.
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9.3 The report should state the following information about each CEO's
compensation:

(@) the bases for the CEO's compensation for the most recently completed
financial year, including the factors and criteria upon which the CEO's compensation
was based and the relative weight assigned to each factor;

assessments of competitive rates, with whom the comparison was made, the n of
and the basis for, selecting the group with which the comparison was made what
level in the group the compensation was placed. Disclose if dlfferen§\1 petitive
standards were used for different components of the CEO's compensatQ~

(b)  the competitive rates, if compensation of the CEO was bas?'\g?

(c) the relationship of your company's performa Q{o the CEO's
compensation for the most recently completed financial year, d@ng each measure
of your company's performance, whether quantitative or quaI!Q‘ﬁ‘I on which the CEQO's

compensation was based and the weight assigned to easure, for example,
percentage ranges.

9.4 Name each member of your company's comgeysation committee (or other board
committee performing equivalent functions or, i absence of any such committee,
the entire board of directors). If the board irectors modified or rejected in any
material way any action or recommendatio B)g e committee with respect to decisions
in the most recently completed financial yﬁ'%he report should indicate this fact, explain
the reasons for the board's action an&nc de the names of all of the members of the

board. 0'.) S

9.5 If a compensation cor@@ member dissents concerning the content of the
report, the report must ider‘% dissenting member and the reasons provided to the
committee for the dissent.

9.6 Disclosure OQ et levels with respect to specific quantitative or qualitative
performance-rela ctors considered by the committee (or board), or any factors or
criteria involvin fidential information is not required.

9.7 If {ordensation of executive officers is determined by different board
commitl%e a joint report may be presented indicating the separate committee's
res lities and members of each committee or alternatively separate reports may
be depared for each committee.

m 10 Performance Graph
10.1 If any compensation is reported in response to Items 2 to 6 for the most recently

completed financial year, immediately after Item 9, provide a line graph called
“Performance Graph” comparing
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(@) the yearly percentage change in your company's cumulative total
shareholder return on each class or series of equity securities that are publicly traded,
as measured in accordance with section 10.2, with

(b)  the cumulative total return of a broad equity market index assuming
reinvestment of dividends, that includes issuers whose securities are traded on the
same exchange or are of comparable market capitalization, provided that, if (@;
company is within the S&P/TSX Composite Index, you must use the total returné&e
value of the S&P/TSX Composite Index. (l/

10.2 The yearly percentage change in your company's cumulative tota@?eholder
return on a class or series of securities must be measured by dividing Q‘

(@  the sum of %Q/

0] the cumulative amount of dividends for@easurement period,
assuming dividend reinvestment, and A

(i) the difference between the price%l e securities of the class or
series at the end and the beginning of the measuz t period, by

(b)  the price for the securities of th%lass or series at the beginning of the
measurement period. Q

At the measurement point, whigh i¥the beginning of the measurement period,
the closing price must be converte *a fixed investment of $100 in your company's
securities (or in the securities @ ted by a given index), with cumulative returns for

each subsequent financial ye sured as a change from that investment.

10.3 In preparing the req%; graphic comparisons,

@) use, t@ extent feasible, comparable methods of presentation and
assumptions for Q‘ al return calculations, provided that, if your company constructs
its own peer gr tndex under section 10.5(b), the same methodology must be used in
calculating ur company's total return and that of the peer group index;

C)assume the reinvestment of dividends into additional securities of the
sa s or series at the frequency with which dividends are paid on the securities
du e applicable financial year; and

\é (c) each financial year should be plotted with points showing the cumulative
total return as of that point. The value of the investment as of each point plotted on a
given return line is the number of securities held at that point multiplied by the then-
prevailing security price.
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10.4 You must present information for your company's last 5 most recently completed
financial years, and may choose to graph a longer period but the $100 measurement
point remains the same. A period shorter than 5 years may be used if the class or series
of securities forming the basis for the comparison has been publicly traded for a shorter
time period.

10.5 You also may elect to include in the graph a line charting the cumulative to(;s
return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, of

(@) a published industry or line-of-business index which is any i at is
prepared by a party other than your company or its affiliate and is acce r%gl)z“to your
company's securityholders, provided that, you may use an index prgpared by your
company or its affiliate if such index is widely recognized and used; Q/

(b) peer issuer(s) selected in good faith. If you do no@t your company's
peer issuers on an industry or line-of-business basis, you@ isclose the basis for

your selection; or

(c) issuer(s) with similar market capitalizatlo% ut only if you do not use a
published industry or line-of-business index and believe you can reasonably
identify a peer group. If you use this alternative,'ﬁ\ raph must be accompanied by a
statement of the reasons for this selection. %

10.6 If you use peer issuer compariso'll(gor comparisons with issuers with similar
market capitalizations, the identity of tqoseMssuers must be disclosed and the returns of
each component issuer of the gr lust be weighted according to the respective

issuer's market capitalization @ eginning of each period for which a return is

indicated é

10.7 Any election to use %)ddltlonal index under section 10.5 is considered to apply
in respect of all sub ent financial years unless abandoned by your company in
accordance with thi ion. To abandon the index, your company must have, in the
information circul IF for the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed finarQa year

(aE ated its intention to abandon the index;
<<®)
(©)
\n ex.

10.8 You may include comparisons using performance measures in addition to total
return, such as return on average common shareholders' equity, so long as your
company's compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent
functions or in the absence of any such committee the entire board of directors)

explained the reason(s) for this change; and

compared your company's total return with that of the elected additional
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describes the link between that measure and the level of executive compensation in the
report required by Item 9.

Item 11 Compensation of Directors
11.1 Disclose the following under the “Compensation of Directors” heading:

(@) any standard compensation arrangements, stating amounts, earng\b
directors of your company for their services as directors from your company, its
subsidiaries during the most recently completed financial year, including any, adMtional
amounts payable for committee participation or special assignments; %

(b) any other arrangements, stating the amounts paid an Qe‘name of the
director, under which directors were compensated for their servi directors from
your company and its subsidiaries during the most recently ¢ ed financial year;

and AQ/

(c) any other arrangements, stating the amo @paid and the name of the
director, under which directors of your company w%ompensated for services as
consultants or experts, by your company and its s@i jaries during the most recently
completed financial year.

11.2 If information required by section 1 'Ts rovided in response to another item of
this Form, a cross-reference to where thegiydarmation is provided satisfies section 11.1.

ltem 12 Unincorporated Issue@"
12.1 Unincorporated issuers&report
(@) a description Qnd amount of fees or other compensation paid by the

issuer to individuals agIN\g as directors or trustees of the issuer for the most recently
completed financial @ v and

(b) a gription of and amount of expenses reimbursed by the issuer to such
individuals irectors or trustees during the most recently completed financial year.

12.2 %ngormation required by this Item may be disclosed in the issuer's annual
finae(&@ atements instead.

\@‘I 13 Venture Issuers

13.1 A venture issuer may omit the disclosure required by Items 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10. A
venture issuer must, in a narrative that accompanies the table required in section 4.1,
disclose which grants of options or SARs result from repricing and explain in reasonable
detail the basis for the repricing.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 180



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

Item 14 Issuers Reporting in the United States

14.1 Except as provided in section 14.2, SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of
this Form by providing the information required by Item 402 “Executive Compensation”
of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act.

14.2 Section 14.1 is not available to an issuer that, as a foreign private issu@;
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the information required by Iter@&
“Compensation” and 6.E.2 “Share Ownership” of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.q/

M.O. 2005-03, Form 51-102F6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 43; M.O. 2008-18, s. 11 8@3‘
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending on or after December 31, 2008)

ITEM 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
1.1 Objective
directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the comp ra
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form. %
4

ensation the

All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive officer;'ag?

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the cq
company paid, made payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwis
NEO and director for the financial year, and the decision-makin
compensation. This disclosure will provide insight into executive,e ensation as a key
aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of th pany and will help
investors understand how decisions about executive comp YOn are made.

A company’s executive compensation dlsclosur? er this form must satisfy this
objective and subsections 9.3.1(1) or 11.6(1) of the @ ation.

1.2 Definitions
'(0

If a term is used in this form a@is not defined in this section, refer to
subsection 1.1(1) of the Regulation Qr t¥ Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3). 6"

In this form, EQ/

“CEO” means an indN¥ual who acted as chief executive officer of the company,
or acted in a similar c [ty, for any part of the most recently completed financial
year;

“CFO” m{i an |nd|V|duaI who acted as chief financial officer of the company, or
acted in a si apacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

“2549 market price” means the price at which the company’s security was last
sold e applicable date,

\é @) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or

(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the
security’s principal marketplace;

“company” includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and other unincorporated business entities;
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“equity incentive plan” means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan,
under which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment;

“external management company” includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of
the external management company; '\QD

“grant date” means a date determined for financial statement reporting pp@ses
under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment;

4
“incentive plan” means any plan providing compensation t 'aépends on
achieving certain performance goals, or similar conditions within a sp, period,;

“incentive plan award” means compensation awarded, @ paid, or payable
under an incentive plan;

“NEO” or “named executive officer” means each gf@ollowing individuals:
(b) aCFO; '\%&

(c) each of the 3 most highly cm’@nsated executive officers of the company,
including any of its subsidiaries, or thg 3 n¥Ost highly compensated individuals acting in

(@ acCEO;

a similar capacity, other than the ®»and CFO, at the end of the most recently
completed financial year whoge, tefal compensation was, individually, more than
$150,000, as determined in a@d‘ance with subsection 1.3(6), for that financial year;

and Q

(d)  each indiyu®¥yar who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact
that the individual ither an executive officer of the company or its subsidiaries,
nor acting in a si apacity, at the end of that financial year;

“non-iity incentive plan” means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive
plan that i@ an equity incentive plan;

ion-based award” means an award under an equity incentive plan of options,
inch@ing, for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar
Qyuments that have option-like features;

“plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not

set out in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other
property may be received, whether for one or more persons;

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 183



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

“replacement grant” means an option that a reasonable person would consider to
be granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option;

“repricing” means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exercise or
base price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equally affects
all holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs through the
operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option; '\QD

“share-based award” means an award under an equity incentive plan ot@ity-
based instruments that do not have option-like features, including, for great inty,
common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share u eé)phantom
shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units and stockQ~

1.3 Preparing the form %Q/
(1)  All compensation to be included &

(@  When completing this form, the company disclose all compensation
paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwise Ided, directly or indirectly, by
the company, or a subsidiary of the company, gach NEO and director, in any
capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan on-plan compensation, direct and
indirect pay, remuneration, economic or fi»(?cial award, reward, benefit, gift or
perquisite paid, payable awarded, granted or otherwise provided to the NEO or
director for services provided and for ser\ml/ to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the
company or a subsidiary of the comp

(b) Despite paragraph ‘bn respect of the Canada Pension Plan, similar
government plans, and grou ealth, hospitalization, medical reimbursement and
relocation plans that do not d\sriminate in scope, terms or operation and are generally
available to all salaried loyees, the company is not required to disclose as
compensation

0] ?9 contributions or premiums paid or payable by the company on
behalf of an N of a director, under these plans, and

(?f any cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property
receiverc n NEO, or by a director, under these plans.

C) For greater certainty, the plans described in paragraph (b) include plans
@ provide for such benefits after retirement.

(d) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in

this form, it is to be disclosed in column (h) (“All other compensation”) of the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.
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(2) Departures from format

(@)  Although the required disclosure must be made in accordance with this
form, the disclosure may

0] omit a table, column of a table, or other prescribed information, if it
does not apply, and '\QD

(i) add a table, column, or other information if (19
(A)  necessary to satisfy the objective in section 1.1,&%“

(B) to a reasonable person, the table, Q?mn, or other
information does not detract from the prescribed informati% the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.

(b) Despite paragraph (a), a company must not ad&olumn in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1. : O

(3) Information for full financial year O

If an NEO acted in that capacity for the pany during part of the financial year
for which disclosure is required in the su compensation table, provide details of

all of the compensation that the NEO rece'l( from the company for that financial year.
This includes compensation the NEQ_ear¥fed in any other position with the company
during the financial year. 0'.) B

Do not annualize com %ﬂon in a table for any part of a year when an NEO
was not in the service of th pany. Annualized compensation may be disclosed in a

footnote. 3
4) External ma@ent companies

€)) If gor more individuals acting as an NEO of the company are not
employees c@e company, disclose the names of those individuals.

% If an external management company employs or retains one or more
indiyi acting as NEOs or directors of the company and the company has entered
int(z@n understanding, arrangement or agreement with the external management
ﬁnpany to provide executive management services to the company directly or
\n irectly, disclose any compensation that:

0] the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by

the external management company, who is acting as an NEO or director of the
company;
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and

(i) the external management company paid to the individual that is
attributable to the services they provided to the company directly or indirectly.

(c) If an external management company provides the company’s executive
management services and also provides executive management services to anot
company, disclose the entire compensation the external management company
the individual acting as an NEO or director, or acting in a similar capacity, in co ion
with services the external management company provided to the company, ¥r the
parent or a subsidiary of the company. If the management company &es the
compensation paid to an NEO or director, disclose the basis or meth ohgy used to

allocate this compensation. Q/
Commentary &

An NEO may be employed by an external mana e&company and provide
services to the company under an understanding, arr ent or agreement. In this
case, references in this form to the CEO or CFO are %rences to the individuals who
performed similar functions to that of the CEO or (CNO: They are generally the same
individuals who signed and filed annual and({ rim certificates to comply with
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of %closure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27). Q'\

(5) Director and NEO compensa%n(l/

4
Disclose any compensati gbarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to each

director and NEO, in any c @ with respect to the company. Compensation to
directors and NEOs mus{ \XXlude all compensation from the company and its
subsidiaries. 3

Disclose any@ensaﬁon awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to, an
NEO, or directorQ~ y capacity with respect to the company, by another person or
company.

(6) Detéry¥hing if an individual is an NEO

Q) the purpose of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to,
or @a le to an individual under paragraph (c) of the definition of NEO,

\ (@) use the total compensation that would be reported under column (i) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1 for each executive officer, as if
that executive officer were an NEO for the company’s most recently completed financial
year, and

(b) exclude from the calculation,
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0] any compensation that would be reported under column (g) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1,

(i) any incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an executive
officer that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred
during the most recently completed financial year, and '\QD

(i)  any cash compensation that relates to foreign assignment tis
specifically intended to offset the impact of a higher cost of living in the foreign lo#ation,
and is not otherwise related to the duties the executive officer perfg%}“for the

company. Q‘

Commentary

The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (c) of the defirg %f NEO only applies
when determining who is an NEO in a company’s most tly completed financial
year. If an individual is an NEO in the most recently co yd financial year, disclosure
of compensation in prior years must be provided if oth&gse required by this form even
if total compensation in a prior year is less than $15@) in that year.

(7 Compensation to associates %

Disclose any awards, earnings, w@ents, or payables to an associate of an
NEO, or of a director, as a result of sation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or
payable to the NEO or the director, | %y"capacny with respect to the company.

(8) New reporting |ssuers$/

(@) Disclose mfohs}on in the summary compensation table for the 3 most
recently completed finguWNal years since the company became a reporting issuer.

(b) De aragraph (a), do not provide information for a completed financial
year if the com was not a reporting issuer for any part of that financial year, unless

the compan came a reporting issuer as a result of a restructuring transaction.

If the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most

mpleted financial year and the company is completing the form because it is

pre rng a prospectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensation to be

rded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs of the company once it becomes a
ortlng issuer, to the extent this compensation has been determined.

Commentary

1. Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this form
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company uses to
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prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25).

2. The definition of “director” under securities legislation includes an individual who
acts in a capacity similar to that of a director.

(9)  Currencies '\QD

Companies must report amounts required by this form in Canadian doll in
the same currency that the company uses for its financial statements. A company’must
use the same currency in the tables in sections 3.1, 4.1, 4.2, 5.1, 5.2 aq@l‘ of this

form. Q‘

If compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payabl% NEO was in a
currency other than the currency reported in the prescribed tabl%g is form, state the
currency in which compensation was awarded, earned, pai ayable, disclose the
currency exchange rate and describe the methodol sed to translate the
compensation into Canadian dollars or the currency the company uses in its
financial statements. %

(10) Plain language &O

Information required to be disclose h@ this form must be clear, concise, and
presented in such a way that it provides onable person an understanding of,

(@) how decisions about MS%ahd director compensation are made; and

(b) how specific N d director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governanc e company.
Commentary @

Refer to t language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to

Regulation 51-%2 especting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-
0223, 2006-¥¢12) for further guidance.

ITEMZOQ~ COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2 1<( Compensation discussion and analysis

% Describe and explain all significant elements of compensation awarded to,
earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs for the 2 most recently completed financial year.

Include the following:

(@) the objectives of any compensation program or strategy;
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(b)  what the compensation program is designed to reward,;
(© each element of compensation;
(d)  why the company chooses to pay each element;

(e) how the company determines the amount (and, where applicable, t@s
formula) for each element; and Q’\

() how each element of compensation and the company’s decigjons¥about
that element fit into the company’s overall compensation objectives and affﬁ'\ dcisions
about other elements. Q‘

(2) If applicable, describe any new actions, decisions or poligf at were made
after the end of the most recently completed financial ye,
reasonable person’s understanding of an NEO’s compensa: r the most recently
completed financial year. &
3) If applicable, clearly state the benchmark and %aln its components, including

the companies included in the benchmark group an@e selection criteria.

4) If applicable, disclose performance goag=or similar conditions that are based on
objective, identifiable measures, such as é\ mpany’s share price or earnings per
share. If performance goals or similar cﬁitions are subjective, the company may
describe the performance goal or simi@c dition without providing specific measures.

GAAP financial measures, e how the company calculates these performance
goals or similar conditions f%' S financial statements.
Exemption @
The comp Qnot required to disclose performance goals or similar conditions
in respect of ific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors if a

reasonable q{s would consider that disclosing them would seriously prejudice the
company’{injdMests.

4
If the company disclosesgi‘rbrmance goals or similar conditions that are non-

®) the purposes of this exemption, a company’s interest’s are not considered to

beerously prejudiced solely by disclosing performance goals or similar conditions if
%e goals or conditions are based on broad corporate-level financial performance

\a trics which include earnings per share, revenue growth, and earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization.

This exemption does not apply if it has publicly disclosed the performance goals
or similar conditions.
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If the company is relying on this exemption, state this fact and explain why
disclosing the performance goals or similar conditions would seriously prejudice the
company’s interests.

If the company does not disclose specific performance goals or similar
conditions, state what percentage of the NEO’s total compensation relates to this
undisclosed information and how difficult it could be for the NEO, or how likely it wﬂl@s
for the company, to achieve the undisclosed performance goal or similar condltlonQ

(5) Disclose whether or not the board of directors, or a committee of q(oard,
considered the implications of the risks associated with the company’s C% @nsation
policies and practices. If the implications were considered, disclose the ing:

(@) the extent and nature of the board of directors’ or @ﬁtee' role in the
risk oversight of the company’s compensation policies and practj

(b) any practices the company uses to identi @mitigate compensation
policies and practices that could encourage an NEO or i ual at a principal business
unit or division to take inappropriate or excessive risksé

(© any identified risks arising from thetﬁ@any’s compensation policies and
practices that are reasonably likely to have a nﬁﬁrial adverse effect on the company.

(6) Disclose whether or not an NEO Qirector is permitted to purchase financial
instruments, including, for greater cegainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity
swaps, collars, or units of excharg&fhds, that are designed to hedge or offset a
decrease in market value of equjey seCurities granted as compensation or held, directly
or indirectly, by the NEO or di&l

Commentary BQ

1. The informati ﬁclosed under section 2.1 will depend on the facts. Provide
enough analysis ?@w a reasonable person to understand the disclosure elsewhere
in this form. ibe the significant principles underlying policies and explain the
decisions r n to compensation provided to an NEO. Disclosure that merely
describes cess for determining compensation or compensation already awarded,
earned or payable is not adequate. The information contained in this section
sho | e readers a sense of how compensation is tied to the NEO’s performance.
|Ierplate language.

\8 If the company’s process for determining executive compensation is very simple,

for example, the company relies solely on board discussion without any formal
objectives, criteria and analysis, then make this clear in the discussion.
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3. If the company used any benchmarking in determining compensation or any
element of compensation, include the benchmark group and describe why the
benchmark group and selection criteria are considered by the company to be relevant.

4. The following are examples of items that will usually be significant elements of
disclosure concerning compensation:

- contractual or non-contractual arrangements, plans, process chan @
any other matters that might cause the amounts disclosed for the most %ﬂly
completed financial year to be misleading if used as an indicator o e&lécted
compensation levels in future periods; ,\Q N

- the process for determining perquisites and personal be@?,

- policies and decisions about the adjustment @overy of awards,
earnings, payments, or payables if the performance goal or @ r condition on which
they are based are restated or adjusted to reduce the aw& , earning, payment, or

payable; %O

- the basis for selecting events that tr@:r payment for any arrangement
that provides for payment at, following or in con n with any termination or change

of control;
o

- any waiver or change to@ specified performance goal or similar
condition to payout for any amount, ipcludig whether the waiver or change applied to
one or more specified NEOs or to qﬂb Mpensation subject to the performance goal or

similar condition; Q/

- whether the of directors can exercise a discretion, either to award
compensation absent attai t of the relevant performance goal or similar condition or
to reduce or increas Size of any award or payout, including if they exercised
discretion and whet pplied to one or more named executive officers;

- Wiﬁ%r the company will be making any significant changes to its
compensatio@o cies and practices in the next financial year;

Q~ the role of executive officers in determining executive compensation; and

- performance goals or similar conditions in respect of specific quantitative
@ﬂualitative performance-related factors for NEOs.

5. The following are examples of situations that could potentially encourage an
executive officer to expose the company to inappropriate or excessive risks:

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 191



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

- compensation policies and practices at a principal business unit of the
company or a subsidiary of the company that are structured significantly differently than
others within the company;

- compensation policies and practices for certain executive officers that are
structured significantly differently than other executive officers within the company;
management and regulatory compliance as part of the performance metrics in

determining compensation; %
4

- compensation policies and practices where the compensg4on expense to
executive officers is a significant percentage of the company’s reven%

- compensation policies and practices that do not include effectiv;'ﬁg?

- compensation policies and practices that vary sigr@y from the overall
compensation structure of the company;

- compensation policies and practices wh jncentive plan awards are
awarded upon accomplishment of a task while the ris@ the company from that task
extends over a significantly longer period of time; O

- compensation policies and pracﬁs that contain performance goals or
similar conditions that are heavily wei%@d o short-term rather than long-term

objectives; (l/

- incentive plan award %o not provide a maximum benefit or payout
limit to executive officers. Q/

The examples abov not exhaustive and the situations to consider will vary
depending upon the na of the company’s business and the company’s
compensation policies ractices.

2.2 PerfoerQ graph

(@) @i section does not apply to

O C)(i) venture issuers,
<( (i) companies that have distributed only debt securities or non-
@vertible, non-participating preferred securities to the public, and

(i)  companies that were not reporting issuers in any jurisdiction in
Canada for at least 12 calendar months before the end of their most recently completed
financial year, other than companies that became new reporting issuers as a result of a
restructuring transaction.
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(b) Provide a line graph showing the company’s cumulative total shareholder
return over the 5 most recently completed financial years. Assume that $100 was
invested on the first day of the 5-year period. If the company has been a reporting
issuer for less than 5 years, use the period that the company has been a reporting
issuer.

Compare this to the cumulative total return of at least one broad e
market index that, to a reasonable person, would be an appropriate reference po%D

the company’s return. If the company is included in the S&P/TSX Composuel/
Return Index, use that index. In all cases, assume that dividends are reinves%.

tal

“

Discuss how the trend shown by this graph compares to e\fend in the
company’s compensation to executive officers reported under this f er the same
period.

Q
Commentary A@@

For section 2.2, companies may also include oth rvant performance goals or
similar conditions. é
2.3 Share-based and option-based award&O

Describe the process the company Q@to grant share-based or option-based
awards to executive officers. Include t le of the compensation committee and
executive officers in setting or amendjQg aMy equity incentive plan under which a share-
based or option-based award is gr@\ﬁf‘smte whether previous grants are taken into
account when considering new g@t .
2.4 Compensation goWxnance

(2) Describe any \;ies and practices adopted by the board of directors to
determine the comp@ on for the company’s directors and executive officers.

(2) If the cor@a%y has established a compensation committee

(a Sclose the name of each committee member and, in respect of each
membe e whether or not the member is independent or not independent;

)  disclose whether or not one or more of the committee members has any
@ct experience that is relevant to his or her responsibilities in executive
mpensation;

(c) describe the skills and experience that enable the committee to make
decisions on the suitability of the company’s compensation policies and practices; and

(d) describe the responsibilities, powers and operation of the committee.
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3) If a compensation consultant or advisor has, at any time since the company’s
most recently completed financial year, been retained to assist the board of directors or
the compensation committee in determining compensation for any of the company’s
directors or executive officers

(@) state the name of the consultant or advisor and a summary of t@s
mandate the consultant or advisor has been given;

(b)  disclose when the consultant or advisor was originally retained;(gugl/
4

(c) if the consultant or advisor has provided any services to cdmpany, or
to its affiliated or subsidiary entities, or to any of its director, Qe‘members of
management, other than or in addition to compensation services p@éd for any of the
company'’s directors or executive officers,

(1) state this fact and briefly describe the g/of the work,

(i) disclose whether the board of dire%s or compensation committee
must pre-approve other services the consultant advisor, or any of its affiliates,
provides to the company at the request of managéq t, and

(d) For each of the two most rece&&@mpleted financial year, disclose,

aggregate fees billed by each con thor advisor, or any of its affiliates, for services
related to determining compens or any of the company’s directors and executive

officers, and s
under \g:

(i) aption “All Other Fees”, the aggregate fees billed for all
other services provide each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, that are not
reported under sub aph (i) and include a description of the nature of the services
comprising the fe closed under this category.

Commentaré

ction 2.4, a director is independent if he or she would be independent
withj meaning of section 1.4 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committees
(chdgter V-1.1, r. 28).

Ny

(1) under the captio; ‘&ecutive Compensation-Related Fees”, the
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ITEM 3 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
3.1 Summary compensation table

Despite paragraph 1.3(8)(a), for each NEO in the most recently completed
financial year, complete this table for each of the company’s 3 most recently completed

financial years that end on or after December 31, 2008. QD
N
Name and | Year | Salary Share- Option- Non-equity incentive | Pension | All other
principal (b) (%) based based plan compensation ($) | value compensation pensation
position ©) awards awards Q) %) ($) (
(a) $) %) Annual Long- (9) (h) % i)
(d) (e) incentive term

plans incentive
(f1) plans
@ X

CEO - @

ya
CFO -
e ©
- -

Q
1.

Z
C o \~
N
Commentary Q‘)Q\
Under subsection (1), a any is not required to disclose comparative period

into force on March 30, 2 as amended, or this form, in respect of a financial year

disclosure in accordance wit: requirements of either Form 51-102F6, which came
ending before Decembeg3%2008.

earned during cial year covered in the table (a covered financial year). If the
company capnotxalculate the amount of salary earned in a financial year, disclose this
in a footn Qzﬂong with the reason why it cannot be determined. Restate the salary
figure t t time the company prepares this form, and explain what portion of the
resta %re represents an amount that the company could not previously calculate.

(2) In column g:%E@Iude the dollar value of cash and non-cash base salary an NEO

In column (d), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
grant date for a covered financial year.

4) In column (e), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year. Include option-based awards both with or
without tandem share appreciation rights.

(5) For an award disclosed in column (d) or (e), in a narrative after the table,
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(@) describe the methodology used to calculate the fair value of the award on
the grant date, disclose the key assumptions and estimates used for each calculation,
and explain why the company chose that methodology, and

(b) if the fair value of the award on the grant date is different from the fair
value determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (accounting f@s
value), state the amount of the difference and explain the reasons for the differenca\

Commentary q/
O

1. This commentary applies to subsections (3), (4) and (5). '\

2. The value disclosed in columns (d) and (e) of the summar pensation table

should reflect what the company paid, made payable, aw
otherwise provided as compensation on the grant date (fair
out in comment 3, below. This value might differ from the vaN

financial statements. : O

3. While compensation practices vary, there@oe generally 2 approaches that
boards of directors use when setting compensati oard of directors may decide the
value in securities of the company to b warded or paid as compensation.
Alternatively, a board of directors may deg ész e portion of the potential ownership of

Vv granted, gave or
of the award) as set
reported in the issuer's

the company to be transferred as comp on. A fair value ascribed to the award will
normally result from these approache§

A company may calcul ‘t?‘#s value either in accordance with a valuation
methodology identified in IFR are-based Payment or in accordance with another
methodology set out in co below.

differ from the acco fair value. For financial statement purposes, the accounting
fair value amounqi mortized over the service period to obtain an accounting cost
(accounting co sation expense), adjusted at year end as required.

4, In some caseéﬁsfalr value of the award disclosed in columns (d) and (e) might

5. Wh{e most commonly used methodologies for calculating the value of most
types rds are the Black-Scholes-Merton model and the binomial lattice model,
co may choose to use another valuation methodology if it produces a more

meadingful and reasonable estimate of fair value.

\ The summary compensation table requires disclosure of an amount even if the
accounting compensation expense is zero. The amount disclosed in the table should
reflect the fair value of the award following the principles described under comments 2
and 3, above.
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7. Column (d) includes common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units,
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent
units, stock, and similar instruments that do not have option-like features.

(6) In column (e), include the incremental fair value if, at any time during the covered
financial year, the company has adjusted, amended, cancelled, replaced or significantly
modified the exercise price of options previously awarded to, earned by, paid to,@:r?
payable to, an NEO. The repricing or modification date must be determi N

accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. The methodology used to caIcw%the
incremental fair value must be the same methodology used to calculate the i?gal ant.

4

'af holders of
pre-existing
justment of the
or award, or a

This requirement does not apply to any repricing that equally affe,
the class of securities underlying the options and that occurs thro
formula or mechanism in the plan or award that results in the peri
option exercise or base price, an antidilution provision in

recapitalization or similar transaction. Q/
(7 Include a footnote to the table quantifying the emental fair value of any
adjusted, amended, cancelled, replaced or signific modified options that are

included in the table.

(8) In column (f), include the dollar vaI & all amounts earned for services
performed during the covered financial ye re related to awards under non-equity
incentive plans and all earnings on any s utstandmg awards.

@) If the relevant perforn‘p@ Yoal or similar condition was satisfied during a
covered financial year (includi r a single year in a plan with a multi-year
performance goal or similar ¢ ), report the amounts earned for that financial year,
even if they are payable a ter date. The company is not required to report these
amounts again in the sum compensation table when they are actually paid to an
NEO.

(b) IncI% footnote describing and quantifying all amounts earned on non-
equity incentiv compensation, whether they were paid during the financial year,
were payablg put deferred at the election of an NEO, or are payable by their terms at a

later date.c)

Include any discretionary cash awards, earnings, payments, or payables

thaNgvere not based on predetermined performance goals or similar conditions that were

municated to an NEO. Report any performance-based plan awards that include pre-
termined performance goals or similar conditions in column (f).

(d) In column (f1), include annual non-equity incentive plan compensation,

such as bonuses and discretionary amounts. For column (fl), annual non-equity
incentive plan compensation relates only to a single financial year. In column (f2),
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include all non-equity incentive plan compensation related to a period longer than one
year.

(9) In column (g), include all compensation relating to defined benefit or defined
contribution plans. These include service costs and other compensatory items such as
plan changes and earnings that are different from the estimated earnings for defined
benefit plans and abovemarket earnings for defined contribution plans. '\QD

This disclosure relates to all plans that provide for the payment of pens&o&lan
benefits. Use the same amounts included in column (e) of the defined benefif, plawtable
required by Item 5 for the covered financial year and the amounts included Q@mmn (©)
of the defined contribution plan table as required by Item 5 for the %fr d financial

year. Q/

(20) In column (h), include all other compensation not reporte@s y other column of
this table. Column (h) must include, but is not limited to: Q/

@) perquisites, including property or other pgksoyal benefits provided to an
NEO that are not generally available to all employees®edd that in aggregate are worth

$50,000 or more, or are worth 10% or more of arqy’s total salary for the financial
year. Value these items on the basis of the aggr incremental cost to the company
and its subsidiaries. Describe in a footnote tl(ﬁmethodology used for computing the
aggregate incremental cost to the companyQ'\

exceeds 25% of the total value of isites reported for an NEO in a footnote to the
table. Provide the footnote info@i for the most recently completed financial year
only;

State the type and aﬁom{ of each perquisite the value of which

after retirement;

(b)  other post-re@xent benefits such as health insurance or life insurance

(© all “Q@ups” or other amounts reimbursed during the covered financial
year for the pa t of taxes;

e incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an NEO that are
, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred before the end
red financial year,

§ (e) the dollar value of any insurance premiums paid or payable by, or on
half of, the company during the covered financial year for personal insurance for an
NEO if the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary;

)] the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid or payable on

share-based or option-based awards that were not factored into the fair value of the
award on the grant date required to be reported in columns (d) and (e);
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(g0 any compensation cost for any security that the NEO bought from the
company or its subsidiaries at a discount from the market price of the security (through
deferral of salary, bonus or otherwise). Calculate this cost at the date of purchase and in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and

(h) above-market or preferential earnings on compensation that is deferred@;
a basis that is not tax exempt other than for defined contribution plans covered J
defined contribution plan table in Item 5. Above-market or preferential applies n-
registered plans and means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid by the company
or its subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same or sir& features
issued to third parties. Q‘

retirement savings plan made on behalf of the NEO.

0] any company contribution to a personal savings&&e a registered

Commentary AQ/

1. Generally, there will be no incremental paymenl%ayables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in tion 6.1 that occurred before the
end of a covered financial year for compens&k that has been reported in the
summary compensation table for the most r tly completed financial year or for a
financial year before the most recently com%&e financial year.

or a performance goal or simila ition in respect of the previously reported

If the vesting or payout of the ;reao'usly reported compensation is accelerated,
compensation is waived, as eselt of a scenario described in section 6.1, the

incremental payments, pay and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of th Ner of the performance goal or similar condition.
2. Generally, an i IS hot a perquisite if it is integrally and directly related to the

performance of an
do his or her job
even if it also le

ive officer’s duties. If something is necessary for a person to
integrally and directly related to the job and is not a perquisite,
s some amount of personal benefit.

If tle §¥mpany concludes that an item is not integrally and directly related to
perfor e job, it may be a perquisite if the item provides an NEO with any direct or
indir, rsonal benefit. If it does provide a personal benefit, the item is a perquisite,
whaher or not it is provided for a business reason or for the company’s convenience,

\ ss it is generally available on a non-discriminatory basis to all employees.

Companies must conduct their own analysis of whether a particular item is a
perquisite. The following are examples of things that are often considered perquisites or
personal benefits. This list is not exhaustive:

Cars, car lease and car allowance;
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- Corporate aircraft or personal travel financed by the company;

- Jewellery;

- Clothing;

- Artwork; Q’\QD
- Housekeeping services; (l/

| Sd
- Club membership; Q~
%

- Theatre tickets; %

- Financial assistance to provide education to chi @ executive officers;

- Security at personal residence or@sring personal travel; and

- Parking;

- Personal financial or tax advice;

- Reimbursements of taxes(@d with respect to perquisites or other
personal benefit. Q
\

(11) In column (i), include thgr doWar value of total compensation for the covered
financial year. For each NEO@S the sum of the amounts reported in columns (c)

through (h). Q

(12) Any deferred >ts must be included in the appropriate column for the
covered financial yeg™N\Which they are earned.

(23) If an NE% cted to exchange any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid
to, or paya 0 the NEO in a covered financial year under a program that allows the
NEO to fecg¥e awards, earnings, payments, or payables in another form, the
compe n the NEO elected to exchange must be reported as compensation in the
colu propriate for the form of compensation exchanged: Do not report it in the form
in Wich it was or will be received by the NEO. State in a footnote the form of awards,

ings, payments, or payables substituted for the compensation the NEO elected to

change.

3.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any significant factors necessary to understand the
information disclosed in the summary compensation table required by section 3.1.
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Commentary

The significant factors described in section 3.2 will vary depending on the
circumstances of each award but may include:

- the significant terms of each NEO’s employment agreement %

arrangement; Q'\

- any repricing or other significant changes to the terms of any s argKased
or option-based award program during the most recently completed financigk ir; and

- the significant terms of any award reported in the sumr@'&ompensaﬁon
table, including a general description of the formula or criteri be applied in
determining the amounts payable and the vesting schedule. F&mple if dividends
will be paid on shares, state this, the applicable dividend r % hether that rate is
preferential. A

3.3 (Repealed) %O

3.4 Officers who also act as dlrectors O
If an NEO is also a director whg es compensation for services as a
director, include that compensation in th mary compensation table and include a

footnote explaining which amounts re& the director role. Do not provide disclosure
for that NEO under Item 7. 0'.) B

ITEM 4 INCENTIVE PLA@K/ARDS

4.1 Outstanding sh?ss ased awards and option-based awards

(2) Complete thi for each NEO for all awards outstanding at the end of the
most recently co d financial year. This includes awards granted before the most
recently compl financial year. For all awards in this table, disclose the awards that
have been t%f rred at other than fair market value.

O@
&
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Option-based Awards Share-based Awards
Name | Number of | Option Option Value of | Number Market or | Market or
(@) securities exercice expiration unexercised of shares | payout payout
underlying price date in-the-money | or units | value of | value of
unexercised (%) (c) (d) options of shares | share- vested
options (%) that have | based share-
(#) (e) not awards that | based
(b) vested have not | awards not
# vested paid out%
f) €)) distrib{Ne
(@ (%) Q'\
(N
CEO v
CFO ‘\‘3«
A
B %
C /K'/

(2) In column (b), for each award, disclose the number @urities underlying
unexercised options.

3) In column (c), disclose the exercise or base pri r each option under each
award reported in column (b). If the option was grante®®a different currency than that
reported in the table, include a footnote describi @e currency and the exercise or
base price. '{

4) In column (d), disclose the expirat@g’;te for each option under each award
reported in column (b). (1/

(5) In column (e), disclose the a Ate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised
options held at the end of the@. Calculate this amount based on the difference

between the market value of curities underlying the instruments at the end of the
year, and the exercise or b ice of the option.
(6) In column (f), di e the total number of shares or units that have not vested.

(7) In colum <%).Qisclose the aggregate market value or payout value of share-
based awards ﬂ%\ ave not vested.

If t %re-based award provides only for a single payout on vesting, calculate
this vaILQbased on that payout.

If the share-based award provides for different payouts depending on the
gievement of different performance goals or similar conditions, calculate this value
sed on the minimum payout. However, if the NEO achieved a performance goal or
similar condition in a financial year covered by the share-based award that on vesting
could provide for a payout greater than the minimum payout, calculate this value based
on the payout expected as a result of the NEO achieving this performance goal or
similar condition.
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(8) In column (h), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of vested
share-based awards that have not yet been paid out or distributed.

4.2 Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned during the year

(1) Complete this table for each NEO for the most recently completed financial year.

Name Option-based  awards- | Share-based awards - Value | Non-equity incentive b&@ﬁ’
@ Value vested during the | vested during the year compensation - lue
year ()] earned during the yea
) (©) ) .
(b) (d) \Eb
CEO N
CFO 7. X
A P4
B
c Z.

if the options under the option-based award had be rcised on the vesting date.
Compute the dollar value that would have been re@e by determining the difference
between the market price of the underlying secii at exercise and the exercise or
base price of the options under the option-bgeed™Maward on the vesting date. Do not
include the value of any related payment N her consideration provided (or to be
provided) by the company to or on behalf EO.

\
(2) In column (b), disclose the aggregate dollar va@ould have been realized

(3) In column (c), disclose the agﬁate dollar value realized upon vesting of share-
based awards. Compute the doll e realized by multiplying the number of shares or
units by the market value of th erlying shares on the vesting date. For any amount
realized upon vesting for whi eipt has been deferred, include a footnote that states
the amount and the terms deferral.

4.3 Narrative@sion

Describ explain the significant terms of all plan-based awards, including
non-equity ingenwNve plan awards, issued or vested, or under which options have been
exercised, r&ﬁg the year, or outstanding at the year end, to the extent not already
discuss er sections 2.1, 2.3 and 3.2. The company may aggregate information for
differ wards, if separate disclosure of each award is not necessary to communicate
theg ificant terms.

@nmentary

The items included in the narrative required by section 4.3 will vary depending on
the terms of each plan, but may include:

- the number of securities underlying each award or received on vesting or
exercise;
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- general descriptions of formula or criteria that are used to determine
amounts payable; -exercise prices and expiry dates;

- dividend rates on share-based awards;
- whether awards are vested or unvested; '\QD
- performance goals or similar conditions, or other significant conditi@@

- information on estimated future payouts for non-equity w&g%me plan
awards (performance goals or similar conditions and maximum amount

- the closing market price on the grant date, if the exegyd/or base price is
less than the closing market price of the underlying security on t nt date.
ITEM 5 PENSION PLAN BENEFITS A

5.1 Defined benefit plans table %O

(2) Complete this table for all pension plans t Q)Vide for payments or benefits at,
following, or in connection with retirement, ex@#mg defined contribution plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the same a ions and methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes under th ounting principles used to prepare the
company's financial statements, ag_ pe¥mitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles a@/ﬂiting Standards.

.
Number | Annual ‘ﬁﬂng Compensatory | Non- Closing present
of years | benefits N\ sent change compensatory | value of defined
credited | payable %)value of | ($) change benefit
Name | service | (c defined (e) (%) obligation
(a) #) At benefit ) $)
(b) ye Nage obligation (9)
65 $)
) | (2 | (@)
CEO /.
CFO ~X/
A A\J
B A~
c )

@ In columns (b) and (c), the disclosure must be as of the end of the company's

\mst recently completed financial year. In columns (d) through (g), the disclosure must
be as of the reporting date used in the company's audited annual financial statements
for the most recently completed financial year.

(3) In column (b), disclose the number of years of service credited to an NEO under
the plan. If the number of years of credited service in any plan is different from the
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NEO's number of actual years of service with the company, include a footnote that
states the amount of the difference and any resulting benefit augmentation, such as the
number of additional years the NEO received.

(4) In column (c), disclose

(@) the annual lifetime benefit payable at the end of the most recerﬂ:?
completed financial year in column (cl) based on years of credited service repo@@
column (b) and actual pensionable earnings as at the end of the most tly
completed financial year. For purposes of this calculation, the company myst a¥Sume
that the NEO is eligible to receive payments or benefits at year end, and ,\ B

(b) the annual lifetime benefit payable at age 65 in col 2) based on
years of credited service as of age 65 and actual pensionable earryg rough the end
of the most recently completed financial year, as per column (c

Commentary OAQ/

For purposes of quantifying the annual lifetime efit payable at the end of the
most recently completed financial year in colum the company may calculate the
annual lifetime benefit payable as follows: %

annual benefits payable at the presumed(f/b years of credited service at year end
retirement age used to calculate Qe years of credited service at the
closing present value of the deﬂ'& presumed retirement age

benefit obligation

The company may Q] :ate the annual lifetime benefit payable in accordance
with another formula ifgth® company reasonably believes that it produces a more
meaningful calculatiq e annual lifetime benefit payable at year end.

(5) In colum@,‘disclose the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
start of the mpstecently completed financial year.

(6) I mn (e), disclose the compensatory change in the present value of the
defin nefit obligation for the most recently completed financial year. This includes
ser% ost net of employee contributions plus plan changes and differences between
as{ual and estimated earnings, and any additional changes that have retroactive impact,

ding, for greater certainty, a change in valuation assumptions as a consequence of
an amendment to benefit terms.

Disclose the valuation method and all significant assumptions the company

applied in quantifying the closing present value of the defined benefit obligation. The
company may satisfy all or part of this disclosure by referring to the disclosure of
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assumptions in its financial statements, footnotes to the financial statements or
discussion in its management's discussion and analysis.

(7 In column (f), disclose the non-compensatory changes in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation for the company's most recently completed financial year.
Include all items that are not compensatory, such as changes in assumptions other than
those already included in column (e) because they were made as a consequence of
amendment to benefit terms, employee contributions and interest on the present

of the defined benefit obligation at the start of the most recently completed %mal

year.
©-

(8) In column (g), disclose the present value of the defined benefit gbligation at the

end of the most recently completed financial year.

5.2 Defined contribution plans table &

(2) Complete this table for all pension plans that provide@ ayments or benefits at,
following or in connection with retirement, excluding {ef)ned benefit plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the same assumptions <@ methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes under the account@ principles used to prepare the
company’s financial statements, as permitte Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditin@andards.

O\

Name Accumulated value at Cptp}nsatory Accumulated value at year
@ start of year ( end

(%) o) (%)

(b) “33 (d)

&

CEO %\/
CFO \
A N\
B \ v
C ,\%‘
(2) In colur% dlsclose the employer contribution and above-market or
preferential gs credlted on employer and employee contributions. Above-market
or prefere '%arnlngs applies to non-registered plans and means a rate greater than
the rat narily paid by the company or its subsidiary on securities or other
obligat aving the same or similar features issued to third parties.

‘%Q (Paragraph repealed)

4) In column (d), disclose the accumulated value at the end of the most recently
completed financial year.
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Commentary

1. For pension plans that provide the maximum of: (i) the value of a defined benefit
pension; and (ii) the accumulated value of a defined contribution pension, companies
should disclose the global value of the pension plan in the defined benefit plans table
under section 5.1.

For pension plans that provide the sum of a defined benefit component 6;
defined contribution component, companies should disclose the respective co nts
of the pension plan. The defined benefit component should be disclosed in the céfined
benefit plans table under section 5.1 and the defined contribution componq&muld be
disclosed in the defined contribution plans table under section 5.2.

2. Any contributions by the company or a subsidiary of the C(@ﬂy to a personal
savings plan like a registered retirement savings plan made on@ of the NEO must
still be disclosed in column (h) of the summary compens @ ble, as required by
paragraph 3.1(10)(i).

53 Narrative discussion %O

Describe and explain for each retirement pﬁ which an NEO participates, any
significant factors necessary to understand tcg information disclosed in the defined
benefit plan table in section 5.1 and the def} &L ontribution plan table in section 5.2.

Commentary (l’

Q-
Significant factors describ@/‘ihhe narrative required by section 5.3 will vary, but

may include: s

- the significanT%1 ms and conditions of payments and benefits available
under the plan, inclugi e plan’s normal and early retirement payment, benefit
formula, contributi mula, calculation of interest credited under the defined
contribution plan Igibility standards;

- oVisions for early retirement, if applicable, including the name of the
NEO and lan, the early retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility
standar arly retrement means retirement before the normal retirement age as
defi&@ﬁ the plan or otherwise available under the plan;

§ - the specific elements of compensation (e.g., salary, bonus) included in
plying the payment and benefit formula. If a company provides this information,
identify each element separately; and

- company policies on topics such as granting extra years of credited

service, including an explanation of who these arrangements relate to and why they are
considered appropriate.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 207



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

54 Deferred compensation plans

Describe the significant terms of any deferred compensation plan relating to each
NEO, including:

(@) the types of compensation that can be deferred and any limitations on t@s
extent to which deferral is permitted (by percentage of compensation or otherwiseb’\

(b)  significant terms of payouts, withdrawals and other distributions; ang/

4
(c) measures for calculating interest or other earnings, how d'\/hen these
measures may be changed, and whether an NEO or the com@‘chose these
measures. Quantify these measures wherever possible. %

ITEM 6 TERMINATION AND CHANGE OF CONTROL @ITS
6.1 Termination and change of control benefit: O

(1) For each contract, agreement, plan or arran ent that provides for payments to
an NEO at, following or in connection with termination (whether voluntary,
involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirmt, a change in control of the company
or a change in an NEO'’s responsibilities ribe, explain, and where appropriate,
guantify the following items: (19

(@) the circumstances th '&r payments or the provision of other benefits,
including perquisites and pensioppla®’ benefits;

(b) the estimatec\hz emental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result fro?% ach circumstance, including timing, duration and who
provides the payment enefits;

(c) hong ayment and benefit levels are determined under the various
circumstances Q rigger payments or provision of benefits;

y significant conditions or obligations that apply to receiving payments
or bena®&"This includes but is not limited to, non-compete, non-solicitation, non-

disp, ent or confidentiality agreements. Include the term of these agreements and
proxgions for waiver or breach; and

\ (e) any other significant factors for each written contract, agreement, plan or
arrangement.

(2) Disclose the estimated incremental payments, payables, and benefits even if it is
uncertain what amounts might be paid in given circumstances under the various plans
and arrangements, assuming that the triggering event took place on the last business
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day of the company’s most recently completed financial year. For valuing share-based
awards or option-based awards, use the closing market price of the company’s
securities on that date.

If the company is unsure about the provision or amount of payments or benefits,
make a reasonable estimate (or a reasonable estimate of the range of amounts) and
disclose the significant assumptions underlying these estimates. '\QD

3) Despite subsection (1), the company is not required to disclose the follow'm@

(@) Perquisites and other personal benefits if the aggre *of this
compensation is less than $50,000. State the individual perquisitegy an¥ personal
benefits as required by paragraph 3.1(10)(a). Q?‘

(b) Information about possible termination scenari@? an NEO whose
employment terminated in the past year. The company@ only disclose the
consequences of the actual termination. A

(© Information in respect of a scenario desc@n subsection (1) if there will
be no incremental payments, payables, and ben@ that are triggered by, or result

from, that scenario.
o

Commentary Q

1. Subsection (1) does not requirg th® company to disclose notice of termination
without cause, or compensation i@"thereoﬂ which are implied as a term of an
employment contract under com@ w or civil law.

2. Item 6 applies to chgn of control regardless of whether the change of control
results in termination of em ment.

3. Generally, th | be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or from, a scenario described in subsection (1) for compensation

rte

that has been<< d in the summary compensation table for the most recently
completed fiianctal year or for a financial year before the most recently completed

financial @

the vesting or payout of the previously reported compensation is accelerated,
or performance goal or similar condition in respect of the previously reported
ﬁnpensation is waived, as a result of a scenario described in subsection (1), the
\n remental payments, payables, and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

4, A company may disclose estimated incremental payments, payables and

benefits that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subsection (1), in a
tabular format.
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ITEM 7 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
7.1 Director compensation table

(1) Complete this table for all amounts of compensation provided to the directors for

the company’s most recently completed financial year. '\QD
(@)

Name Fees Share- Option- Non-equity Pension | All other | THftal

(@ earned | based based incentive plan | value compensati «%)
()] awards awards compensation | ($) ()] SI\ (h)
(b) (%) (%) (%) () 9) Q~

(©) (d) (e) O‘Q/

A WV

B NS

C \Vv

D o>

E

—
(2)  All forms of compensation must be includej{ is table.

(3) Complete each column in the mannej @uired for the corresponding column in
the summary compensation table in secti Q , in accordance with the requirements of
Item 3, as supplemented by the commenéb» o Item 3, except as follows:

4
(@) In column (a), do not‘i?g%de a director who is also an NEO if his or her
compensation for service as a tor is fully reflected in the summary compensation
table and elsewhere in t ﬁ\;b m. If an NEO is also a director who receives
compensation for his or hgr ices as a director, reflect the director compensation in
the summary compensagonable required by section 3.1 and provide a footnote to this
table indicating that @evam disclosure has been provided under section 3.4.

(b) In @'mn (b), include all fees awarded, earned, paid, or payable in cash
for services égﬂrector, including annual retainer fees, committee, chair, and meeting
fees. C)

(§‘ In column (g), include all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted,
giv% otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the company, or a subsidiary of
t mpany, to a director in any capacity, under any other arrangement. This includes,
\%greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and indirect pay,
remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid,
payable awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provided to the director for services
provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a subsidiary of the company. In a
footnote to the table, disclose these amounts and describe the nature of the services
provided by the director that are associated with these amounts.
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(d) In column (g), include programs where the company agrees to make
donations to one or more charitable institutions in a director's name, payable currently
or upon a designated event such as the retirement or death of the director. Include a
footnote to the table disclosing the total dollar amount payable under the program.

7.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any factors necessary to understand the d@b@
compensation disclosed in section 7.1. q/

Commentary ,\%"

Significant factors described in the narrative required by secti%??will vary, but
may include:

- disclosure for each director who served in that c@y for any part of the
most recently completed financial year; A

- standard compensation arrangementss ch as fees for retainer,
committee service, service as chair of the bo@ or a committee, and meeting
attendance,;

standard arrangements, including the of the director and a description of the

- any compensation arrangem;&?l‘?r a director that are different from the
terms of the arrangement; and

do not apply to directors in th way that they apply to NEOs such as practices for

4
- any matters discu (?:1?1 the compensation discussion and analysis that
granting option-based awar%%54

7.3  Share-based a@% option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan
compensation O

Provide ame disclosure for directors that is required under Item 4 for NEOs.
ITEM 8 §6MPANIES REPORTING IN THE UNITED STATES
8.1 O Companies reporting in the United States
% SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of this form by providing the
\n ormation they are required to disclose in the United States under Item 402 “Executive
compensation” of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act.
(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that, as a foreign private issuer,

satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the information required by Iltems 6.B
“Compensation” and 6.E.2 “Share Ownership” of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.
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ITEM9 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION
9.1 Effective date
(1) This form comes into force on December 31, 2008.

(2)  This form applies to a company in respect of a financial year ending on o Q<Q
December 31, 2008.

9.2 Transition ,\%"

(2) Form 51-102F6, which came into force on March 30, 2004, aséﬂded,

(@) does not apply to a company in respect of a fina@/ear ending on or
after December 31, 2008, and Q/

(b)  for greater certainty, applies to a compan @ IS required to prepare and
file executive compensation disclosure because é

(1) the company is sending an Qatlon circular to a securityholder
under paragraph 9.1(2)(a) of Regulation &Jggz respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24), the i tion circular includes the disclosure
required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, he information circular is in respect of a

financial year ending before Decembe@l, 008, or
4

Iltem 8 of Form 51-102F5, in nce with Item 18 of Form 51-102F2, and the AIF is
in respect of a financial yea\és Ing before December 31, 2008.

(i) the companlg'i%g an AIF that includes the disclosure required by

(2) A company t S required to prepare and file executive compensation
disclosure for a re et out in paragraph (1)(b) may satisfy that requirement by
preparing and fili disclosure required by this form.

<<°%
Ny

M.O. 2008@/&\12; Erratum, 2009, G.O. 2, 55; M.O. 2010-17, s. 32; M.O. 2011-05,
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FORM 51-102F6V STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION — VENTURE
ISSUERS

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1 Objective

All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive officer, 'ag?
directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the compa@r a
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form.

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the cq
company paid, made payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwis
named executive officer and director for the financial year, and ecision-making
process relating to compensation. This disclosure will provid ht into executive
compensation as a key aspect of the overall stewardshi governance of the
company and will help investors understand how ons about executive
compensation are made.

A company’s executive compensation discloﬁ? éinder this form must satisfy this
objective and subsections 9.3.1(1) or 11.6(1) of thﬁ\ gulation.

of Form 51-102F6, this form is to be us venture issuers only. Reporting issuers
that are not venture issuers must complete¥-orm 51-102F6.

.
1.2. Definitions Q/‘b

If a term is used [n\XRIs form but is not defined in this section, refer to
subsection 1.1(1) of the lation or to Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions

(chapter V-1.1, r. 3).

In this for
&L

“com@ includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and nincorporated business entities;

While the objective of this disclosurSN(?e same as the objective in section 1.1

pensation securities” includes stock options, convertible securities,
exéR@ngeable securities and similar instruments including stock appreciation rights,
&rred share units and restricted stock units granted or issued by the company or one
its subsidiaries for services provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the
company or any of its subsidiaries;

“external management company” includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of
the external management company;

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 213



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

“named executive officer” or “NEO” means each of the following individuals:

(@) each individual who, in respect of the company, during any part of the
most recently completed financial year, served as chief executive officer, including an
individual performing functions similar to a chief executive officer;

(b)  each individual who, in respect of the company, during any part of
most recently completed financial year, served as chief financial officer, includi
individual performing functions similar to a chief financial officer; (l/

(© in respect of the company and its subsidiaries, the ,@f‘ highly
compensated executive officer other than the individuals identified insparagraphs (a)
and (b) at the end of the most recently completed financial &whose total
compensation was more than $150,000, as determined % cordance with
subsection 1.3(5), for that financial year;

(d) each individual who would be a named&:cutive officer under
paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was n executive officer of the
company, and was not acting in a similar capacity, at t d of that financial year;

“plan” includes any plan, contract, authoritﬁg@, or arrangement, whether or not
set out in any formal document, where casf(g:ompensation securities or any other
property may be received, whether for one e persons;

“underlying securities” means a&g(sléurities issuable on conversion, exchange or
exercise of compensation securities;b °

1.3. Preparing the forn’é/

(1) All compensation t@ included

(@ When eting this form, the company must disclose all compensation
paid, payable, a , granted, given, or otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by
the company, subsidiary of the company, to each named executive officer and
director, in capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and non-plan
compensafiopY direct and indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial award,
reward fit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwise
prc& o the named executive officer or director for services provided and for

ser€es to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a subsidiary of the

@npany.

(b) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in
this form, disclose it in the column “Value of all other compensation” of the table in
section 2.1.

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 214



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

Commentary

1. Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this form
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company uses to
prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25).

2. The definition of “director” under securities legislation includes an individu@ﬁg
acts in a capacity similar to that of a director. q/

(2) Departures from format y\%"

(@)  Although the required disclosure must be made in acan'hce with this
form, the disclosure may %

0] omit a table, column of a table, or other ibed information, if it
does not apply, and

(i) add a table, column, or other infor@on if
(A)  necessary to satisfy th&)gective in section 1.1, and

(B) to a reasona rson, the table, column, or other
information does not detract from the pre d information in the table in section 2.1.

(b) Despite paragraph (a@é‘mpany must not add a column to the table in

section 2.1. Q/
3) Information for full @ial year

€) If a nam cutive officer acted in that capacity for the company during
part of a financial or which disclosure is required in the table in section 2.1,
provide details of@he compensation that the named executive officer received from
the company f t financial year. This includes compensation the named executive
officer earne@ ny other position with the company during the financial year.
C)Do not annualize compensation in a table for any part of a year when a
na ecutive officer was not in the service of the company. Annualized
cordgensation may be disclosed in a footnote.

Director and named executive officer compensation
@) Disclose any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to
each director and named executive officer, in any capacity with respect to the company.

Compensation to directors and named executive officers must include all compensation
from the company and its subsidiaries.
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(b) Disclose any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to,
a named executive officer, or director, in any capacity with respect to the company, by
another person.

(5) Determining if an individual is a named executive officer

or payable to an executive officer under paragraph (c) of the definition of ed

For the purpose of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, pg&@
executive officer,

“

@) use the total compensation that would be reported fo % executive
officer in the table in section 2.1, as if the executive officer were Qﬂed executive
officer for the company’s most recently completed financial year, a%

compensation” of the table in section 2.1.

Commentary %O

The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (c)‘o\ge definition of named executive
officer only applies when determining who is med executive officer in a company’s
most recently completed financial year. If Ntividual is a named executive officer in
the most recently completed financial disclosure of compensation in the prior
years must be provided even if total ¢ rfsation in a prior year is less than $150,000.

(b)  exclude any compensation disclosed in theﬂ/ﬁ“vmue of all other

(6) Compensation to assoc%‘;)

Disclose any award@nmgs, payments, or payables to an associate of a
named executive officer f a director, as a result of compensation awarded to,
earned by, paid to, o@y le to the named executive officer or the director, in any
capacity with respe e company.

(7 Currenc@%

(a Ompanies must report amounts required by this form in Canadian dollars
orinth e currency that the company uses for its financial statements. A company
mu%@ he same currency in all of the tables of this form.

® (b) If compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to a named

ecutive officer or director was in a currency other than the currency reported in the
prescribed tables of this form, state the currency in which compensation was awarded,
earned, paid, or payable, disclose the currency exchange rate and describe the
methodology used to translate the compensation into Canadian dollars or the currency
that the company uses in its financial statements.
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(8) New reporting issuers

(@) A company is not required to provide information for a completed financial
year if the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most recently
completed financial year, unless the company became a reporting issuer as a result of a
restructuring transaction.

(b) If the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during ';hd@

recently completed financial year and the company is completing this form bec it is
preparing a prospectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensgtion¥o be
awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to named executive officers an;% tors of
the company once it becomes a reporting issuer, to the extent this c sation has
been determined. Q‘

(9) Plain language &

Information required to be disclosed under this form@ be clear, concise, and
presented in such a way that it provides a person a@ylng reasonable effort, an

understanding of %

(@) how decisions about named execu&gfflcer and director compensation

are made, and
D

(b) how specific named execut'w&ficer and director compensation relates to
the overall stewardship and governan%of e company.
\

Commentary Q/‘b

Refer to the plain la e principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to
Regulation 51-102 pecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-Q@ 006-12-12) for further guidance.

Item 2 Dir Q@nd named executive officer compensation

@ and named executive officer compensation, excluding
compens tig¥ securities
(1) g the following table, disclose all compensation referred to in subsection
1, of this form for each of the 2 most recently completed financial years, other than

\ pensation disclosed under section 2.3.

Commentary

For venture issuers, compensation includes payments, grants, awards, gifts and
benefits including, but not limited to,
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- salaries,
- consulting fees,
- management fees,
- retainer fees,
- bonuses,
- committee and meeting fees,
- special assignment fees, QD
- pensions and employer paid RRSP contributions, '\
- perquisites such as (19
- car, car lease, car allowance or car loan,
- personal insurance, ,\% B
- parking,
- accommodation, including use of vacation acco @Htion,
- financial assistance, &g/
- club memberships, @
- use of corporate motor vehicle or aircraft g{
- reimbursement for tax on perquisites o

benefits, and
- investment-related advice and expes@.

Table of compensation excluding co sation securities
Name Year | Salary, Bonus | Committee \‘% f Value of all Total
and consulting (%) ormeeting<r erduisites | other compensation
position fee, fees '\‘ﬂ) compensation | ($)
retainer or $) Q > $)
commission
(%)
Q) -
i)
K%
KD
A
N

executive officer fir owed by compensation of any director who is not a named

(2) In the table re @ under subsection (1), disclose compensation of each named
s(q ) I
executive officer

3) If th @/idual is a named executive officer and a director, state both positions in
the colu itled “Name and position”. In a footnote to the table, identify how much
comp@ﬁon the NEO received for each position.

( In the column entitled “Value of perquisites”, include perquisites provided to an
or director that are not generally available to all employees and that, in aggregate,
}e greater than

(@  $15,000, if the NEO or director’'s total salary for the financial year is
$150,000 or less,
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(b) 10% of the NEO or director’s salary for the financial year, if the NEO or
director’'s total salary for the financial year is greater than $150,000 but less than
$500,000, or

(c) $50,000, if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is
$500,000 or greater.

Value these items on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to the co 69
and its subsidiaries. Describe in a footnote the methodology used for compuym\the

aggregate incremental cost to the company. %
4

Provide a note to the table to disclose the nature of each perquigie provided that
equals or exceeds 25% of the total value of perquisites provid that named
executive officer or director, and how the value of the perquisite lculated, if it is
not provided in cash.

Commentary AQ/

For the purposes of the column entitled “Vs% of perquisites”, an item is
generally a perquisite if it is not integrally and direcm'e ated to the performance of the
director or named executive officer’s duties. If soMINMg is necessary for a person to do
his or her job, it is integrally and directly relate the job and is not a perquisite, even if
it also provides some amount of personal b it

section 2.3, was provided or is ble, disclose the fair market value of the
compensation at the time it wag eafned or, if it is not possible to calculate the fair
market value, disclose that fac@mote to the table and the reasons why.

(5) If non-cash compensation, oth§l§ t(hlﬁ compensation required to be disclosed in

(6) In the column entifs “Value of all other compensation”, include all of the
following:

(@) anyQ@nental payments, payables and benefits to a named executive
officer or direQ[ that were triggered by, or resulted from, a scenario listed in
subsection 2)that occurred before the end of the applicable financial year,

Q~ all compensation relating to defined benefit or defined contribution plans
incl service costs and other compensatory items such as plan changes and
ea\(hgs that are different from the estimated earnings for defined benefit plans and

\ ve market earnings for defined contribution plans.

Commentary
The disclosure of defined benefit or defined contribution plans relates to all plans

that provide for the payment of pension plan benefits. Use the same amounts indicated
in column (e) of the defined benefit plan table required by section 2.7 for the applicable
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financial year and the amounts included in column (c) of the defined contribution plan
table required by section 2.7 for the applicable financial year.

(7 Despite subsection (1), it is not necessary to disclose Canada Pension Plan,
similar government plans and group life, health, hospitalization, medical reimbursement
and relocation plans that do not discriminate in scope, terms or operation that are
generally available to all salaried employees. '\QD

(8) If a director or named executive officer has served in that capacity for only@t of
a year, indicate the number of months he or she has served; do not an%ali the

compensation. ,\ h
9) Provide notes to the table to disclose each of the following fo@%ost recently
completed financial year only: %

(@) compensation paid or payable by any person han the company in
respect of services provided to the company or its subsidiai@sYincluding the identity of

that other person;

(b)  compensation paid or payable indirect@ §:e director or named executive
officer and, in such case, the amount of compedAsawon, to whom it is paid or payable
and the relationship between the director or Qﬂned executive officer and such other

person;
Q

(© for the column entitled “Vatlaé of all other compensation”, the nature of
each form of other compensation )t payable that equals or exceeds 25% of the
total value of other compensatiga, paki or payable to that director or named executive
officer, and how the value of &mher compensation was calculated, if it is not paid or

payable in cash. Q

2.2. External m@gement companies

(2) If one or n’% dividuals acting as named executive officers of the company are
not employees Qt company, disclose the names of those individuals.

(2) If a rnal management company employs or retains one or more individuals

acting Mmed executive officers or directors of the company and the company has

ent @ nto an understanding, arrangement or agreement with the external

maNdgement company to provide executive management services to the company,
#xctly or indirectly, disclose any compensation that

(@) the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by the

external management company, who is acting as a named executive officer or director
of the company;

Regulation 51-102 June 30, 2015 PAGE 220



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(b) the external management company paid to the individual that is
attributable to the services they provided to the company, directly or indirectly.

(3) If an external management company provides the company’s executive
management services and also provides executive management services to another
company, disclose the entire compensation the external management company paid to
the individual acting as a named executive officer or director, or acting in a simi@;
capacity, in connection with services the external management company provided

company, or the parent or a subsidiary of the company. If the management ny
allocates the compensation paid to a named executive officer or director, disclo¥e the
basis or methodology used to allocate this compensation. ,(\ELO S

Commentary Qg‘

A named executive officer may be employed by an&nal management
company and provide services to the company under an und ing, arrangement or
agreement. In this case, references in this form to the chd ecutive officer or chief
financial officer are references to the individuals who pe @ned similar functions to that
of the chief executive officer or chief financial officﬁ ey are typically the same
individuals who signed and filed annual and i@i certificates to comply with
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Dis&q re in Issuers’ Annual and Interim

Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27). '\%
2.3. Stock options and other comp&ation securities

(2) Using the following table, disp&"all compensation securities granted or issued
to each director and named exegutive’ officer by the company or one of its subsidiaries
in the most recently complet ncial year for services provided or to be provided,
directly or indirectly, to the o ny or any of its subsidiaries.

N

~
O Compensation Securities
Name Type of %‘7 Number of Date Issue, Closing Closing Expiry
and compﬁa' n | compensation | of conversion or | price of price of date
position secprity securities, issue exercise security or security or
number of or price underlying underlying
C) underlying grant %) security on security at

securities, date of year end

<=
O S and grant %)
Q percentage of %)

class

¥

(2) Position the tables prescribed in subsections (1) and (4) directly after the table
prescribed in section 2.1.
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®3)
(@)

Provide notes to the table to disclose each of the following:

the total amount of compensation securities, and underlying securities,
held by each named executive officer or director on the last day of the most recently
completed financial year end;

(b) any compensation security that has been re-priced, cancelle 'ag?

replaced, had its term extended, or otherwise been materially modified, in thmlé
recently completed financial year, including the original and modified terms, ef

date, the reason for the modification, and the name of the holder;

(€)
(d)

any vesting provisions of the compensation securities;

any restrictions or conditions for converting, exer

compensation securities.

(4)

executive officer of compensation securities durin

financial year.

Using the following table, disclose each exegc@

&

the

S

ost
ctive

@or exchanging the

y a director or named

e most recently completed

Exercise of Compensation Secd@ by Directors and NEOs

N
Name Type of Number Exerli§g | Date of Closing Difference | Total
and compensation | of 'e\per exercise | price per | between value on
position | security underlying %rlty security | exercise exercise
securitig, on date price and | date
exerci p of closing %)
é exercise | price
Q (%) on date of
§3 exercise
(%)
(\§~
NN
A
o X
I'Yv/

Va

N

(5) @ﬂ the tables prescribed in subsections (1) and (4), if the individual is a named
e egjtive officer and a director, state both positions in the columns entitled “Name and
@ition”.

Commentary

For the purposes of the column entitled “Total value on exercise date” multiply
the number in the column entitled “Number of underlying securities exercised” by the
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number in the column entitled “Difference between exercise price and closing price on
date of exercise”.

2.4. Stock option plans and other incentive plans

(1) Describe the material terms of each stock option plan, stock option agreement
made outside of a stock option plan, plan providing for the grant of stock appreciats
rights, deferred share units or restricted stock units and any other incentive p h@
portion of a plan under which awards are granted. q/

Commentary ,\% B

Examples of material terms are vesting provisions, maxim %l’m of options
granted, whether or not a stock option plan is a rolling plan, the &mum number or
percentage of options that can be granted, method of settlemen

(2) Indicate for each such plan or agreement wheth& has previously been
approved by shareholders and, if applicable, when it is :Ee@equired to be approved.

3) Disclosure is not required of plans, such as @e older rights plans, that involve
issuance of securities to all securityholders.

2.5. Employment, consulting and n@#@ment agreements

(2) Disclose the material terms eglﬁ agreement or arrangement under which
compensation was provided durin “most recently completed financial year or is
payable in respect of services ;@ d to the company or any of its subsidiaries that

were é

@) performed by@rector or named executive officer, or

(b) perfor y any other party but are services typically provided by a
director or a nam cutive officer.
(2) For e greement or arrangement referred to in subsection (1), disclose each

of the follo@ :

)* the provisions, if any, with respect to change of control, severance,
ter‘(wa lon or constructive dismissal,

\ (b) the estimated incremental payments that are triggered by, or result from,
change of control, severance, termination or constructive dismissal,

(© any relationship between the other party to the agreement and a director
or named executive officer of the company or any of its subsidiaries.
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2.6. Oversight and description of director and named executive officer
compensation

(1) Disclose who determines director compensation and how and when it is
determined.

(2) Disclose who determines named executive officer compensation and how aos
when it is determined. N

(3) For each named executive officer, disclose each of the following: (1/

O
(@ a description of all significant elements of compensat] %varded to,
earned by, paid or payable to the named executive officer for Q}host recently
completed financial year, including at a minimum each element pensation that
accounts for 10% or more of the named executive officer’s total nsation;

(b) whether total compensation or any si %t element of total
compensation is tied to one or more performance ia or goals, including for
example, milestones, agreements or transactions and, ¥

(1) describe the performance cri@@and goals, and

(i) indicate the weight @gr?proximate weight assigned to each
performance criterion or goal; (l/

(c) any significant evenp@%é‘t have occurred during the most recently
completed financial year that Aa significantly affected compensation including
whether any performance crit r goal was waived or changed and, if so, why;

(d) how the com%}/ determines the amount to be paid for each significant

element of compensaf ererred to in paragraph (a), including whether the process is
based on objective, iable measures or a subjective decision;

(e) Wi@%r a peer group is used to determine compensation and, if so,
describe th ergroup and why it is considered appropriate;

any significant changes to the company’s compensation policies that were
madg ng or after the most recently completed financial year that could or will have
d{fect on director or named executive officer compensation.

Despite subsection (3), if a reasonable person would consider that disclosure of
a previously undisclosed specific performance criterion or goal would seriously
prejudice the company’s interests, the company is not required to disclose the criterion
or goal provided that the company does each of the following:
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(@) discloses the percentage of the named executive officer's total
compensation that relates to the undisclosed criterion or goal,

(b)  discloses the anticipated difficulty in achieving the performance criterion or
goal,

(© states that it is relying on this exemption from the disclosure requireme'rﬁo

(d) explains why disclosing the performance criterion or goal would Qe@JSW
prejudice its interests.
(b‘\

(5) For the purposes of subsection (4), a company’s interests are cgqsidered not to
be seriously prejudiced solely by disclosing a performance goal Qﬂterion if that
criterion or goal is based on broad corporate-level financial perf e metrics such
as earnings per share, revenue growth, or earnings before inte@ xes, depreciation

and amortization (EBITDA). AQ/

2.7. Pension disclosure O

If the company provides a pension to a (ﬁt; or named executive officer,
provide for each such individual the additio closure required by Item 5 of

Form 51-102F6.
"o

2.8. Companies reporting in the L(r@d States

(2) Except as provided in subse 12), SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements
of this form by providing the infogmaten that they disclose in the United States pursuant
to item 402 “Executive compe %1 of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act.

(2) Subsection (1) doe§$t apply to a company that, as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of lation S-K by providing the information required by Items 6.B
“Compensation” an “Share Ownership” of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.

M.O. 2015-07, ((1%

TRANs?g@AL PROVISIONS
M.O<<@ -17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

§ This Regulation only applies to documents required to be prepared, filed,
livered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

However, an issuer may apply the amendments set out in this Regulation to all
documents required to be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for periods relating to a financial year that
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begins before January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financial year ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying on the exemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS '\%
M.O. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006 (19

4, This Regulation only applies to documents required to be prq@d filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting Contin Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years ending on or after O& 31, 2011.

&&

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
M.O. 2012-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 1171

5. The effect of this Regulation applies only to Quﬁents required to be prepared,
filed, delivered or sent under Regulation 51-1 specting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to a financial ye\g ending on or after April 20, 2012; for
documents required to be prepared, filed, red or sent under that Regulation for
periods relating to a financial year endirgll ore April 20, 2012, the provisions of that
Regulation in force on April 19, 2012 pl‘y‘/.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISI

M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G , 248

8. Despite se?. 1 1 of the Regulation, as enacted by section 5, a person must
not use notlce access to send proxy-related materials to a registered holder of
voting secur f a reporting issuer in respect of a meeting of the reporting issuer that
takes plac ore March 1, 2013.

9. portlng issuer must not rely on section 9.1.5 of the Regulation, as enacted by
sec{Qn in respect of a meeting that takes place before February 15, 2013.

N
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Decision 2005-PDG-0113, 2005-05-09
Bulletin de 'Autorité: 2005-06-03, Vol. 2 n° 22
M.O. 2005-03, 2005 G.O. 2, 1507

Erratum: 2005 G.O. 2, 3727

Amendments

Decision 2005-PDG-0360, 2005-11-15 '\Q‘)
Bulletin de 'Autorité: 2005-12-16, Vol. 2 n° 50 (19
M.O. 2005-25, 2005 G.O. 2, 5221

Decision 2006-PDG-0218, 2006-12-12
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2007-01-05, Vol. 4 n° 1

M.O. 2006-04, 2006 G.O. 2, 4125 @Q‘

Decision 2007-PDG-0208, 2007-11-30 %
Bulletin de 'Autorité: 2008-01-11, Vol. 5 n°1 A
M.O. 2007-08, 2007 G.O. 2, 4091
Decision 2008-PDG-0058, 2008-02-22 O
Bulletin de 'Autorité: 2008-03-14, Vol. 5 n° 10

M.O. 2008-06, 2008 G.0O. 2, 726 '\QJ

Decision 2008-PDG-0158, 2008-06-10 QZQ
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-07-04, Vol.6n° 6
M.O. 2008-10, 2008 G.O. 2, 2569 0.) S

Decision 2008-PDG-0260, 20 7

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008- ol.5n°49
M.O. 2008-17, 2008 G.O. 2\b>482

Decision 2008-PDG§2008-11-20
Bulletin de I'Autor@‘~ 08-12-19, Vol.5n°50

M.O. 2008-18, G.0O. 2, 5493 Erratum: 2009 G.O. 2, 55

Decision DG-0118, 2009-09-04
Bulletin utorité: 2009-09-25, Vol. 6 n ° 38
M.O, -05, 2009 G.O. 2, 3362A

%sision 2010-PDG-0216, 2010-11-22
“RXlletin de I'Autorité: 2010-12-17, Vol. 7 n® 50
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

Decision 2011-PDG-0070, 2011-05-30

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-07-01, Vol. 8 n° 26
M.O. 2011-02, 2011 G.O. 2, 1418
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Decision 2011-PDG-0145, 2011-09-20
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-10-28, Vol. 8 n° 43
M.O. 2011-05, 2011 G.0O. 2, 3006

Decision 2012-PDG-0037, 2012-03-01
Bulletin de I’'Autorité : 2012-04-20, Vol. 9 n° 16 QD
M.O. 2012-05, 2012 G.O. 2, 1171 N

Decision 2012-PDG-0234, 2012-12-20 q’
Bulletin de I'Autorité : 2013-02-07, Vol. 10 n° 5 ,\%“
M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G.0O. 2, 248

Decision 2013-PDG-0052, 2013-04-03 %Q/
Bulletin de I'Autorité : 2013-05-09, Vol. 10 n° 18 @

M.O. 2013-04, 2013 G.O. 2, 1152 Q/

Decision 2013-PDG-0068, 2013-04-24
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2013-05-30, Vol. 10, n° 21 %
M.O. 2013-09, 2013 G.O. 2, 1386

Decision 2014-PDG-0093, 2014-08-19 QJ
Bulletin de I'Autorité:; 2014-09-25, Vol. 11 n¢
M.O. 2014-07, 2014 G.O. 2, 2287 (1/

Decision 2015-PDG-0079, 2015-05@@“
(0]

Bulletin de I'Autorité; 2015-06-25 /12 n° 25
M.O. 2015-07, 2015 G.0. 2,1
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